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The audit firm is appointed until the General Meeting called to approve the 2021 financial 
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Class Editori Spa 
and subsidiaries 

Registered office in Milano - Via Marco Burigozzo, 5 
 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MANAGEMENT REPORT  
AT 31 DICEMBER 2013 

 
Performance  
 
The total revenues on 31 December 2013 totaled € 84.0 million, compared to 88.3 million in the same period 
of 2012 (-4.9%). The decrease in revenue is due, as will be discussed in more detail later on, to the severe 
recession that has affected particularly the advertising revenues, and partly the distribution ones. 
 
Operating expenses went from EUR 104.9 million on 31 December 2012 to EUR 97.5 million in 2013, a 
decrease of 7%. The decrease in operating expenses results in containment procedures and savings in all 
areas of management. 
 
The gross operating margin, defined as the difference between value and cost of production before the result 
of extraordinary operations, depreciation and financial burdens, shows a loss of EUR 13.5 million, compared 
to EUR 16.5 million for the same period of the previous year, with an improvement of about 18%. 
 
The net result of Class Editori and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 after the result the extraordinary 
management, interests of third parties and taxes, amounted to EUR -22.8 million versus a net profit of 12.9 
million euro in the 2012. 
 
The perimeter of consolidation, compared to the end of 2012, has changed because of  Classpi SpA's entry, 
whose 18% shares were sold in 2012 but then reacquired in 2013 due to the fall of the strategic plan of an 
integration of the sales structure with other partners. 
 
 
Main economic–financial events of the period 
 
The final result of the publishing house appears to be strongly affected by depreciation and provisions made 
for various reasons, necessary in this worsened macroeconomic context, to reduce the values of assets 
(primarily loans, newspapers and goodwill) and bring them to their prudential recoverable value. 
 
The total value of the extraordinary expenses of management have led to a worsening of the income 
statement compared to the previous year, of about 11.4 million. Of these, approximately 8 million Euros are 
due to a worsening of the Income and Extraordinary expenses (which went from 4.8 in 2012 to 3.2 in 2013), 
and about 3.4 devaluations of intangible assets with an indefinite life (impairment) included in depreciation 
and amortization due to the application of IAS 36. Effects of variations, which are mostly visible in 
paragraph 27 of the explanatory notes, can be summarized as follows: 
 
• in 2012 it had been recognized a capital gain of EUR 3.2 million resulting from the sale of 31.2% of the 

Class Digital Service Company, with a one-off positive effect on the income statement 2012; 
 
• the worsened economic situation has determined the need for further devaluations on loans as a result of 

business closures or bankruptcies of customers, that were not foreseeable in 2012, in excess of the funds 
allocated in the budget sheet, for about € 2 million; 
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• the transaction done with an important international counterpart for the early termination of a contract for 
the distribution of content, which will generate significant savings in 2014, which had brought to the loss 
of €0.8 million of deferred charges related to content that had become no longer usable; 

• the devaluation of credits accumulated toward the commercial network, with which have been terminated 
release and settlements agreements or those that have been deemed not payable, for approximately 0.8 
million Euros; 

 
• reimbursement for damages, transactions and contingent liabilities in part related to the settlement of 

litigation, costs that are not accounted for on an accrual basis, or other extraordinary items not related to 
the core business, for a total of 0.9 million euro; 

 
• the effect of the impairment test pursuant to IAS 36, which will be explained in more detail in the notes to 

the financial statements, as mentioned has generated a negative difference between the carrying value and 
the fair value of 3.4 million Euros, which were not present in previous financial statements; while, again 
du to the above principles and the prudence of the directors, it is not permitted to highlight the positive 
difference that emerges between the impairment values and the carrying values: an example is that of the 
shares in Milano Finanza, which had an impairment value of 45 million and a book value of 10 million. 

 
The result from ordinary activities, which excludes extraordinary items, is significantly improved compared 
to the previous year. In particular, EBITDA in the second half of 2013, despite a loss of 5.3 million, has 
registered an improvement over the EBITDA for the first half of 2013 (loss of 8.2 million). 
 
During the Board of Directors held January 9, 2014 it was approved the five-year plan developed by the 
company with the assistance of a leading international investment bank. During the process, it emerged the 
need to give continuity and efficiency to the business activity, to strengthen the financial structure, for which 
the management has activated itself and which had already defined, even before the 2013 financial year, a 
plan  for significant increase in capital, for which various solutions are being examined by the Council, as 
specified in the business outlook paragraph. 
 
Also 2013 was a difficult year for the Italian economy, weakened by the recession, political instability, 
severe crisis in the advertising market and of the editorial sector in general, which has been very strong at 
least until the last quarter of the year, also due to the delays on the maneuvers of development, and the lack 
of liquidity from the banking system that has been passed on to the private sector. 
 
The main macroeconomic indicators are still negative, although they showed the first timid signs of a slow 
recovery: the latest quarterly economic bulletin of the Bank of Italy (the first in 2014), speaks of a modest 
recovery with low inflation in the euro area , and an increase of expectations in Italy, whose GDP has finally 
slowed his descent during the third quarter of 2013, supported by exports and changes in stocks, with an 
improvement in industrial production and in the business trust indexes. 
 
Conditions in financial markets have improved, helped by a sharp reduction in the interest rate differential of 
government bonds compared to the Bunds. 
The economic situation has remained very weak during the whole 2013 year. The most immediate and direct 
consequence of the crisis was, as in recent years, a decline in advertising spending by businesses. 
In 2013, the context of reference has undergone considerable declines in sales. The data published by 
Nielsen for 2013 shows an overall decline in the advertising market of 12.4%, which is added to that of 
14.3% in 2012 and to that of previous years. 
However, is the positive figure is trend of the second half of the year, where the contraction of the 
advertising market was 5.9%, compared with the fall in the first semester of 17.5%. 
 
In particular, in 2013 the print media have declined by 21.2%, with a trend of the magazines worst (-24%) 
than the newspapers' (-19.5%), while the data of the TV advertising market showed a decline of 10%. Even 
the Internet means for the first time achieved a decline in advertising revenues, equal to 1.8%. 
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In this context, the Publishing house's advertising revenues as a whole have had a less negative trend in the 
market, with a reduction, on a comparable basis of consolidation equal to 8, 3%. 
 
The average diffusion in 2013 has suffered, like the whole market, significant declines, resulting in a 
reduction of production costs: Milano Finanza has had an average diffusion (ADS data) of 76 000 copies, 
compared to 89 000 in 2012; Class had an average diffusion of 78 000 copies (86 500 in 2012) and Capital 
has instead kept the average diffusion (72 000 copies in 2013 and 72 000 in 2012). 
Instead, there is  sharp contrast of internet traffic data at the end of the fourth quarter of 2013, the traffic on 
the websites of the publishing house recorded a further leap, reaching in December 2013, 988 000 unique 
monthly users, an increase of 95.6% on an annual basis, in a landscape marked by double-digit contraction 
recorded by the main competitors (source Audiweb). Since mid-December, the website of Milano Finanza 
has been completely renovated: it now offers an optimized layout for tablets and touch devices and even 
more information. There has also been a significant growth in the number of unique daily users, which in 
December 2013, were 84 000 against 76 000 in December 2012 (+11.3%). As testimony of the readers' 
appreciation for the new look of the Milano Finanzawebsite , and in general the of sites of the publishing 
house including the associate Italia Oggi, which is also growing significantly, the average time duration of a 
visit on an average day has increased from 3:49 to 4:15 minutes, an increase of 11, 4%. 

Alongside the growth of the use of information through the internet, through mobile sites optimized for 
smartphones developed by the publishing house, the positioning strategy in the world of applications for 
smartphones and tablets and, on major social networking platforms, is also continuing. In particular, MF-
Milano Finanza and Italia Oggi have expanded their presence to Windows 8 devices, adding to the paper 
edition flipper available for all major platforms (iPad, Android and Kindle) also the Panorama applications 
of the new Windows 8.1. Readers can also follow real-time news on their smartphones through the mobile 
site of Milano Finanza, which is available from any operating system platform, while the number of readers 
who follow in real time the news of the site via Twitter has exceeded 75 thousand units per MF / Milano 
Finanza and over 19 thousand for Italia Oggi. 

 
The Publisher is also completing the renovation of the entire technological infrastructure, which will be 
finished by the first half of 2014, which will allow to leverage digital media to increase the flexibility of 
content delivery, especially on mobile devices. 
 
Although the signals of digital activity are encouraging, in this context of ongoing market weakness, the 
Publisher has implemented a plan to reduce costs which involved all areas of expenditure and all sectors of 
activity. 
Many of the cost containment measures undertaken have been activated during the year just ended, and their 
effects have gone operational during the second half. 
Among the operations carried out, besides those on the staff, there are: 
 

• industrial and publishing cost reductions  (particularly paper and printing), resulting from higher on line 
sales and optimization of the formats and printing centers; 

• cost optimization of technology platforms related to the areas of financial services;  

• reduction of distribution costs, with renegotiation costs and a gradual reduction of the fees and 
commissions paid; 

• reduction of general costs with cuts and controls at all possible levels; 

• an activity, in particular, carried out stronger and tighter during the second semester, for a constant 
control of the foliations and the costs of magazines, calibrated for each outgoing issue on the revenues 
collected so as not to have to close newspapers. 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 9 

During the course of 2013 many companies have began a progressive use of social welfares, by adopting 
Contracts for Solidarity and, in exceptional cases, the Special Layoff Benefits Fund. 
 
Among the most relevant editorial and business initiatives for the period, there are: 

• the the success of Eccellenza Italiana has been confirmed: the first multimedia system (magazine-
website-App) designed to lead the Chinese tourists who come to Italy and those who in China are 
interested in the Made in Italy and its lifestyle. Created by Class Editori in partnership with Xinhua 
(New China Agency) and Italy-China Foundation, Eccellenza Italian allows Italian companies to get in 
touch and talk directly, to 500,000 Chinese people who are interested in visiting Italy and buy products 
made in Italy; 

• in February was presented Gentleman's Style, the book published by Class Editori during of the tenth 
anniversary of the magazine, with a very positive feedback from the sales; 

• in March was signed a letter of intent between Class Editori and NABA / Domus Academy (Laureate 
Group, the world's largest private university chaired by Bill Clinton) for the production of multimedia 
content and contexts associated with the design and art world; 

• it was finalized in March, the sale to Intesa Sanpaolo, at the price of €5 million, of 31.25% of Class 
Digital Service, the company in which were concentrated all the activities of the publishing house in the 
field of digital diffusion of data and of financial information. The operation aims at making more 
efficient, and therefore cheaper for customers, the distribution of data and information on the Italian and 
international financial markets, in the context of deregulation that allowed to the opening of the market 
to new negotiation platforms and the fixing of prices of alternative titles to those of the Italian Stock 
Exchange; the economic effect of this sale had been however recorded on an accrual basis in 2012; 

• in the early months of 2013 the publishing house was invited by the Chinese authorities to participate 
with their own installation to CHIC, the largest trade show and exposition of Chinese clothing and 
fashion. The installation, with more than 300 garments that have represented the best of Made in Italy, 
was a big hit, and has been requested in other exhibitions and Chinese fashion weeks; 

• starting from October, the audience data of channels out of home (TV Subways, airports, Highway stops 
and Buses) are now available in the software system Kubik ("probable Media Soft") in addition to those 
of Class TV (channel 27 of digital cable TV), used by all the media centers. For the first time it is 
therefore possible to calculate the benefits of an integrated media plan, capable of reaching audiences at 
home and on the go, estimating communication results and additional coverage. This result is extremely 
important for business purposes also in order to support the development strategy of the publishing 
house, which is strongly geared to digital. 
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Consolidated income statement  
 
Below is shown the reclassified income statement of the publishing house:  

 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

 
Changes (%) 

Sales revenues 82.305 78.462 (4,7) 

Other revenues and incomes 6.038 5.571 (7,7) 

Total revenues 88.343 84.033 (4,9) 

Operating costs (104.860) (97.553) (7,0) 

Gross Profit (EBITDA) (16.517) (13.520) 18,1 

Percentage of revenues (18,70) (16,09)  

Extraordinary income and expenses 4.809 (3.249) n.s. 

Amortisation and depreciation  (4.821) (8.244) (71,0) 

Operating profit (EBIT) (16.529) (25.013) (51,3) 

Percentage of revenues (18,71) (29,77)  

Net financial income and expenses  (1.619) (3.095) 91,2 

Pre-tax profits (18.148) (28.108) (54,9) 

Taxes 4.749 6.421 35,2 

(Profit)/ loss attributable to minority interest 455 (1.095) (340,6) 

Net group profit (12.944) (22.782) (76,0) 
 
Revenues are broken down as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes. 

(%) 

Revenues from subscriptions and news-stand copies 35.767 31.222 (12,7) 

Revenues from advertising 46.250 47.240 2,1 

Other revenues 5.962 5.211 (12,6) 

Total operating revenues 87.979 83.673 (4,9) 

Contribution for operating expenses 364 360 (1,1) 

Total 88.343 84.033 (4,9) 

Extraordinary income 5.986 1.926 (67,8) 

Total Revenues 94.329 85.959 (8,9) 

 
Revenues from subscriptions and news-stand copies suffer a decline mainly due to the following reasons:  
 
• for the declines in distribution that have affected the entire market, and which have had an impact on both 

the newsstand and subscriptions revenues. De facto, the replacement of part of the sales of printed copies 
with digital copies, although generating lower revenues, has resulted in a very proportional cost-savings 
(paper, printing and distribution), with a positive effect on the gross margin of the individual product; 
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• to lower revenues in the areas of financial reporting and the press agency, due to cutbacks by major 
customers (banks and financial operators) and /or mergers made by them. 

 
The trend in advertising revenues is affected by several effects, some of which can be summarized as 
follows: 

• growth in advertising revenues of the foreign subsidiary Global Finance, which has benefited from a 
recovery in the US advertising market; 

• an overall decline in advertising revenues, on a comparable basis, collected on other titles of the group, 
which as mentioned previously declined by about 8%, and inclusion in the scope of consolidation, as 
mentioned earlier, of the company Classpi. 

 

Here is a breakdown of extraordinary income, with the comparison to 2012: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes 

(%) 

Contingent assets 2.320 1.925 (17,0) 

Gains / revaluation of shareholdings 3.666 1 n.s. 
    
Total extraordinary income 5.986 1.926 (67,8) 

 
The gains shown in the previous year include revenues of EUR 3.2 million related to the sale of shares of the 
company Digital Class Service Srl, part of a program of industrial efficiency and cost savings for the users of 
financial data and use of the platform MF Trading. 
 
 
 
The breakdown of operating costs is as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes 

(%) 

Purchases 5.122 4.384 (14,4) 

Services 72.748 70.882 (2,6) 

Staff costs 21.560 18.651 (13,5) 

Valuation of equity investments by net equity  88 85 (3,4) 

Other operating costs  5.342 3.551 (33,5) 
    
Total operating costs  104.860 97.553 (7,0) 

Extraordinary expenses 1.177 5.175 339,7 

    
Total costs 106.037 102.728 (3,1) 

 
The reduction in purchases is due partly to the savings achieved in the raw materials (paper), and partly to 
the purchase of less goods and products intended for resale (commodity exchange), mainly because of the  
lower advertising revenues.  
 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 12 

 
The decrease in cost the of services is mainly due to containments obtained in the printing and distribution of 
services of the publications, as a counterpart to the declines in revenue for subscriptions and newsstand 
copies, and hence of the passage of part of the volumes sold by the paper editions to the digital. 
 
The cost of staff decreased by 13.5% (approximately € 2.9 million) due to containments of staff and other 
actions, including the use of social welfare, for which were incurred extraordinary costs related to one-off 
transactions. 

Extraordinary expenses include contingent liabilities, losses on loans and costs for the year for the settlement 
of disputes and various transactions as described above. The significant increase compared to the previous 
year is a direct result of the current crisis that is affecting the national economy with the consequent closing 
of client companies of the publishing house, with its negative effects. Comparative details of these 
extraordinary costs is shown as follows: 
 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes 

(%) 

Contingent liabilities 1.095 2.888 163,7 

Losses on receivables (not covered by funds) 4 1.773 n.s. 

Costs of reimbursement for damages and transactions 78 514 n.s. 
    
Total extraordinary expenses 1.177 5.175 339,7 

 
Contingent liabilities include non-recurring charges of EUR 832 000 for lost revenues, accounted for in prior 
years, covered for 600 thousand euro with the usage of a risk fund specially allocated in previous years, with 
the net effect on the income statement of EUR 232 000. 
  
The net effect of extraordinary income and expenses reported in the reclassified income statement of the 
publishing house is as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes 

(%) 

Contingent assets 2.320 1.925 (17,0) 

Gains / revaluation of shareholdings 3.666 1 n.s. 
    
Total extraordinary income 5.986 1.926 (67,8) 

    

Contingent liabilities (1.095) (2.888) (163,7) 

Losses on receivables (not covered by funds) (4) (1.773) n.s. 

Costs of reimbursement for damages and transactions (78) (514) n.s. 
    
Total extraordinary expenses (1.177) (5.175) (339,7) 
    
Profit from extraordinary items 4.809 (3.249) n.s. 
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The services are summarized as follows: 

 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes 

(%) 

Production costs 28.691 26.482 (7,7) 

Editing and TV content costs 6.513 6.126 (5,9) 

Marketing/advertising costs 19.961 21.040 5,4 

Distribution costs 5.375 4.122 (23,3) 

Other costs 12.208 13.112 7,4 
    
Total service costs 72.748 70.882 (2,6) 

 
The reduction in costs of production and distribution is attributed to the optimizations achieved on the 
processes of newspaper printing, previously mentioned, as well as the savings achieved in the areas of digital 
e-class. 

The editorial costs have been contained despite the higher costs for the acquisition of content for TV 
(movies, TV series and docu-fiction). 

The increase in selling expenses and other costs is partly linked to the return in the consolidation perimeter 
of the company Classpi, and partly due to higher costs paid for the rental expenses. 

Consolidated balance sheet situation 
 
For a complete analysis of the balance sheet, please refer to the financial statements and the Notes. 
 
Trade receivables 
 
The total trade receivables increased from €79.41 million  in 31 dicembre 2012 to  86,55 milioni di euro on 
31 dicembre 2013. Of these, 16.18 million euro were classified in non-current trade receivables (17.07 
million euro in the previous year) and refers to the present value of the receivables due beyond 12 months. 

The detail of trade receivables is as follows: 

 
€uro/000 

31/12/12 31/12/13 

Regular customers 22.803 45.738 

Invoices to be issued 3.162 2.888 

Portfolio bills 32 195 

Receivables from Advertising concessionaire 20.110 -- 

Distributors (Italia Oggi – Erinne) 8.511 10.096 

Receivables from affiliates 9.227 13.122 

Provision for Bad Debts (1.502) (1.670) 
   
Total trade receivables 62.343 70.369 
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Receivables from customers are mainly of a commercial nature related to advertising revenues by the 
subsidiary Classpi Spa, sub-agent for the advertising of the publisher. 
 
The increase in the extent of trade receivables is mainly due to the enlargement of the consolidation of the 
advertising concessionaire, Class Pubblicità, whose trade receivables at December 31, 2013 amounted to 
approximately € 28.7 million. The inclusion in the scope of the group of the company has therefore 
contributed to the increase in trade receivables of approximately EUR 8.6 million compared to the situation 
of the previous year, which included trade receivables from group companies to Class Pubblicità for a  total 
of 20.1 million euro. 

During the period there have been made considerable impairments of trade receivables generated by 
the particular economic situation and the increasing number of failures that have also affected the 
customers of the publishing house: the amount of loans devalued during the year is equal to 4.4 
million Euros. Of these, 2.4 million Euros have been covered by the use of provisions for bad debts 
previously created. 

The increase in trade receivables compared to a decrease in turnover, indicates a lengthening of the 
average time of collection, with negative consequences on the financial position. 
 
Net Equity 

The net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2013, net of minority interests, amounted to 41.0 million 
euro, compared to €66.8 million on December 31, 2012. 

The decrease is attributable not only to the loss for the period equal to EUR 22.8 million, but also to the 
following factors: 

- changes in methods of accounting for the severance pay provision under the new IAS 19, in force since 
1 January 2013, - EUR 1.48 million; 

- effect on the net equity of the Group's sale of 31.25% of the shares of Class Digital Service, - EUR 1.34 
million; 

- Impact on the consolidation of the control acquisition of Class Pubblicità, - EUR 0.17 million; 

- effect on the net equity for the Group's renunciation of financial receivables from Fashion TV - 0.25 
million euro. 

The share capital of the parent company amounted to 10.56 million euro, unchanged compared to December 
31, 2012 and its net assets amounted to 46.31 million. 

Consolidated net financial position 

The consolidated net financial position is shown in the following table: 
€ (thousand) 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes 

2012/2013 
Changes 

% 

Securities 5.000 -- (5.000) (100,0) 

Cash and cash equivalents 15.953 11.943 (4.010) (25,1) 

Current financial receivables 21.123 10.821 (10.302) (48,8) 

Noncurrent financial payables (1.276) (6.671) (5.395) (422,8) 

Current financial payables (83.474) (81.696) 1.778 2,1 
     
Net financial position (42.674) (65.603) (22.929) (53,7) 
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The net financial position of the publishing house shown in the table presents as of December 31, 2013 a net 
debt equal to EUR 65.6 million, compared to €42.7 million on December 31, 2012. The worsening of EUR 
22.9 million is mainly due to the negative results of the period, and the difference in elongation in the 
average conditions of collection. 
 
As part of the medium-long term debt are includes two facilitated long-term loans stipulted by Class Editori 
and PMF News Editori with Centrobanca, expiring in 2015, a grant with Unicredit (formerly Mediocredito) 
made by PMF News Editori, also expiring in 2015, as well as a financing made by the subsidiary Assinform 
with Carige Bank, expiring in 2017. Current financial payables include, in addition to the lines of cash and 
current accounts, the loans, and standby lines of credit of overdraft facility. It also included a 5 year long 
loan of 6 million euro made with Banca Popolare Emilia Romagna, which refinanced short-term lines of 
equal amount.  
 
 
Disbursed dividends 
 
No dividends were paid during 2013. The residual debt towards the shareholders as of 31st December 2013 
was equal to 17.759 euros. 
 
 
Stock Exchange data 
 

 2012 2013 

Minimum price (euro) 0,1464 0,173 

Maximum price (euro) 0,2850 0,2599 

Average weighted price (euro) 0,23 0,22 

Traded volume (overall) (euro) 60.523.599 42.225.079 

Minimum capitalization (ml. euro) 15 18 

Maximum capitalization (ml. euro) 30 27 

Average capitalization (ml. euro) 22,3 21,9 
Number of shares (Category A shares accepted for 
negotiation) 105.547.510 105.547.510 
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Indicators of financial performance 
 
For a better understanding of the financial position and profits of the company, below are given some 
financial indicators comparing the two reference periods, and the reclassified income statement table 
according to the principle of managerial relevance. 
 

€ (thousand) 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes 

% 

Revenues from sales 82.305 78.462 (4,7) 

Internal production  -- -- -- 

Value of operative production 82.305 78.462 (4,7) 

External operating costs  (77.870) (75.266) (3,3) 

Added value 4.435 3.196 (27,9) 

Staff costs (21.560) (18.651) (13,5) 

Gross operating profit (GOP) (17.125) (15.455) (9,8) 

Depreciation and provisions (4.821) (8.244) 71,0 

Operating profit (21.946) (23.699) (8,0) 

Results of the ancillary area 608 1.935 218,3 

Net results of the financial area -- -- -- 

Normalized EBIT (21.338) (21.764) (2,0) 

Results of the non-recurring area 4.809 (3.249) (167,6) 

Total EBIT (16.529) (25.013) (51,3) 

Income/financial net (expenses) (1.619) (3.095) (91,2) 

Profit before tax (18.148) (28.108) (54,9) 

Income taxes 4.749 6.421 35,2 

Third party result 455 (1.095) (340,7) 

Net profit (12.944) (22.782) (76,0) 
 

 
Below is presented the trend of the turnover, including the extraordinary income consistent with the figure 
reported in previous periods, and net profit of the last 5 years: 
 
€uro/000.000 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Total revenues 121,7 127,6 141,3 94,3 86,0 

Net profit 0,6 (1,9) 5,6 (12,9) (22,8) 
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  31/12/2012 31/12/2013  

Indices of financing of fixed assets     
     
Fixed asset to equity capital margin  
(Equity – Fixed Assets) 

€/000 (3.365) (32.468)  

     
Fixed asset to equity capital ratio 
( Equity / Fixed Assets) 

% 0,95 0,60  

     
Fixed asset to equity capital and medium-long term debt 
margin 
(Equity + L.T. Liabilities – Fixed Assets) 

€/000 4.065 (19.251)  

     
Fixed asset to equity capital and medium-long term debt 
ratio 
(Equity + L.T. Liabilities /  Fixed Assets 

% 1,05 0,76  

     
These indexes show the methods of financing of medium and long term loans, as well as the breakdown of 
funding sources. 

          
           

 
     
Indexes on loan structure      
     
Ratio of total debt 
(L.T + Current liabilities / Equity) 

% 2,18 3,70  

     
Ratio of financial debt 
(Loans + current liabilities / Equity) 

% 0,96 1,60  

     
These indexes are intended to represent the composition of funding sources.            

 
     
Total return index     
     
Net ROE 
(Net Profit / Equity) 

% (18,14) (47,59)  

     
Gross ROE  
(Profit before tax / Equity) 

% (25,44) (58,72)  

     
ROI 
(Operating Result / Fixed Assets) 

% (29,38) (29,50)  

     
ROS 
(Operating Profit / Revenues from sales) 

% (26,66) (30,20)  
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The profitability indicators are those most frequently used in business economics practice to compare the 
company results and the structural sources of the financing activity. 
 

           
          

     
          

        
          

         
     

Solvency indicators     
     
Liquidity ratio 
(Current Assets – Current liabilities) 

€/000 1.929 (22.228)  

     
Current ratio 
(Current Assets / Current liabilities) 

% 1,01 0,86  

     
Cash and cash equivalents  
(Deferred Liquidity + Immediate – Current liabilities) 

€/000 229 (24.926)  

     
Cash ratio 
(Deferred Liquidity + Immediate / Current liabilities) 

% 1,00 0,85  

     
The solvency ratios are intended to represent current assets with respect to short-term commitments of the 
company 

           
       

 
Information concerning the environment and the staff. 
 
Given the specific activity of the company there are no issues to be reported 
No damage was caused to the environment, nor any penalties or charges have arised. 
There were no events in the workplace that resulted in injury of any kind to employees. 
 
Business area 
 
A ) Newspapers  
 
The area includes the company that publishes Milano Finanza Editori Spa MF / Milano Finanza, which in the 
financial year had an average circulation (ADS figures) of about 76 thousand copies. The area also includes 
for the services relating to newspapers, the company Milano Finanza Service Srl. 
 
The business area has achieved the following results in 2013: 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/12 31/12/13 Absolute 
change 

Change 
(%) 

Revenues 22.672 20.893 (1.779) (7,8) 

Direct operating costs 13.101 12.717 (384) (2,9) 

Contribution margin 9.571 8.176 (1.395) (14,6) 

% of revenues 42,2 39,1   

The decrease in revenue is due both to the fall in advertising revenues and the decrease in circulation 
revenues (subscriptions and newsstand), as a result of the economic situation of this market. 
The overall result is a direct margin which is reduced by about 15% but still positive, and with a incidence on 
revenues of 29%. 
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B ) Magazines 
 
The area includes the company Class Editori SpA, Milano Finanza Editori Spa (only for the newspapers  
Gentleman and Gentleman Real Estate, Patrimoni, Magazine for Fashion and Magazine for Living, 
Eccellenza Italian), Edis Srl. (publisher of Ladies), Campus Editori Srl, Lombard Editori Srl, Global Finance 
Media, Inc., Fashion Work Srl and Country Class Editori Srl (which publishes Capital). 
It also includes Assinform / Dal Cin Editore Srl,  limited to the revenues deriving from the magazine 
Assinews and Rischio Sanità. 
The publications for male readers, Class, Capital and Gentleman with an average circulation of respectively 
78,000, 72,000 and 76 000 copies, represent overall the leadership in the segment of the high level male 
target. 
 
The business area has achieved the following results in 2013: 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/12 31/12/13 Absolute 
change 

Change  
(%) 

Revenues 17.827 15.740 (2.087) (11,7) 

Direct operating costs 18.095 15.842 (2.253) (12,5) 

Contribution margin (268) (102) 166 61,9 

% effect on revenues (1,5) (0,6)   

 
Negative trends in the sector were partially offset by the good results obtained by Global Finance, a monthly 
magazine about international finance printed in the United States, which closed the year with positive results 
and showed an increase, compared to 2012. 
Given the reduction in turnover also the cost undergo an over-proportional contraction, due, as anticipated, to 
the a constant control on the number of foliations and on the costs of the individual publications, calibrated 
for each outgoing issue on the collected revenues. 
 

C ) Digital area 
 
During the course of 2013 was established the development strategy of the publishing house towards the 
creation of a digital division in which to bring together and regroup all activities that have this common 
denominator, and that are consequently bound together, and that over the past years have developed 
significant investments in facilities, resources, software and content. Not only TV channels and their 
convergence to the TV banking, but also radio, online trading platforms, news and financial information 
packages sold with professional applications, websites of MF / Milano Finanza and the associated Italia 
Oggi, e-commerce sites, applications for Tablet, the Corporate TV and Radio (turnkey service that is 
provided to banks and companies for a radio and an inner television system), are all part of a unified whole 
that sees not only the convergence of technologies but also of the market, now that all the multimedia groups 
are increasingly orienting to count together all of the channel users and online users, and the sum of all these 
users is the new meter of evaluation of future investments. 
For this reason, since the accounting data is a reflection of the business, grouping aforementioned activities 
seemed legit, reclassifying them compared to the past, from a market perspective, opportunity and 
synergistic development. 
The area therefore includes the company E-Class Spa, Spa PMF News, Digital Class Service Srl, Milano 
Finanza Service Spa (for services related to the area) and the Agency MF Dow Jones & Company, Inc.  
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In addition, the Company Class CNBC Spa, Class Editori Spa (only for activities dedicated to digital cable 
Class TV channel and Class Life channel), Radio Classica Srl, a network dedicated to classical music and 
financial information, the company Telesia Spa (leader in the field of out-of-home television in Airports, 
Metros and Highway stops), Class TV Service Srl, Class Meteo Services Srl, and the Class TV Moda Srl 
company.  
The business area has achieved the following results in 2013: 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/12 31/12/13 Absolute 
Change 

Change  
(%) 

Revenues 37.202 31.978 (5.224) (14,0) 

Direct operating costs 35.647 34.247 (1.400) (3,9) 

Contribution margin 1.555 (2.269) (3.824) n.s 

% effect on revenues 4,2 (7,1)   

 
The reduction in income is to be attributed in particular to: 
 
• for EUR 3.67 million to revenues, accounted in 2012, related to the sale of the share of 31.2% of Class 

Digital Service, which for competence management in 2012 was classified in this area of activity; 

• approximately 1 million euro to the finance area of E-class, specialized in the sale of services of online 
trading, and the slightly lower revenues accounted from the press agency MF Dow Jones; 

• for the difference in the group televisions, which recorded contrasting trends: the Metropolitan and 
Airports TVs have undergone major declines in revenues in the first half of the year, picking up in the 
fourth quarter, and the digital cable television (Class TV) and satellite (Class CNBC) have instead been 
showing encouraging signs of growth. 

 
From the point of view of costs, the most significant initiatives have been made with the internalization of 
part of the activities of direction and editing, which made it possible to generate economies and efficiencies 
in production facilities. 
From the point of view of content, major TV series, documentaries and films have been acquired, which 
further enriched program schedules, though with additional expenses. 
The overall reduction in direct operating costs, however, operated in the area, only partly offset the reduction 
in revenues, resulting in a deterioration in the gross margin, which was negative for € 2.3 million. At the net 
of the extraordinary transaction relating to the sale of a portion of Class Digital Service, which had 
significantly improved the margin in 2012, it can be assumed that the direct margin in 2013 was broadly in 
line with 2012. 
 

D ) Professional services 
 
The business area comprises the following companies: Advertisement Class Spa (consolidated as mentioned 
at the beginning of the report), MF Conference Srl, DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl and Classpi Digital srl. 
 
It also includes the activities of the Student Lounge of the Campus Srl company, and that of Assinform / Dal 
Cin Editore Srl on the organization of conferences. 
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The business area has achieved the following results in 2013: 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/12 31/12/13 Absolute 
change 

Change  
(%) 

Revenues 2.036 9.916 7.880 n.s 

Direct operating costs 1.838 8.736 6.898 n.s 

Contribution margin 198 1.180 982 n.s. 

% effect on revenues 9,7% 11,9%   

 
The increase in revenues and direct costs is attributed mainly to the consolidation of Classpi. 
Significant savings have been achieved  on the remunerations paid to the commercial network and the 
internal structures, with significant savings achieved at net of one-off costs incurred. 
The efficiencies generated, allowed us to achieve a good result in the six services area, with a positive 
margin of 1.2 million euro 
 
Relationships with associates and related parties  
 
Concerning the economic, financial and equity relationships with associates and related parties please refer 
to the section included in the consolidated financial statements. 
Concerning the assessment of the investments recorded with the net equity method, appropriate adjustments 
have been made to detect the differences between balance sheet value and net asset share. 
 
Investments 
 
Details about the subsidiaries are as follows: 
 
- Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl: The company, based in Pordenone, has been publishing Assinews, a 

monthly magazine of technology, law and information since 1989; it also publishes the quarterly 
specialized magazine Rischio Sanità as well as a series of books all about the world of insurance policies. 
The company closed the year 2013 with a pretax profi of EUR 62 thousand (11 thousand after taxation). 
 

- Campus Editori Srl: The company, based in Milan, is the publisher and owner of Campus and Campus 
Web, the local editions of Tutto Università and the organizer, in various Italian universities, of the Salone 
dello Studente. The subsidiary has closed the year 2013 with a profit before tax of EUR 15 thousand (12 
thousand net of taxes). 
 

- CFN-CNBC Holding BV: The company, based in the Netherlands, owns the controlling interest of Class 
CNBC Spa and closed the year 2013 with a profit of 376 thousand euro. 
 

- Class CNBC Spa:The company, with headquarters in Milan, edits the television channel named after it. 
The period ended with a profit before tax of EUR 999 thousand (690 thousand net of tax). 
 

- Class Editori Service Spa: The company, based in Milan, performs service activities to the benefit of the 
publishing house, ensuring business administration, finance, control, subscription management, EDP 
services and technical production. It has closed the year 2013 with a loss before tax of EUR 39 thousand 
(-73 thousand net of taxes). 

 
- Class Meteo Services Srl: The company, based in Milan, was established on 2 February 2010 and is still 

in the start-up phase. It is designed to develop products in the field of weather forecasting, to be 
distributed in the various business channels of the publishing house. It has closed the year 2013 with a 
profit before tax of EUR -863 million (-627 million after tax). 
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- Class Servizi Televisivi Srl: The company, founded in during the second semester 2011 and wholly 
owned by Class Editori SpA, is based in Milan and is intended to the realization of television productions 
and television supporting structures of the publishing house. It has closed the year 2013 with a profit 
before tax of EUR 128 thousand (62 thousand net of taxes). 
 

- Class TV Service Srl: The company, based in Milan is destined to the construction of television 
productions and television supporting structures of the publishing house. It has closed the year 2013 with 
a profit before tax of EUR 123 thousand (71 thousand net of taxes). 

 
- Classint Advertising Srl: The company, based in Milan, was acquired during the second half of 2011. It 

operates in the Internet sector, particularly in the management of sites and advertising. It has ended the 
year 2013 with a loss before tax of 3000 Euros (€ -4 thousand after tax). 
 

- Classpi - Class Pubblicità Spa: The company, with headquarters in Milan, operates as the agent of the 
publishing house, in the collection of advertising. It has closed the year 2013 with a profit before tax of 
EUR 405 thousand (138 thousand net of taxes). 
 

- Classpi Digital Srl: The company, based in Rome, provides concessionaire service for advertising for 
Telesia Group and closed the year 2013 with a net result of EUR -15 thousand. 
 

- Country Class Editori Srl: The company, with headquarters in Milan, operates in the publishing field 
and is the publisher of the monthly magazine Capital: it closed the year 2013 with a loss of 150 thousand 
euro (-185 thousand net of tax). 
 

- DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl: The company, based in Milan, operates in the field of analysis of financial 
statements and the management of financial databases. It has closed the year 2013 with a profit before tax 
of EUR 5000 (1000 net of tax). 
 

- E-Class Spa: The company, based in Milan, operates in the field of satellite transmission of data and 
financial information and implementation of Corporate Television platforms. It has closed the year 2013 
with a profit before tax of EUR 1,400 thousand (1.496 thousand net of tax). 

 
- Class Digital Service Srl: The company, with headquarters in Milanwas incorporated on December 21, 

2012, and holds shares in the holding company E-Class Spa and PMF News Editori SpA. It has closed the 
year 2013 with a loss before tax of € 24 000 (- 16 € net of taxes). The company also draws up a 
consolidated financial statement which closed with a net profit of € 3.356 million. 
 

- Edis Srl: The company, based in Milan, publishes Ladies and closed the year 2013 with a profit before 
tax of EUR 30 thousand (9000 net of tax). 
 

- EX.CO Srl: The company, with headquarters in Milan, which operates as daily press agency, ended the 
year 2013 with a loss before tax of EUR 47 thousand (-34 thousand net of taxes). 
 

- Fashion Work Business Club Srl: The company, based in Milan, operates in the field of fashion, 
providing organizational and brokerage and editing services for its namesake magazine which collects ads 
of the industry. It has closed the year 2013 with a profit before tax of EUR -15 thousand (-11 thousand 
after tax). 
 

- Global Finance Media Inc: The company, with headquarters in New York (USA), owns and publishes 
the international financial publication Global Finance. The company ended the year 2013 with a net profit 
of $ 487,000. 
 

- I Love Italia Srl: The company, based in Palermo, is presently in its start-up phase, and is destined to 
edit magazines in the field of tourism. 
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- Lombard Editori Srl: The company, based in Milan, is the publisher and owner of Lombard and closed 

the year 2013 with a profit before tax of EUR 44 thousand (32 thousand net of taxes). 
 

- Milano Finanza Editori Spa: The company, based in Milan, publishes the magazines MF / Milano 
Finanza, MF Fashion and monthly publications Patrimoni and Gentleman. It has closed the year 2013 
with a profit before tax of EUR 484 000 (248 000 net of tax). 
 

- Milano Finanza Service Srl: The company, based in Milan, operates in the field of publishing services 
and ended the year 2013 with a profit before tax of EUR 1000 (1000 net of tax). 

 
- Milano Finanza Servizi Editoriali Srl: The company, based in Milan, operates in the field of editorial 

page layout. It has closed the year 2013 with a profit before tax of EUR 36 thousand (18 thousand net of 
taxes). 
 

- MF Conference Srl: The company, based in Milan, organizes meetings and conferences and closed the 
year 2013 with a profit before tax of EUR 6000 (-14 thousand net of tax). 
 

- MF Dow Jones News Srl: The company, with headquarters in Milan, was established on 23 December 
2002 by a 50% joint venture with Dow Jones & Company, Inc. and Class Editori SpA for the production 
and sale of economic and financial information in Italian, in real time. It has ended the year 2013 with a 
loss before tax of EUR 227 thousand (-196 thousand, net of taxes). 
 

- New Satellite Radio Srl: The company, based in Milan was acquired during the year and ended the year 
2013 with a loss before tax of EUR -7 thousand (income of 1000 after taxes). 
 

- PMF News Editori Spa: the subsidiary, which operates as a real-time agency of the daily press via 
satellite, and provides online trading services to banks, ended the year 2013 with a profit before tax of 
EUR 1.931 million (1.876 million to net of tax). 
 

- Radio Classica Srl: The company, based in Milan, was established in September 2000 with the aim of 
strengthening its presence in the radio sector. The establishment of the national network is based on the 
exploitation of all the technological innovations of the radio emission, meaning the digital signal via 
satellite and the internet broadcasting. It has closed the year 2013 with a result of € -796 thousand (-595 
thousand net of tax). 
 

- Telesia Spa: The company, based in Rome, works in the field of out of home television and closed the 
year 2013 with a result of € -73 thousand (-82 thousand net of tax). 
 

- TV Moda Srl: The company, based in Milan, a television production company, edits its namesake 
channel namesake, broadcast at number 180 on the Sky platform. TV Moda, since 2005, is the television 
channel devoted entirely to the world of Italian fashion and its protagonists. It has closed the year 2013 
with a result of € -510 thousand (-370 thousand net of tax). 
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MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACED BY THE COMPANY 
 
Risks relating to the sector in which the Company operates 
 
The economic and financial crisis that hit the Western markets, and that has had a significant impact on the 
publishing market, is certainly at current state the main risk factor for the publishing house, whose 
advertising revenues account for about 55% of the total, generating greater margins. 
Communication investments by businesses, which are the basis of the advertising revenues of the publishing 
companies, are strongly dependent on the structural situation of the economy of the country. The desired and 
expected recovery of the economy, which is anchored to the recovery plan and to the five-year development 
plan of the publishing house, thus appears to be the main element of risk concerning the future of the 
company. 
Positive signals from the advertising market, as mentioned earlier, have been seen with a slowdown in the 
performance of the reduction in volume collections during the second half of 2013, compared to the first. 
The signals of the advertising market in 2014, however, seem to be still marked by caution. 
 
In this situation of uncertainty and risk of the Publisher, has continued to invest in products and 
organizational structures, particularly commercial, both to seize every opportunity in the market and to 
counter the effects of the crisis.  
The consolidated financial statements and the financial statements of the Class Editori SpA have been 
prepared on a going concern basis, based on the assessment made by the Directors , as required by IAS 1,, on 
the ability of the company and of the publishing house to continue operating as a working entity, taking into 
account all the information available. 
 
The Directors have assessed the uncertainties inherent in the implementation of the Strategic Development 
Plan 2014 - 2018, approved on January 9, 2014, resulting from both (i) the current macroeconomic situation 
in the market, which may not allow for its full realization, or it could take longer time than estimated, and (ii) 
to strengthen the equity transaction, whose characteristics of implementation, once defined, may require an 
update of the Plan with a focus on different economic and business objectives which has been defined in that 
occasion. Considering the aforementioned, the Directors, based on the information available to them, believe 
that the uncertainties described above are not significant and can be overcome, and that it is reasonable to 
expect that the Publisher may nevertheless have adequate resources to continue its business in a foreseeable 
future. 
 
Credit risk associated with commercial relations with customer 
 
After the significant write-downs of loans made in the year just ended, the publishing house now has a solid 
portfolio characterized by primary customers. The stringent procedures for debt recovery and a more 
accurate selection of counter-parties for the future, should reduce the size of the write-downs. The value of 
the receivables shown in the balance sheet keeps anyway into account both the risk of non-collection, with 
appropriate write-downs, and the deferment of the time with its discounted cash flows related to the different 
expected time of collection of the receivables (time value), as required by international accounting standards. 
 
Interest-rate risks 
 
The Group's policy does not include speculative investment in financial products. Despite the situation of the 
growing market interest rates, there were no transactions to hedge the exposure of banks. The resources are 
obtained, addition to the flow of current management, by the loans granted by the parent company and 
remunerated at normal market conditions. 
The worsening of the results over the past two years, which has led to a deterioration of the ratings of the 
companies of the group, and the financial crunch made by the banking system against businesses, has led to 
increasing interest rates, which in absolute value are deemed to have stabilized at the current paid levels. In 
any case, further changes in market interest rates may affect the returns on loans and the cost of funding, 
affecting the trends in financial income and expenses. At the moment, as mentioned, given the general 
situation of the economic recession, the interest rate curve expressed by the market and the overall level of 
interest paid by the company, the risk of further increases is limited. 
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Exchange-rate risks 
 
The Publisher, with the exception of activities managed by the U.S. subsidiary Global Finance Inc., and for 
the services acquired directly from China on the production and distribution of the magazine Eccellenza 
Italian, operates almost entirely in the euro area. Transactions settled in currencies other than Euro are very 
limited. Therefore, no significant exchange rate risks are to be reported. 
 
Liquidity risks 
 
The current availability of cash and financial market crisis that from the banks has moved to the private 
sector definitely make it more difficult for the renewal of bank credit lines, commercial and financial, 
although at the moment these have all been renovated to the Publisher. 
The worsening of the financial situation during the year and increased levels of debt have forced the 
company to significantly increase the level of arrears to its suppliers. The Board of Directors on January 9, 
2014 approved the five-year plan developed by the company with the assistance of a leading international 
investment bank. During the process, it emerged the need to give continuity and efficiency to the business 
activity, to strengthen the financial structure, for which the management has activated itself and which had 
already defined, even before the 2013 financial year, a plan  for significant increase in capital, for which 
various solutions are being examined by the Council, as specified in the business outlook paragraph.. 
It is expected that the publishing house will be in a position to renew the lines expiring in the year; the loans 
are not subject to compliance with covenants for their maintenance. 

 
Disputes in progress 
 
In 2005, the Revenue Agency of Milan sent assessment notices to the Milano Finanza Editori Spa 
company, relating to the financial years 2002 and 2003. After the appeal filed by Milano Finanza, the 
Provincial Tax Commission of Milan filed its own first instance judgment on 17 July 2007, partially granting 
the grievances submitted by the company, and essentially cutting in half the value of the initial taxable 
amounts. In the meantime, however, as required by law, 50% of the amount assessed had been entered in the 
tax rolls. The judgment, which was filed on 11th November 2009, dismissed the Agency’s appeal regarding 
the notice of assessment for the year 2003, while the appeal was partially granted concerning the notice of 
assessment for 2002. More specifically, the Agency’s petition regarding point n° 4 of the notice of 
assessment was granted, that is, the failure to book receivable interest (Art. 56 Income Tax Consolidation 
Act-TUIR), entailing the recovery of the respective taxes in connection with direct taxation, for 340,901.46 
euros. The company, assisted by the Studio Legale Tributario Gallo, established by Franco Gallo, presented 
an appeal to the Supreme Court  in December 2010. The date of the hearing has yet to be announced. 
 
A dispute is currently underway with Inpgi with respect to the companies Class Editori Spa and Milano 
Finanza Spa (as well as the affiliated company Italia Oggi Editori–Erinne Srl); the institute has put forth 
claims on alleged contribution violations which the company considers groundless. Given the opportunity by 
a tax amnesty, introduced on the disputes with the Inpgi, the publishing house has assessed convenient to 
adhere to it, in relation to the disputes pertaining to the early investigations carried out. In the course of 2013 
were completed the installment payments of the sums agreed upon, with full utilization of the specifically 
allocated risks funds, amounting to 400 thousand euro. 
On the other hand, the dispute concerning the inspection performed by Inpgi in 2007 is still open. The 
request amounts to approximately 1.6 million euros overall. In this regard, supported by the opinion of 
Ichino- Brugnatelli and Associates, the legal firm appointed to defend the company, it was not deemed 
necessary to allocate any provisions (also in compliance with IAS standard n° 37).  
 
Assessment notices have been receive by Classpi Spa as a result of the official reports for the major 
concessionaires for the years 2002 to 2007, for alleged non-deductibility of VAT on costs for negotiation 
rights paid to the Centri Media, as per industry practice. 
The company has won the first instance judgment for all of the years, except 2005, the year for which the 
CTP of Milan (Section 1) with ruling no. 191 delivered on June 7th, 2011 and filed on September 7, 2011 
unexpectedly rejected the company's appeal. 
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It was therefore filed an appeal with the Regional Tax Commission of Lombardy which with ruling no. 
19/13/13, delivered on January 23, 2013, reached an unfavorable decision regarding the company's appeal, 
which, therefore, on October 7, 2013, has filed an appeal to the Supreme Court. 
Please note that Equitalia-Esatri had already issued a tax notice in relation to 50% of the assessed taxes 
(excluding IRES), for a total of 346 000 EUR. The directory included both of the findings contained in the 
2005 tax assessment and those relating to disputes on the rights of negotiation for the years 2005, 2006 and 
2007. 
After the usual rejection of the suspension, rescheduling petition was filed. The request was granted in early 
2011. The company paid about 221 thousand Euros, so more than the total due based on the outcome of the 
judgment of first instance, mentioned earlier. It was therefore suspended the plan for rescheduling even after 
obtaining the measure of relief from the Inland Revenue. On May 29, 2012 was obtained a reimbursement of 
EUR 126 thousand, corresponding to the amount paid in excess compared to the outcome of the judgment by 
the Provincial Tax Commission. 
With regard to the years 2002, 2003 and 2004, with ruling n. 81/14/12 by the Regional Tax Commission of 
Lombardy, filed on July 10, 2012, it was confirmed the judgment in favor of the company already achieved 
in the first degree. On July 18, 2013 the Inland Revenue notified an appeal to the Supreme Court against the 
judgment n. 08/14/12. Classpi filed its defense on 24 October 2013. 
Finally, with reference to the years 2006 and 2007, with ruling n. 58/12/13 by Regional Tax Commission of 
Lombardy, filed on March 15, 2013, it was confirmed the judgment in favor of the company already 
achieved in the first degree. Also in this case, the Inland Revenue has proceeded to file an appeal in the  
 
Supreme Court to challenge the ruling in favor of the company, which, on December 17, 2013, has filed its 
defense. 
For all three judgments, we are waiting for the hearing to be scheduled which will presumably be fixed in 
about 3 years. 

On 25 February 2010, the subsidiary Classpi received a notice of assessment as a result of a tax audit made 
by the Revenue Agency for the fiscal year 2005.The notice of assessment reported tax recoveries IRES / 
IRAP for about 2,5 million Euros, and for VAT purposes for around 2 million Euros. Most of it is a result of 
the lack of consideration by the officials of the Agency, of what is the reality of the advertising market in 
general and the typical evolution of commodity exchange contracts, in particular, where it is inevitable for 
worldwide publishing to actually to resell the material/service at prices lower than those of acquisition. The 
main findings relating to the failure to account for revenues regards the failure of re-invoicing to the Group 
companies the advertising costs incurred for the promotion of editorial products. These services, however, 
are provided for by infra-group contracts that allow for a specific remuneration for Classpi. On September 7, 
2011 was filed ruling no. 191 of the Provincial Tax Commission of Milan (Section 1). The ruling is overall 
very positive, accepting almost all of the observations made by the company and has significantly reduced 
the initial findings by reducing the errors to EUR 175 thousand in taxable income for a tax effect of 100 
thousand euro. The Inland Revenue, through this ruling, has notified an interlocutory appeal against the 
Classpi which in turn has presented counterarguments and action in court. The Regional Tax Commission of 
Milan, on 23 January 2013, substantially confirmed the outcome of the first instance judgment, thus 
confirming the general correctness of the company's activity. Although both sentences have been extremely 
in favor of the Company, effectively reducing the claims of the agency from the original 2.5 million taxable 
income assessed, to about 370 thousand Euros of taxable income, the company has still decided to appeal to 
the Supreme Court, considering the fact that the same judgment had given negative judgment to the company 
in relation to the issue of rights of trading, with regard to the year in question. 

 
In a dispute between Class Cnbc S.p.A. and Capitalia S.p.A./ Bipop Carire S.p.A. (both of which were 
merged into Unicredit S.p.A.) concerning the sale of advertising space, the first instance court of the Court of 
Milan sentenced Capitalia S.p.A. to pay CFN CNBC S.p.A. (the former name of the company) 619,748.24 
euros plus late payment interest at the legal rate and legal costs of 46,411.63 euros. Following the appeal 
sentence which overturned the first instance sentence, the Appeal Court of Milan, with its sentence filed on 
16th January 2012, sentenced Class CNBC to return 732,695.81 euros to Unicredit S.r.l. (formerly Capitalia) 
plus late payment interest at the legal rate.  
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The dispute had been resolved by negotiating directly with the counterpart through a commercial agreement  
which involves the provision of advertising services by the company, thus avoiding a new level of judgment, 
costs and uncertainty as to the outcome; 
 
Personnel  
 
Period average: 
 31/12/12 31/12/13 Absolute Change 

Executives 17 13 (4) 
Journalists 146 138 (8) 
Employees 187 171 (16) 

Total 350 322 (28) 

Earlier this year has been launched a program of containment and reduction of the workforce, where 
possible, in those less productive areas and the initiation of the use of social welfare, whose effects on costs 
will be more visible in 2014 when they enter to the regime. 

During the year, in particular, it was started the income assistance for the subsidiary Country Class, since in 
August for a period of two years, in addition to that already active the company Campus; moreover,  
solidarity contracts for companies Milano Finanza Editori, Class Editori and Edis have also been activated, 
starting from the month of June, for a period of two years. 
Since the beginning of 2014, solidarity contracts have been extended to companies MF Milano Finanza and  
MF Servizi Editoriali, part of a complex plan to restructure and reorganize line and staff activities. 
For the other companies of the group who have not yet been affected by social safety nets, the plan for 
voluntary contributions "Cooperation and Solidarity" has remained active, which included starting March 
2013 a voluntary contribution by employees, that amounted to 10% of pay. 

The Apprenticeship contracts of the Publisher as of 31 December 2013 amounted to 8. 

Class Editori Spa carries out its activities at its registered office in Via Burigozzo 5, Milan, and also at the 

following operative offices: 

Milan-Via Burigozzo 8 

Rome- Via Santa Maria in Via, 12  
 
Pursuant to art. 123-bis of the Consolidated Law on Finance is hereby given notice that on the website of the 
company, www.classeditori.it, under Investor Relations, Financial Reports, is made available in accordance 
with the law the Report on Corporate Governance and Ownership structure for the year 2013. 
 
Highlights after 31st December 2013 
 
As of 8 January Angelo Sajeva, coming from Mondadori, of which he was president and chief executive 
officer, as well as vice president of Mediamond, has assumed the position of director for strategy and 
development of Class Editori and at the same time the position of President of Class Pubblicità, covered so 
far by the interim general manager and managing director of Class Editori, Andrea Mattei. 
 
On January 9, the Board of Directors approved the five-year business plan, which expects to achieve a ratio 
EBITDA / turnover of the publishing house of over 17%. by the end of the fifth year. 
The 2013-2018 business plan, relying on the availability of content and the plurality of the media, also 
provides for the consolidation of leadership positions already achieved financial news, the strengthening of 
the digital environment for all new media, with the launch of new platforms disengaged from magazines, 
apps for tablets and a new TV banking project, the particular focus on the business unit TV & radio Radio, as 
well as a significant development in the international area, particularly in China (thanks to the partnership 
with Xinhua News Agency, the largest Chinese publishing group with $ 16 billion in revenues, which is 
owned by the government) and in Central and South America, starting with licensed local editions of the 
monthly Gentleman. 
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As already mentioned, during the preparation go the plan, it emerged the need to give continuity and 
efficiency to the business activity, to strengthen the financial structure, for which the management has 
activated itself and which had already defined, even before the 2013 financial year, a plan  for significant 
increase in capital, for which various solutions are being examined by the Council, as specified in the 
business outlook paragraph. 
 
On January 24, 2014 was completed the acquisition equal to EUR 4 million, supported by an independent 
valuation from the Agora Finance fund, of 100% of the shares of the Aldebaran Srl company.  
The payment has been made partly in cash and partly by offsetting the credits that Class had towards 
counterparty. 
Aldebaran is the owner of technologies and activities related to the creation and development of outdoor 
channelTV Moby, made for buses, trams and metro trains, that is strategic and crucial for the subsidiary 
Telesia and for the growth of business in the world of out of the house TV and in general in the digital sector.  
 
On March 4th and 6th was presented to the world of advertising, to agencies and media centers, the new 
palimpsest of Class TV Channel 27 of the digital TV, starring the best-loved Italian fictions and most famous 
Hollywood movies, along with quality and useful everyday information to meet the need of intelligent 
entertainment and practical training of the high target to which is dedicated the programming of the channel. 
I Cesaroni and Distretto di Polizia, are among the many titles of great appeal aired from Sunday, March 9. 
 
On March 10th, was published the new special edition MF International China Italy, dedicated to the 
protagonists and business opportunities from and with China. Very positive feedback from the advertising 
revenues. 
 
At the end of March was released in China and Italy in the new issue of the Eccellenza Italiana magazine in 
mandarin, again with very encouraging feedback advertising revenue. 
 
Business outlook 
 
The Board of Class Editori, in view of the trend of publishing house in recent years and the prospects for the 
editorial and advertising market, examined the various options that are offered to the company for the future, 
aimed at strengthening the financial and capital structure, a prerequisite for the realization of the business 
plan approved by the Board on January 9th, to be pursued using the tools available in the current order and in 
the current market, even with the significant support of historical members. 
The latter have expressed their willingness, under certain conditions, to evaluate proposals for a financial and 
capital strengthening that will eventually be made by the company at the conclusion of the ongoing review of 
various alternatives. To this end, the Board has resolved to convene again by April 14, when it can be 
proposed to the shareholders a significant increase in capital in view of a possible formalization of its 
commitment to ensure the subscription, also of any unsubscribed shares, by its historical members 
 
At the same venue, the board of directors shall reserve the assessment of the opportunity to supplement or 
update the plan itself whereas it will be deemed necessary, to take into account possible scenarios that could 
have taken place in the period between the approval of the plan and the definition of the financial strategy 
that should maximize results. 
 
2014 has started with a few encouraging sign from the markets, and in particular from the advertising sector. 
In this context, still prevail queue positions by investors, with reductions or delays in planning by major 
customers. The visibility is therefore currently still quite limited. In this context of uncertainty, the Publisher 
is continuing with its rational cost containment and revenue developments. 
 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

The Chairman 

Victor Uckmar 
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PARTICIPATION OF DIRECTORS, AUDITORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT WITH A STRATEGIC RESPONSABILITY 
            

Last name & Name Subsidiary Company N° shares 
held 

31/12/2012 

notes Purchases Notes Reductions N° shares 
held 

31/12/2013 

notes 

         
Directors         

         
Uckmar Victor Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  
         
Panerai Paolo Class Editori  Spa 13.178.856  -  - 13.178.856 1 
 Milano Finanza Editori Spa           7.500                     -                   -            7.500   
 Class Pubblicità Spa           245.000                  245.000  2 
 Lombard Editori Srl         48.510                     -                   -          48.510  3 
 Edis Srl              100   -  -              100  4 
 Milano Finanza Service Srl         1.198   -  -         1.198  5 
 Class CNBC Spa           1.000                  1.000  6 
         
Magnaschi Pierluigi Class Editori  Spa -   -  - -   
 Milano Finanza Editori  Spa           1.250   -  -           1.250   
         
Capolino Gabriele Class Editori  Spa 182.118  7 -  - 182.118  7 
  Milano Finanza Editori Spa           2.500   -  -           2.500   

         
Terrenghi Vittorio Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Terrenghi Elena Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Vassallo Maria Grazia Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Bolster William L. Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Del Bue Paolo Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Carfagna Maurizio Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Martellini Maria Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Panerai Luca Class Editori  Spa 8.750 8 -  - 8.750 8 

         
Riccardi Angelo Class Editori  Spa           4.400   -              4.400   

         
Librio Samanta Class  Editori Spa 12.100  -  - 12.100  

         
Kann Peter Class  Editori Spa -  -  - -  

         
Mattei Andrea 
(General  Manager) 

Class  Editori Spa -  -  - -  

         
Executives with 
strategic respons. (n.3 
managers) Class  Editori Spa 65.200  -  - 65.200 

 

 Telesia Spa           178.125                     -                   -            178.125   
         
Auditors                   

         
Mascheroni Carlo Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Cambieri Lucia Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Mario Medici Class Editori  Spa -  -  - -  

         
Vieri Chimenti Class Editori  Spa -   -  - -   

            
1) N. 13.148.856 direct shares e N. 30.000  indirect category B shares through the company Compagnia Fiduciaria Nazionale Spa     
2) Indirect through the company Paolo Panerai Editori Sas di Paolo Panerai                                                               
3) Indirect through the company Paolo Panerai Editori Sas di Paolo Panerai      
4) Indirect through the company Paolo Panerai Editori Sas di Paolo Panerai       
5)  Indirect through the company Paolo Panerai Editori Sas di Paolo Panerai      
6) Direct                                                                                                                                                                 
7) N. 3.000 B cat.  shares             
8) N. 2.500 B cat.  shares             
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STOCK OPTION PLANS 
 

There are no stock option plans ongoing 

 
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS OF SUBSIDIARIES 
 

 
BALANCE SHEET 
(Euro x 000) 
 

 
Fixed assets 

 
Other non-

current 
assets 

 
Current 

assets 

 
Net Equity 

 
Severance 

Indemnities 

 
Other non-

current 
liabilities 

 
Current 

liabilities 

Assinform/Dal Cin Editore  Srl 79 864 545 315 62 429 682 
Class Editori Service Spa 95 -- 7.473 38 821 -- 6.709 
Campus Editori Srl 11 2 3.253 55 58 -- 3.153 
Class TV Service Srl 16 -- 3.016 141 7 -- 2.884 
Cfn / Cnbc Holding B.V. 7.097 1.906 10 8.898 -- -- 115 
Class CNBC Spa 434 4 14.158 2.837 365 -- 11.394 
Country Class Editori Srl 2.955 -- 2.766 26 285 -- 5.410 
DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl -- -- 667 68 53 -- 546 
e--Class Spa 5.958 5 16.006 3.303 297 75 18.294 
Edis Srl 2 2 7.615 16 393 -- 7.210 
Ex--Co Srl -- -- 1.685 100 -- -- 1.585 
Fashion Work Business Club -- -- 148 29 -- -- 119 
Global Finance Media Inc. 885 11 1.866 1.256 -- -- 1.506 
Lombard Editori Srl -- -- 1.744 215 -- -- 1.529 
MF Conference Srl 5 1 5.234 24 30 -- 5.186 
MF Dow Jones News Srl 155 -- 3.883 605 263 8 3.162 
Milano Finanza Editori Spa 16 3.939 32.471 445 608 -- 35.373 
MF Editori Srl -- -- 47 29 -- -- 18 
Milano Finanza Service Srl 11 3 16.831 16 911 -- 15.918 
M.F. Servizi Editoriali Srl -- 1 4.796 29 153 -- 4.615 
New Satellite Radio Srl 12 -- 816 5 -- 228 595 
PMF News Editori Spa 1.582 -- 13.372 4.273 -- 216 10.465 
Radio Classica Srl 9.750 -- 1.536 48 174 12 11.052 
Telesia Spa 800 16 6.451 2.682 299 -- 4.286 
Classpi Digital Srl 2 -- 1.266 570 -- 23 675 
Class Meteo Services Srl 203 -- 1.184 --598 -- -- 1.985 
TV Moda Srl 240 -- 1.128 --320 12 -- 1.676 
ClassInt Advertising Srl -- -- 65 5 -- -- 60 
Class Servizi Televisivi Srl 53 -- 2.083 57 94 -- 1.985 
Class Digital Service Srl -- 5.633 13 5.615 -- -- 31 
 Class Pubblicità Spa 442 498 45.209 195 617 - 45.337 
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INCOME STATEMENT 
(Euro x 000) 
 

 
Revenues 

 
Operating 

costs 

 
Amortization 

and 
depreciation  

 
Income/ 

Net financial 
(charges) 

 
Pre-tax results 

 
Net result for 

the year 

Assinform/Dal Cin Editore  Srl 1.649 1.377 (178) (32) 62 11 
Class Editori Service Spa 2.710 2.568 -- (181) (39) (73) 
Campus Editori Srl 1.473 1.422 (62) 26 15 12 
Class TV Service Srl 2.271 2.159 (7) 18 123 71 
Cfn / Cnbc Holding B.V. 453 77 -- -- 376 376 
Class CNBC Spa 9.835 8.511 (177) (148) 999 690 
Country Class Editori Srl 1.918 1.879 (2) (187) (150) (185) 
DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl 131 120 -- (6) 5 1 
e--Class Spa 8.518 5.658 (1.375) (85) 1.400 1.496 
Edis Srl 1.553 1.507 (2) (14) 30 9 
Ex--Co Srl 100 146 -- (1) (47) (34) 
Fashion Work Business Club 3 21 -- 3 (15) (11) 
Global Finance Media Inc. 4.052 3.636 (22) (27) 367 354 
Lombard Editori Srl 253 198 -- (11) 44 32 
MF Conference Srl 1.389 1.439 (42) 98 6 (14) 
MF Dow Jones News Srl 5.461 5.592 (79) (17) (227) (196) 
Milano Finanza Editori Spa 19.164 17.845 (456) (379) 484 248 
MF Editori Srl 2 1 -- -- 1 1 
Milano Finanza Service Srl 4.422 3.736 (17) (281) 388 210 
M.F. Servizi Editoriali Srl 588 483 -- (69) 36 18 
New Satellite Radio Srl 1 1 (4) (3) (7) 1 
PMF News Editori Spa 10.491 8.229 (416) 85 1.931 1.876 
Radio Classica Srl 317 884 (25) (204) (796) (595) 
Telesia Spa 4.975 4.724 (309) (15) (73) (82) 
Classpi Digital Srl 17 42 (1) 15 (11) (15) 
Class Meteo Services Srl 542 1.311 (66) (28) (863) (627) 
TV Moda Srl 127 621 (5) (11) (510) (370) 
ClassInt Advertising Srl 120 122 -- (1) (3) (4) 
Class Servizi Televisivi Srl 2.554 2.422 (6) 2 128 62 
Class Digital Service Srl -- 24 -- -- (24) (16) 
 Class Pubblicità Spa 15.809 14.139 (854) (411) 405 138 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT HIGHLIGHTS OF AFFILIATED COMPANIES 
 
 

 
BALANCE SHEET 
(Euro x 000) 
 

 
Fixed assets 

 
Other non-

current 
assets 

 
Current 

assets 

 
Net Equity 

 
Severance 

Indemnities 

 
Other 
non-

current 
liabilities 

 
Current 

liabilities 

Italia OggiEditori-Erinne Srl 95 4.201 45.400 60 1.127 -- 48.509 
Class Roma Srl 3 10 495 (27) -- -- 535 
Italia Oggi Srl -- -- 180 179 -- -- 1 
Class Horse TV Srl* 2.995 -- 2.177 136 -- -- 4.976 

 
 

 
INCOME STATEMENT 
(Euro x 000) 
 

 
Revenues 

 
Operating 

Costs 

 
Amortization 

and 
depreciation  

 
Income/ 

Net financial 
(charges) 

 
Pre-tax results  

 
Net result for 

the year 

Italia Oggi Editori – Erinne Srl 21.028 20.414 (68) (329) 217 81 
Class Roma Srl 55 135 (4) (4) (88) (65) 
Italia Oggi Srl 23 14 -- -- 9 -- 
Class Horse TV Srl* 1.699 1.785 (281) (10) (376) (109) 
       
       
* Referred to the balance sheet  31/12/2012 
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ACCOUNTING SITUATION OF NON-EEC SUBSIDIARIES 
 

BALANCE SHEET ASSETS 
(Euro x 000) 

31 December 2012 
Global Finance (USA) 

31 December 2013 
Global Finance (USA) 

Intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 848 861 
Other intangible fixed assets 2 -- 
Intangible fixed assets 850 861 
Tangible fixed assets 39 24 
Equity investments valued at net equity -- -- 
Other equity investments -- -- 
Financial receivables -- -- 
Other receivables 12 11 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 901 896 
   
Inventory -- -- 
Trade receivables 1.648 1.411 
Securities -- -- 
Financial receivables -- -- 
Tax receivables 97 93 
Other receivables 69 23 
Cash and cash equivalents 240 339 
CURRENT ASSETS 2.054 1.866 
TOTAL ASSETS 2.955 2.762 

 
 

BALANCE SHEET LIABILITIES 
(Euro x 000) 

31 December 2012 
Global Finance (USA) 

31 December 2013 
Global Finance (USA) 

Share capital 2.366 2.263 
Share premium account   
Legal reserve   
Other reserves (1.168) (1.361) 
Net profit (loss) for the year (258) 354 
NET EQUITY 940 1.256 
   
Financial payables 133 -- 
Provisions fOr liabilities and charges -- -- 
Severance indemnities and other payroll provisions -- -- 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 133 -- 
   
Financial payables -- -- 
Trade payables 1.561 1.221 
Tax payables 33 -- 
Other payables 288 285 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 1.882 1.506 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2.015 1.506 
LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY 2.955 2.762 
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INCOME STATEMENT 
 (Euro x 000) 

31 December 2012 
Global Finance (USA) 

31 December 2013 
Global Finance (USA) 

Revenues 3.793 3.979 
Other operating income 149 73 
Total Revenues 3.942 4.052 
Purchase costs (192) (184) 
Service costs (2.621) (2.133) 
Staff costs (796) (1.017) 
Other operating costs (489) (302) 
   
Gross operating profit–Ebitda (156) 416 
Depreciation and amortisation (30) (22) 
Operating result  – Ebit (186) 394 
   
Income/Net financial (charges) (15) (27) 
Pre tax profit  (201) 367 
   
Income taxes (57) (13) 
   
Profit for the year (258) 354 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 35 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Publishing House  
Consolidated Financial Statement 
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Consolidated financial statements as of 31 December  2013 
 

Table showing the consolidated balance sheet-financial situation as of 31 December 2013 
 
 
ASSETS 
(Euro x 000) 

Notes 31 December 2012 31 December 2013 

Intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 1 35.517 41.868 
Other intangible fixed assets 2 6.209 9.124 
Intangible fixed assets  41.726 50.992 
Tangible fixed assets 3 5.244 4.965 
Equity investments valued at net equity 4 4.483 4.440 
Other equity investments 5 3.210 763 
Non-current trade receivables 6 17.067 16.178 
Deferred tax receivables 7 4.461 5.128 
Other receivables 8 2.973 2.997 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS  79.164 85.463 
    
Inventory 9 1.700 2.698 
Trade receivables 10 62.343 70.369 
Financial assets held for trading 11 5.000 -- 
Financial receivables 12 21.123 10.821 
Tax receivables 13 16.554 23.774 
Other receivables 14 25.073 19.760 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 15.953 11.943 
CURRENT ASSETS  147.746 139.365 
TOTAL ASSETS  226.910 224.828 
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Table showing the consolidated balance sheet-financial situation as of 31 December 2013 
 
 

LIABILITIES 

(Euro x 000) 
Notes 31 December 2012 31 December 2013 

Share capital  10.561 10.561 
Share premium account  31.329 31.329 
Legal reserve  2.544 2.544 
Other reserves  35.302 19.335 
Profit (loss) for the year  (12.944) (22.782) 
Group net equity  66.792 40.987 
Minority capital and reserves  5.001 5.785 
Minority profit (loss)  (455) 1.095 
Minority net equity  4.546 6.880 
NET EQUITY 16 71.338 47.867 
    
Financial payables 17 1.276 6.671 
Deferred tax payables 18 2.325 2.421 
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 1.150 490 
Severance indemnities and other payroll provisions 20 5.004 5.786 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  9.755 15.368 
    
Financial payables 21 83.474 81.696 
Trade payables 22 44.444 56.516 
Tax payables 23 1.664 3.456 
Other payables 24 16.235 19.925 
CURRENT LIABILITIES   145.817 161.593 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  155.572 176.961 
LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY  226.910 224.828 
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Separate consolidated profit and loss statement at 31 December  2013 
 
 

 (Euro x 000) 

Notes 31 December 2012 31 December 2013 

Revenues  82.305 78.462 
Other operating income  6.038 5.571 
Total revenues 25 88.343 84.033 
Purchase costs 26 (5.122) (4.384) 
Service costs 26 (72.748) (70.882) 
Staff cost 26 (21.560) (18.651) 
Other operating costs 26 (5.342) (3.551) 
Valuation of equity investments by net equity 26 (88) (85) 
Gross operating profit – Ebitda  (16.517) (13.520) 
Income/Extraordinary (Charges) 27 4.809 (3.249) 
Depreciation and amortisation  28 (4.821) (8.244) 
Operating result – Ebit  (16.529) (25.013) 
    
Income/Net financial (Charges) 29 (1.619) (3.095) 
Pre-tax profit   (18.148) (28.108) 
    
Income Taxes 30 4.749 6.421 
    
Net Profit  (13.399) (21.687) 
    
Result attributable to third parties  455 (1.095) 
    
Result attributable to the group  (12.944) (22.782) 
Profit per share, base  (0,13) (0,22) 
Profit per share, diluted  -- -- 
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Comprehensive consolidated profit and loss statement at 31 December 2013 
 
 
(Euro x 000) 

 
Notes 31 December 2012 31 December 2013 

Net Profit  (13.399) (21.687) 
    
Other components of comprehensive statement     
    
Profit (loss) from the foreign currency translation of 

financial statements 

26 (25) (38) 

Income/actuarial (charges)  not recorded from statement (IAS 
19) 

26 -- (259) 

    
Taxes on other components of comprehensive  statement 26 -- -- 
    
Total components of comprehensive statement, net of tax effect  (25) (297) 
    
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (13.424) (21.984) 
    
Attributable to:    
    
MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS  (462) 1.039 
PARENT COMPANY SHAREHOLDERS  (12.962) (23.023) 
    
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT  (13.424) (21.984) 
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Statement of changes in consolidated net equity 31/12/2011 – 31/12/2012 
 
 

 (Euro x 000) 

Share  

Capital 

Prem. 

reserve 

Legal 

Reserve 

Stock 

Option 

Reserve 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

earning 

Net 

profit for 

the year 

Group 

NE 

Minority 

NE 

Total NE 

           

BALANCES ON 31/12/2011 10.561 31.329 2.544 279 24.751 -- 5.591 75.055 5.095 80.150 
           
Movements in 2012:           
Allocation of net profit     5.591  (5.591) --  -- 
Payment of dividends      --   --  -- 
Changes in reserve     4.793   4.793 (87) 4.706 
Capital increase          -- 
Purchase own shares     (94)   (94)  (94) 
Result of the period:            
Income (charges) recognized 
in equity -- -- -- -- (18) -- -- (18) (7) (25) 
Total income (charges) 

recognized in net equity -- -- -- -- (18) -- -- (18) (7) (25) 
Net profit for the year        (12.944) (12.944) (455) (13.399) 
Comprehensive income for 
the year -- -- -- -- (18) -- (12.944) (12.962) (462) (13.424) 
           
BALANCE ON  31/12/2012 10.561 31.329 2.544 279 35.023 -- (12.944) 66.792 4.546 71.338 

Statement of changes in consolidated net equity  31/12/2012 – 31/12/2013 
 
 

 (Euro x 000) 

Share  

Capital 

Prem. 

reserve 

Legal 

Reserve 

Stock 

Option 

Reserve 

Other 

reserves 

Retained 

earning 

Net 

profit for 

the year 

Group 

NE 

Minority 

NE 

Total NE 

           

BALANCE ON 31/12/2012 10.561 31.329 2.544 279 35.023 -- (12.944) 66.792 4.546 71.338 
           
Movements 2013:           
Allocation of net profit     (12.944)  12.944 --  -- 
Payment of dividends     --   --  -- 
Changes in reserves     (1.513)   (1.513) 1.569 56 
 IAS 19 changes on Severance pay     (1.269)   (1.269) (274) (1.543) 
Capital increase          -- 
Purchase of own shares          -- 
Result of the period           
Income (charges) recognized 
in net equity -- -- -- -- (241) -- -- (241) (56) (297) 
Income (charges) 
recognized in net equity -- -- -- -- (241) -- -- (241) (56) (297) 
Net profit for the yea        (22.782) (22.782) 1.095 (21.687) 
Comprehensive income for 
the year -- -- -- -- (241) -- (22.782) (23.023) 1.039 (21.984) 
           
BALANCE ON  31/12/2013 10.561 31.329 2.544 279 19.056 -- (22.782) 40.987 6.880 47.867 
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Statement of consolidated cash flows as of 31 December  2013 
  
 

 
(Euro x 000) 

Notes  2012  2013 

FINANCIAL YEAR ASSETS    
Net profit/(loss) of the period  (12.944) (22.782) 
Adjustments    
 - Amortization  3.015 3.628 
Self-financing  (9.929) (19.154) 
    
Change in inventories  2.153 (998) 
Change in trade receivables  25.303 (7.137) 
Change in trade payables  35 12.072 
Change in other receivables  (12.997) 15.591 
Change in other payables  (7.320) 3.690 
Change in tax receivables/payables  (6.473) (5.999) 
    
Cash flows of operating assets (A)  (9.228) (1.935) 
INVESTMENT ASSETS    
    
Change in intangible fixed assets  (4.776) (11.351) 
Change in tangible fixed assets  (326) (1.264) 
Change in investments  (4.004) 2.490 
    
Cash flows of investment assets (B)  (9.106) (10.125) 
FINANCING ASSETS    
    
Change in payables to banks and lending bodies  15.152 3.617 
Change in Reserves for Risks and Charges  491 (660) 
Change in severance indemnities  77 782 
Profit distribution  -- -- 
Change in reserves and net equity items  4.681 (3.023) 
Change in minority net equity  (549) 2.334 
    
Cash flows from financing activities (C)  19.852 3.050 
    
Change in liquid funds (A)+(B)+(C)  1.518 (9.010) 
    
Liquid assets at the beginning of the financial year  19.435 20.953 

Liquid assets at the end of the financial year  20.953 11.943 

 
 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 42 

 
Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2013, pursuant to Consob Resolution n° 15519 
dated 27th July 2006 

 
 
ASSETS 
( Euro x 000) 

Notes 31 December 
2012 

of which 
related parties 

31 December 
2013 

of which related 
parties 

Intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 1 35.517  41.868  
Other intangible fixed assets 2 6.209  9.124  
Intangible fixed assets  41.726  50.992  
Tangible fixed assets 3 5.244  4.965  
Equity investments valued at net equity 4 4.483  4.440  
Other equity investments 5 3.210  763  
Non current trade receivables 6 17.067  16.178  
Deferred tax receivables 7 4.461  5.128  
Other receivables 8 2.973 2.500 2.997 2.500 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS  79.164 2.500 85.463 2.500 
      
Inventory 9 1.700  2.698  
Trade receivables 10 62.343 4.105 70.369 4.785 
Financial assets available  for trading 11 5.000  --  
Financial receivables 12 21.123 2.031 10.821 2.173 
Tax receivables 13 16.554  23.774  
Other receivables 14 25.073 8.993 19.760 10.117 
Cash and cash equivalents 15 15.953  11.943  
CURRENT ASSETS  147.746 15.129 139.365 17.075 
TOTAL ASSETS  226.910 17.629 224.828 19.575 
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Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2013, pursuant to Consob Resolution n° 15519 
dated 27th July 2006 
 
 
LIABILITIES  

(Euro x 000) 

Notes 31 December 
2012 

of which 
related parties 

31 December 
2013 

of which 
related parties 

Share capital   10.561  10.561  
Share premium account  31.329  31.329  
Legal reserve  2.544  2.544  
Other reserves  35.302  19.335  
Net profit (loss) for the ye  (12.944)  (22.782)  
Group net equity  66.792  40.987  
Minority capital and reserves  5.001  5.785  
Minority profit (loss)  (455)  1.095  
Minority net equity  4.546  6.880  
NET EQUITY  16 71.338  47.867  
      
Financial payables 17 1.276  6.671  
Deferred tax payables 18 2.325  2.421  
provisions for liabilities and charges 19 1.150  490  
Severance indemnities and other payroll 
provisions 

20 5.004  5.786  

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  9.755  15.368  
      
Financial payables 21 83.474  81.696  
Trade payables 22 44.444 1.489 56.516 3.632 
Tax payables 23 1.664  3.456  
Other payables 24 16.235  19.925 900 
CURRENT LIABILITIES  145.817 1.489 161.593 4.532 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  155.572 1.489 176.961 4.532 
LIABILITIES AND NET EQUITY  226.910 1.489 224.828 4.532 
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Consolidated separate Income Statement at 31st December 2013 pursuant to Consob 
Resolution n° 15519 dated 27th July 2006 
 
 
 
 

 (Euro x 000) 

notes 31 December 
2012 

of which 
related parties 

31 December 
2013 

of which 
related parties 

Revenues  82.305 1.105 78.462 -- 
Other operating income  6.038 540 5.571 213 
Total revenues 25 88.343 1.645 84.033 213 
Purchase costs 26 (5.122)  (4.384)  
Service costs 26 (72.748) (3.637) (70.882) (4.183) 
Payroll costs 26 (21.560)  (18.651)  
Other operating costs 26 (5.342) (195) (3.551) (39) 
Valuation of equity investments by net equity 26 (88)  (85)  
Gross operating profit – Ebitda  (16.517) (2.187) (13.520) (4.009) 
Income/Extraordinary (Charges) 27 4.809  (3.249)  
Depreciation and amortisation 28 (4.821)  (8.244)  
Operating result – Ebit  (16.529) (2.187) (25.013) (4.009) 
      
Income/net financial (charges) 29 (1.619) 7 (3.095) 23 
Pre-tax profit   (18.148) (2.180) (28.108) (3.986) 
      
Income taxes 30 4.749  6.421  
      
Result attributable to third parties  455  (1.095)  
      
Result attributable to the group  (12.944) (2.027) (22.782) (3.986) 
Profit per share, base  (0,13)  (0,22)  
Profit per share, diluted  --  --  
 
 
 
 

 
The Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Victor Uckmar 
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Class Editori Spa and subsidiaries 
Registered Office in Milan - Via Marco Burigozzo, 5 

 
 
 

EXPLANATORY NOTES 
 
 

The financial situation and economic results of Class Editori Spa as of 31 December 2013 include the 
financial statement of Class Editori Spa and the financial statements of the direct and indirect subsidiaries in 
which Class Editori Spa holds a capital stake of more than 50% or exercises operational control. 
 
All the amounts shown below in these explanatory notes are expressed in thousands of euros. Where this 
convention is not applied, it will stated. 
 
 
Content and form of the consolidated financial statements 
 
The report of the Class Editori Group and its subsidiaries and the Parent Company Class Editori Spa as of 
31 December 2013, both of which were audited, were drawn up based on the assumption of the functioning 
and continuation of company operations, applying the international accounting standards established by the 
IFRS ratified by the Commission of the European Union in regulation No. 1725/2003 and subsequent 
amendments, in compliance with European Parliament regulation No. 1606/2002, which were ratified, 
together with the respective interpretations, by regulation (EC) No. 1126/2008 which, starting on 2 
December 2008, annuls and replaces regulation No. 1725/2003 and subsequent amendments. 
The above-cited reports take account of the recommendations contained in Consob Resolution no. 15519 of 
27 July 2006 and Consob announcement DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006. The figures for the comparison 
period have also been reclassified according to IFRS. 
 
In accordance with IAS 1 and taking into account the joint document of Bank of Italy, Consob, ISVAP n. 2 
dated 6 February 2009, there have been provided, in the relevant sections of the Report on the consolidated 
financial statements, information about the macro-economic context, development plan and strengthening of  
the balance sheet. Therefore, the Directors, taking into account the exposed framework and initiatives put in 
place, consider reasonable the expectation that the Publisher can have adequate resources to continue its 
operations in the foreseeable future and, consequently, they have adopted the assumption that the company 
will continue to operate, for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2013.  
 
Declaration of compliance with International Accounting Standards  
 
The 2013 financial statements were drawn up in compliance with the International Accounting Standards 
(IAS) and the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and the respective interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Committee (IFRC) ratified by the European Commission in accordance with the procedure set forth in Art. 6 
of European Parliament and Council Regulation N° 1606/2002 of 19th July 2002, in force as of the reference 
date of the financial statements. 
The application of the IAS/IFRS was conducted also by referring to the “systematic picture for the 
preparation and presentation of the financial statements,” with particular regard for the fundamental principle 
which regards the prevalence of substance over form, as well as the concept of the relevance of the 
significant nature of information. 
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On an interpretative level, the documents on the application of the IFRS in Italy prepared by the Italian 
Accounting Body (OIC) were also taken into account 
 
Accounting principles and methods 
  
The evaluation criteria adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at December 31, 
2013 are consistent with the accounting standards adopted in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of 31 December 2012 except for what described in the following section "Accounting standards, 
amendments and interpretations effective from 1 January 2013." In particular, and with reference to the 
introduction of the amendment to IAS 19 "Employee Benefits", we proceeded to the actuarial valuation of 
these funds on December 31, 2013. The principle requires the actuarial gains / losses accrued at the end of 
the period are recognized in the comprehensive income and not in the income statement. 
In line with the requirements of the documents no. 2 dated  6 February 2009, n. 4 of 3 March 2010 issued 
jointly by the Bank of Italy, Consob, ISVAP, it should be noted that the financial statements of the Group 
Class is prepared under the assumption of business continuity. 
With reference to Consob note n. DEM/11070007 of August 5, 2011, it is to be noted that the Group does not 
has a portfolio of debt securities issued by central and local governments and government agencies and is not 
therefore exposed to risks from market fluctuations. 
There have been highlighted, both in the consolidated financial statements and in the separate financial 
statements, significant transactions with related parties and non-recurring items, as required by CONSOB 
resolution no. 15519 dated 27 July 2006. 
 
Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations in force on 1st January  2013  
 
The following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations, revised as part of the annual 
improvement process carried out by IASB, have come in force since January 1, 2013: 

• Amendment to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements  – This amendment was issued by the 
IASB in June 2011 and is applicable to financial statements for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 
and requires the pooling of items in the statement of comprehensive income into two categories 
depending on whether they can or can not subsequently be reclassified in the income statement. The 
adoption of this amendment did not have a material effect on the information provided in these 
consolidated financial statements.  

• Amendment to IAS 19 - Employee Benefits  – This amendment was issued by the IASB in June 2011 and 
is effective from 1 January 2013. Such amendment in addition to eliminating the option to defer the 
recognition of gains and losses, by using the corridor method, requires the recognition of expenses related 
to job performance and net financial expenses in the income statement, registration of actuarial gains and 
losses arising from the remeasurement of liabilities and assets in the statement of comprehensive income. 
In addition, the return on assets controlled by the level of benefits will be calculated on the basis of the 
discount rate liabilities and no longer as the expected return on assets. The amendment also requires 
additional information to be provided in the notes to the financial statements.  

• Amendments to IAS 12 - Income Taxes  – The amendment was issued by the IASB in December 2010 
and is applicable from 1 January 2013, it introduces the assumption to deferred tax assets that the 
underling asset will be entirely recovered through sale unless there is a clear evidence that recovery can 
occur with usage. The presumption will be applied to investment properties and assets recognized as plant 
and equipment or intangible assets recognized at fair value or revalued. As a result of these changes, the 
interpretation SIC 21 Income Taxes - Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets - will be repealed. 

• Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures -– The IASB in December 2011, has issued 
amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amendment requires information on the 
effect or potential effect of offsetting of financial assets and liabilities on the balance sheet.  
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The amendments shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and interim 
periods after that date. The information must be provided retrospectively. The adoption of this 
amendment did not have significant effects on the statements. 

• IFRS 13 - Fair value assessment – The standard, issued by the IASB in May 2011 is effective from 1 
January 2013. The standard defines fair value, it clarifies how it must be measured and introduces a 
common information to all items measured at fair value. The principle applies to all transactions or 
balances that another standard requires or permits the measurement at fair value, its adoption had no 
impact on the valuation of balance sheet items included in the these consolidated financial statements, but 
it required an integration of information with regard to the fair value at the reporting date, the valuation 
techniques and inputs used to develop those assessments.  

 

Consolidation criteria 
 
The consolidation is carried out using the global integration method for all the companies in which Class 
Editori Spa has a stake and exercises control. Control is presumed when the Group holds more than half the 
effective or potential voting rights that can be exercised at the Shareholders’Assembly on the date of the 
financial statements. 
 
Affiliated companies are those in which the Group exercises a significant influence, which is presumed when 
it holds more than 20% of the effective or potential voting rights that can be exercised at the Shareholders’ 
Assembly on the date of the financial statements. 
 
Subsidiary companies are consolidated as from the date on which the Group acquires control and are 
deconsolidated from the moment when this ceases. 

Subsidiary companies are included in the scope of consolidation by using the  global integration method The 
criteria adopted for application of this method include also the following points: 
 
a) The net book value of the equity holdings in subsidiary companies is offset against the net equity of the 
     subsidiary companies and the concomitant assumption of all the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries. 

Such elimination suggests that the value attributable to goodwill amounted to 8.98 million euro, while the 
value attributed directly to the publications amounted to 12.20 million euro. 
Given that in both cases these are long-term assets, no amortization is applied, but the appropriateness of 
the values is checked using an impairment test. The same led to, at the end of the year, to a 3.20 million 
euro depreciation of the goodwill on consolidation and to a € 0.21 million depreciation of value of the 
titles found in the consolidations, best described in the notes. The figures shown above are therefore 
quoted net of write-downs. 

 
b) Credit and debit postings of all operations between consolidated companies, as well as profits and losses 
      arising from commercial or financial operations between group companies, are eliminated. 
 
c) The shares of net equity and of profit pertaining to third party shareholders of the consolidated companies 
      are shown separately under special headings of the balance sheet, while the share of the net result of the 
      financial year pertaining to the outside shareholders of these companies is stated separately in the 
      consolidated income statement. 
 
The equity holdings in subsidiary companies are recorded using the net equity method, meaning by 
measuring the share pertaining to the Group in the result and the net equity of the subsidiary. Profits and 
losses relating to infra-group operations are omitted for the interest share. 
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If the share pertaining to the Group in the losses of a subsidiary company exceeds the value of the equity 
holding, the Group does not recognize further losses unless it has taken on an obligation to do so 
 
All the financial statements of the Group companies are prepared on the same date and refer to periods of 
equal duration. 
 
 
The exchange rates used for conversion of balance sheets not expressed in euros are as follows 
 
 Exchange rate on  Average exchange rate 
 31/12/2012 31/12/2013   2012 2013 
      
 US Dollar 1,3194 1,3791  1,28479 1,32812 
      
 
 
Statement of reconciliation between net equity and pre-tax profit shown in the balance sheet of Class 
Editori Spa and those shown in the consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Reconciliation between net equity at 31 December 2013 and the profit of the period ending on that date, 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements and those of Class Editori Spa, is the following 
 
 
€uro/000 Net Equity Financial Result 
   
Class Editori Spa consolidated financial statements  46.319 (23.719) 
   
Elimination of consolidation and adjustments 
Positive (negative): 

  

a) adjustment of carrying values to the relative net equity values:  
            

 
 

(26.509) 

 
 

4.352 
   
b) assets that emerged during consolidation 21.177 (3.415) 
   
c) elimination of infra-group dividends -- -- 
 ___________ ____________ 
   
Consolidated financial statements  40.987 (22.782) 
 ___________ ____________ 

Evaluation criteria 
 
The following are the principal accounting policies applied to the preparation of the situations included in the 
consolidation. 
 
INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 
The editorial publications represent a long-term intangible asset, for which there is no depreciation but a test 
is carried out at least once a year, with the aim of checking the appropriateness of the registered values 
(so-called impairment test). 
 
The radio broadcasting frequencies have recently been characterized by a particularly active market, with 
identification of the prices of the related transitions. 
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As permitted by IFRS 1, the Class Editori Group has exercised its right to use as replacement of the cost, the 
fair value of the frequencies at the transition date. 
Following first application of IAS / IFRS, these assets are considered as long-term, and consequently are not 
amortized but tested for impairment at each reporting date. 
 
With regard to goodwill and consolidation differences, the application of international accounting standards 
requires that these items no longer be amortized, but they have to be subject to impairment testing at least 
once a year, to verify the appropriateness of the values and the existence of possible value losses 
(impairment test). 
 
The other intangible assets, in accordance with the provisions of IAS 38 are stated at acquisition cost, 
including incidental expenses, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the residual useful life of the 
asset which is in relation to its useful life. 
 
In particular the following depreciation periods have been used: 
 
- Patents                 5 years 
- Software                  5 years 
 
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 
Buildings, plant and machinery 
These are registered at purchase cost including accessory charges and direct costs. The costs of maintenance 
that preserves the effectiveness of the asset are charged to the income statement in the period when they are 
incurred. Maintenance costs that meet the capitalization requirements set by IAS 16 are entered under 
tangible fixed assets. The cost of the non-current assets is systematically amortized in each financial year. 
 
This is done in constant shares on the basis of the maximum fiscally permitted rates considered appropriate 
for apportioning the cost 
according to the estimated residual life. The rates applied are as follows: 
 
Equipment  25% 
Ordinary furniture and machinery 12% 
Electronic equipment 20% 
Vehicles 25% 
Generic facilities 10% 
Expenses for the adjustment of facilities 20% 

          Improvements on third party facilities  constant rates in proportion to the duration of the 
  contract 
           Costs and expenses relative to leased goods  constant quotas in proportion to the duration of the 
  contract or, if lower, to the useful life of the asset  

 
Leased assets 

The leases entered into by the Group involve transferring all risks and benefits arising from ownership-
related issues, and are  therefore classified as financial. 
Assets held under finance leases are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at their current value of the 
property resulting from the contract or, if lower, the present value of the contractual payments, the 
simultaneous recognition among liabilities of the corresponding financial payable to the leasing companies. 
The assets are amortized in a manner consistent with other tangible assets. 
The Interest payments are charged to the income statement over the term of the contract.. 
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Real estate investments  

The properties are recognized at cost of acquisition or production cost net of accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. This includes costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the condition 
necessary for the operation based on business needs. The maintenance costs are recognized in the income 
statement. The costs incurred after acquisition are capitalized only if they can be measured in a reliable way 
and if it increases the future economic benefits of the assets to which they relate; All other costs are 
recognized in the income statement. 
The depreciation method, with a straight-line basis, is carried out during the estimated useful life of the 
building, which ranges from 30 to 50 years.  
Given the unlimited useful life of the land, this is not depreciated; because of this, lands and properties are 
booked separately even if jointly purchased. 
 
As required under IAS 36, at least once a year there is a check to be carried out on any lasting losses of value 
of the asset, recording the amount by which book value exceeds recoverable value as a loss. 
 
INVENTORY 
 
Raw materials, supplies and finished products are recorded at the lower between cost of purchase or 
production and net realizable value based on market trends, applying the FIFO method. 
In accordance with IAS 18, the cost reflects the fair value of the price paid or any other consideration 
received. 
 
RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS 
 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative assets with fixed or determinable payments and are not quoted in 
an active market. Assets held for trading, designated at their fair value to the income statement or designated 
as available for sale, are not classified as such. 
Receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
If there is objective evidence that there has been an impairment loss of value, a reduction of the carrying 
value of recognizing the loss directly in the income statement. 
 
All financial assets are initially recognized at fair value including transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition. 
 
For non-interest bearing loans and for those outside market conditions, the fair value is estimated at the 
present value of all future cash receipts discounted using the prevailing market rate for a similar instrument. 
 
The Group verifies at least at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that financial assets 
have suffered an impairment loss. 
Any loss, calculated as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate, is recognized in the income statement. If in 
future years the amount of the loss decreases, we proceed reverse to the income statement of the impairment 
loss previously recognized value. Anyway, the new book value does not exceed the amortized cost that 
would have been if the impairment loss had never been detected. 
 
EQUITY INVESTMENTS  
 
The other shareholdings include holdings in companies other than subsidiaries and affiliates, which, in 
accordance with IAS 39, are classified as "available for sale" and measured at each reporting date at fair 
value. The changes in fair value are recognized in equity. 
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If for the participation there is no active market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques that 
include the use of recent transactions, discounted cash flow analysis or models capable of providing reliable 
estimates of prices obtained in actual market transactions. 
 
Equity investments that do not have a quoted price in an active market and whose fair value can not be 
reliably measured, are measured at cost adjusted for any impairment losses. 
 
If there is objective evidence that there has been an impairment loss, such impairment loss is recognized in 
the income statement. This loss includes any impairment that, previously, was deducted from shareholders' 
equity. 
 
 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH INCOME STATEMENT  
 
This category includes assessment of securities and investments acquired mainly for the purpose of short-
term trading or held for sale, which are classified as current assets under "securities held for trading",  the 
financial assets at the time of initial recognition are designated as at fair value through profit or loss, 
classified as "other financial assets" and derivatives (except those designated as effective hedging 
instruments), classified under "financial derivatives." They are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
 
Transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. 
Purchases and sales of these financial assets are accounted for at settlement date. 
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 
These include ready-cash securities, meaning those securities that can be cashed on demand or very quickly, 
that are definitely payable, and that are free from encashment fees 
 
DEBTS, LIABILITIES AND OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 
Under IAS 39, debts, liabilities and other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
 
PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 
 
Provisions for risks and charges relate to obligations, legal or constructive, to a third party for which it is 
probable that there will be an outflow of resources of the Group and for which a reliable estimate of the 
amount of the obligation can be made 
 
Changes in estimates are recognized in the income statement in the period in which the change occurred. 
 
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SEVERANCE PAY 
 
The severance indemnity covers the amounts payable in relation to the commitments accrued at the balance 
sheet date, in favor of employees, in accordance with the laws and labor contracts. 
 
According to IAS / IFRS, the Indemnity is a "defined benefit plan" subject to actuarial valuations linked to 
estimates (such as mortality and expected salary changes)  designated to express the present value of the 
benefit, to be paid on termination of employment, that employees have accrued at the balance sheet date. 
 
The severance benefits are determined by applying an actuarial method, based on demographic assumptions, 
the discount rate that reflects the time value of money over time, the rate of inflation and, regarding the 
severance pay, the current level of salary and wage future, as required by IAS 19. 
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ENTRY OF REVENUES, PROCEEDS, COSTS AND CHARGES 
 
Revenues are recognized at the fair value of the consideration received, net of returns, discounts, allowances 
and rebates and taxes directly associated with the sale of products. 
Revenues from services are recognized based on the percentage of completion of the service. 
The Financial revenues are recognized on an accrual basis. 
Expenses are recognized on the basis of revenue recognition. 
 
INCOME TAXES 
 
The current income taxes are recorded for each company, on the basis of estimated taxable income according 
to the tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, taking into account the 
applicable exemptions and tax credits. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding amounts recognized for tax 
purposes, based on the rates in effect at the time when the temporary differences reverse. When the results 
are recorded directly to net equity, current taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities for deferred tax is also 
recognized to net equity. 

The assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities based on much they relate to the income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 
the Group intends to settle its current assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
Dividends are recorded in the accounting period in which the distribution is decided.. 
 
Changes of accounting principles, errors and changes of estimates 

A change in the accounting estimates is defined by IAS 8 as an adjustment of the book value of an asset or 
liability, or of the amount representing the periodic consumption of an asset, derived from a valuation of the 
current situation and of the expected future benefits and obligations of the assets and liabilities. Changes in 
accounting estimates therefore arise from new information and developments and not from correction of 
errors. The correction of errors of previous financial years arises when there are omissions or erroneous 
representations in the financial statements of one or more previous periods arising from non-use or incorrect 
use of reliable information that:  
- were available when the financial statements of those financial years were approved; 
- should reasonably have been obtained and used in the preparation and publication of the relative     

 financial statements. 
 
The effect of change in accounting estimates in accordance with IAS 8, is recognized in the income 
statement prospectively from the year in which they are adopted. 
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Scope of consolidation 
 
Consolidation on a line-by-line basis 

The following subsidiaries of Class Editori Spa, besides Class Editori Spa itself, have been consolidated 
using the global line-by-line consolidation method: 
 
 percentage of 

ownership 
 

   
- Milano Finanza Editori Spa 
               and subsidiaries: 

84,327 % 

               - Milano Finanza Servizi Editoriali Srl 99,00     % 
               - MF Editori Srl 100,00 % 

- Lombard Editori Srl 50,10 % 
- Class Digital Service Srl 
               and subsidiaries: 

68,75 % 

               - PMF News Editori Spa 100,00     % 
               - E-Class Spa 100,00 % 

- Campus Editori Srl 70,00 % 
- Milano Finanza Service Srl 75,01 % 
- Edis Srl 99,50 % 
- MF Conference Srl 51,00 % 
- DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl 94,73 % 
- EX.CO Srl 100,00 % 
- Class Editori Service Srl 100,00 % 
- Class TV Service Srl 100,00 % 
- Classpi Spa 51,00 % 
- Global Finance Media Inc. 73,52 % 
- Class CNBC Spa (1) 2,73 % 
- CFN/CNBC B.V. 68,43 % 
- Radio Classica Srl 99,00 % 
- MF Dow Jones Srl (2) 50,00 % 
- Telesia Spa 
               and subsidiaries: 
               - Classpi Digital Srl (3)  

85,625 
 

77,00 

% 
 
% 

- Country Class Editori Srl 100,00 % 
- Fashion Work Business Club Srl 100,00 % 
- Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl 95,00 % 
- I Love Italia Srl 51,00 % 
- Class Meteo Services Srl 100,00 % 
- TV Moda Srl 51,00 % 
- Classint Advertising Srl 100,00 % 
- Class Servizi Televisivi Srl 100,00 % 
- New Satellite Radio Srl 100,00 % 

 
(1)  Consolidated using the line-by-line method as it is 63.34% controlled by CFN CNBC Holding B.V. 
(2)  Consolidated using the line-by-line method as Class Editori Spa has operational control  
(3)   The remaining 23% is directly owned by Class Editori Spa 
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Net equity method 

The following affiliates of Class Editori Spa have been consolidated using the net equity method: 
 
- Italia Oggi Editori - Erinne Srl 
   and its subsidiaries  

48,90 % 

   
   - Class Horse TV Srl 30,00 % 

 
 
During the period have taken place the following events relating to investments in subsidiaries and 
associates: 
 
- the conclusion, on 20 March 2013, of the sale to Intesa Sanpaolo, at the price of €5 million, of 31.25% 

of Class Digital Service, the new company in which were concentrated activities of the publishing house 
in the field of digital distribution of data and financial information, namely E-Class Spa and PMF News 
Spa. The amount was fully embedded into the same date; 

 
- On April 24, 2013 Class Editori has purchased from Euroclass Multimedia Holding SA at a price of € 

525,000, an additional share of Telesia SpA, increasing its shareholding from 80,625% to 85,625%; 
 
- Again on April 24, 2013 Class purchased from Agora Finance, 14,031 shares of Milano Finanza Editori 

SpA at a price of € 2,100,000, bringing its share in the company from 81,827% to 84,327%. The 
payment has been done with the compensation of the payables towards Agora Finance for € 2,020,000, 
and with cash settlement for the difference; 

 
- On 29 May 2013 was signed a private contract for the purchase of 33 % of the shares of Class 

Pubblicità, at the price of EUR 5.1 million, bringing its shareholding from 18% to 51%.  It should be 
noted that, for the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, the results of the income 
statement of the company were, in compliance with international accounting standards, recognized only 
for the period of ownership, ie for the last 7 months of the year. To represent, however, the comparison 
with the same period of the previous year in a more clear and homogeneous way, given the fact that the 
entire advertising of Classpi is attributable to the Class Group by virtue of the concession agreements in 
force, the advertising revenues of the year, and the related costs, were treated as if they were entirely the 
responsibility of the publishing house, and this without affecting the consolidated net profit for the 
period, thus providing an accurate representation of revenues and costs of the advertising industry; 

 
- in August, the publishing house has acquired full control of the company New Satellite Radio Srl for an 

amount of EUR 50 thousand offset by a receivable from the company itself. 
 

It was excluded from the consolidation Agefi-Class SA because inactive. 

Was also excluded from consolidation and therefore valued at cost, the company I Love Italy Srl because in 
start-up phase. 
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DETAILED STATEMENT AND EXPLANATORY NOTES 
 
 
ASSETS 
 
 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
 Intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 
  
The composition of these intangible fixed assets can be summarized as follows 
 
€uro/000 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 

Editorial publications 18.445 20.344 

Frequencies 9.600 9.600 

Goodwill 7.472 11.924 

Total intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 35.517 41.868 
 
The transfer of intangible fixed assets to long-term status is reported below: 
 

Editorial publications  
 
€uro/000  

Balance on 31/12/12 18.445 

Increases during the year 2.094 

Financial year decreases -- 

Exchange differences 13 

Depreciation for financial year (208) 

Balance on  31/12/13 20.344 

 
 
The increase is related to the recognition of the higher value paid during the period for the purchase of 
additional shares by the company Class Editori Milano Finanza Editori, accounting for 2.5% of the share 
capital. 

The exchange differences concern the value of the publication posted to the balance sheet of the American 
subsidiary, Global Finance Inc 

As a result of the impairment tests carried out by the management at the end of the period, write-downs were 
made in two newspapers reported during consolidation, as illustrated in the table below. 
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Details of the publications owned and changes compared to the previous year are described in the table 
below: 
 
€uro/000 Initial value Decreases 

and write 
-downs 

Exchange 
rate 

differences 

Increases Net value 

1. Value of publications at time of 
consolidation:      

Milano Finanza 4.788   2.094 6.882 
Campus 60    60 
DP Analisi 84    84 
MF 3.165    3.165 
Fashion Work Business Club 126 (126)   -- 
Assinform 1.374    1.374 
TV Moda 716 (82)   634 

Total 10.313 (208) -- 2.094 12.199 

2. Value of publications recorded by:      

Global Finance 814  13  827 
Class (Nistri Listri) 122    122 
MF Interactive TV (In Aereo) 95    95 
CFN CNBC B.V. 7.097    7.097 
TV Moda 4    4 

Total 8.132 -- 13 -- 8.145 

Total editorial publications 18.445 (208) 13 2.094 20. 344 
 
 
 
Frequencies  
 
€uro/000 Amounts 

Balance on 31/12/12 9.600 

Increases during the year -- 

Financial year decreases -- 

Depreciation and amortization for financial year -- 

Balance on 31/12/13 9.600 

 
This is the value of the radio frequencies owned by the subsidiary Radio Classica Srl. 
No changes in the composition of this balance-sheet item were recorded in the year. 
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Goodwill  
 
The composition of the value attributed to goodwill, with reference to the individual companies in which the 
group has a share, expressed in thousands of Euros, is as follows: 
€uro/000 Initial 

value 
Decreases 
and write 

-downs 

Change in 
scope of 

consolidation 

Increases Net value 

Goodwill at time of consolidation:      
Classpi Class Pubblicità Spa 295 (295)  7.293 7.293 
EX.CO. Srl 72    72 
E – Class Spa 385    385 
Telesia Spa 737   366 1.103 
Country Class Srl 3.037 (2.912)   125 
      

Total consolidation goodwill 4.526 (3.207) -- 7.659 8.978 

2. Goodwill value recorded by:      

Country Class Srl 2.946 -- -- -- 2.946 
      

Total goodwill recorded 2.946 -- -- -- 2.946 

Total goodwill 7.472 (3.207) -- 7.659 11.924 
 
The increases are related to the recognition of the higher value paid during the period for the purchase of 
additional shares by the company Class Editori in the companies Classpi Pubblicità (acquired additional 33% 
of the share capital and achieved operational control) and Telesia (acquired further 5% of the share capital). 
 
The impairment tests carried out at the end of the year led to the impairment of goodwill related to the 
consolidation of companies Class Pubblicità and Country Class, as described in the section on impairment. 

 
Impairment testing procedures  carried out by the publishing house, and the results of the activity. 

 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the 
publishing house include three categories: publications, goodwill and radio frequencies. 
 
For the evaluation of radio frequencies, it was taken as the reference value the recoverable market value 
(fair value), using a special expert assessment. In the case of goodwill and publications was instead used as 
reference the value of the asset. 

 
Impairment of assets 

 
IAS 36 requires to assess the existence of losses in value (impairment test) of tangible fixed assets, 
intangible assets and investments in the presence of indicators that can suggest that this problem may exist. 
In the case of goodwill, other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and of investments, such 
assessment is made at least once a year. 
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The recoverable amount of the asset is assessed by comparing the book value amount with the higher, 
between the price obtainable from the sale, if an active market exists, and the value in use of the asset. 
 
The evaluation process of estimating the fair value is summarized as follows: 
 
• identification of the activity object of measurement;  
• determination of the configuration value that is considered appropriate for the measurement;  
• identification of the principal market (or most advantageous) for the activity to be evaluated;  
• definition of the appropriate valuation technique for the chosen measurement between the market 

approach, the income approach and the cost approach; 
• classification of fair value as determined in the three hierarchies contained in IFRS 13, meaning: 

 
- LEVEL 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets of reference; 
- LEVEL 2: assessments made on the basis of inputs, other than the quoted prices included within 

Level 1, that for the activities being assessed are observable either directly or indirectly, with 
the indication of the sources from which the parameters used are derived;. 

- LEVEL 3: inputs not based on observable market data, which reflect estimates of management 
on the hypothesis that "market participants" would use in determining the price of the asset 
being measured, describing every assumption made, indicating whether the adopted values 
reflect past experience if they are consistent with external sources of information, or, if not, how 
and why they differ; 

 
• quantification of potential disposal costs to be deducted at fair value. 
 
In the case of radio frequencies goods being valued are represented by a task group consisting of the 
concessionary title (Ministerial Concession), from technical installations and the "right to use" for the 
financial system of broadcasting. 
 
The value of the fair value was determined by an independent expert in the field, who used as a 
measurement technique that of the market approach with a hierarchy of level 2. 
 
The assessments carried out by the expert are based on inputs other than the quoted prices, but directly 
observable in an active market for these reference values. 
In determining the qualitative assessment of radio equipment, the expert has identified all of the valuation 
parameters attributable to the asset being valued and has assigned to each of them a score derived from a 
qualitative evaluation, carried out on the basis of a scale of values generally used and recognized by the 
economic operators in the sector. The scale values thus constructed has been combined with a monetary 
weight, through the definition of a dimensional correction coefficient that allows you to transform into 
economic value the result of the qualitative assessment arising from trading activities for the sale of 
broadcasting facilities. This coefficient is essentially a unit of measurement similar to the price per square 
meter used as a size unit in the sale of real estate. 
  
Estimate of the value in use 

 

The value in use is the present value of cash flows expected from the asset, or from an aggregation of 
assets (cash-generating unit, or CGU), and the value expected from its disposal at the end of its useful life. 
The cash generating units have been identified in line with the organizational structure and the Group's 
business, such as units that generate independent cash flows, through the continued use of the assets 
attributable to them. 
 
During the course of the year 2013 in the consolidated financial report as at 30 June 2013, despite the 
economic performance of some of the CGU not in line with the expectations of the beginning of the year, it 
was not deemed necessary to carry out impairment tests on indefinite life assets, because at the date of 
approval of this report there was an ongoing process to redefine the strategic development of the group and 
its activities, from which would have occurred the opportunity or not to make write-downs of assets. The 
analysis therefore had to be postponed in the final budget for the year 2013. 
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The value in use determined in the impairment test is developed according to the requirements of IAS 36. 
This test calculates the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit which fall under the intangible 
assets subject to verification by the discounted cash flows expected from the cash generating unit, applying 
a discount rate to them that reflects the specific risks. The economic value of the invested capital thus 
obtained (enterprise value) was adjusted for the Net Financial Position (NFP) at the reference date of the 
evaluation, and of eventual non-operating assets (surplus asset), thus obtaining the equity value to be 
compared with the carrying amount recognized in the financial statements 
 
The criteria for the determination of the CGU 
As in previous years, the CGUs have been identified by distinguishing the areas of membership of the lines 
of business and in particular: newspapers area, periodicals area, events area, digital area (TV, Radio, 
business information), advertising area, residual areas. 
 
The following main criteria have been used in the definition of C.G.U.: 

∗ the homogeneity of the products and/or services provided by the company and/or the type of customer; 

∗ the real possibility given to each activity, to be eventually sold separately and could therefore constitute 

a CGU autonomous, rather than the need to unite it to another activity, to obtain the yield envisaged; 

∗ the damage that would cause the closure of an activity with respect to another related to it.  

These entities coincide in some cases with one or more companies in which the legal assets with 
indefinite lives are allocated to, in other cases they are only part of it. 

 
They are: 

NEWSPAPER AREA: 
MF / Milano Finanza / Mf fashion (Newspaper Finance) 
 
MAGAZINE AREA: 
Assinform (Insurance publisher) 
Global Finance (International finance magazine) 
Patrimoni and Lombard (Italy finance magazine) 
Class (Male magazine) 
Capital (Male magazine) 
Gentleman (Male magazine) 
Ladies (Female magazine) 
Case & Country (Magazine of furniture and country living) 
MFF & MFL (Magazine for Fashion and Magazine for Living) 
Eccellenza Italia (Magazine for the Chinese market) 
 
EVENTS AREA: 
Campus (Student Exhibition) 
MF Conference (Finance & Business and fashion conferences) 
 
DIGITAL AREA:  
Class Cnbc (TV on finance) 
Class TV e Class Life (TV on general information, news and lifestyle) 
Class TV Moda (fashion ) 
Telesia (TV for subways, highway stops and airports ) 
Corporate TV (TV inside banks and companies) 
E-class (Digital business information)  * 
MF Dow Jones news (Financial press agency) 
Websites and Tablet and Smartphone applications  
Radio frequencies 
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ADVERTISMENT AREA:  
Classpi (concessionaire advertising). 
 
RESIDUAL AREA: 
Analitica (Assessment of Companies) 
Fashion Work (staff research in the fashion industry) 
Tagliamare  (illustrated books of the “Portolano”) 
In Aereo 

 
∗ Compared to the previous year the CGU E-Class has been changed : until 2012 this was substantially 

coincident with the legal company E-class spa. Following the sale of 31.25% of Class Digital 
Service Srl, where they were conferred and concentrated the activities of the publishing house in the 
field of digital dissemination of data and financial information, belonging to the E-class and PMF, 
these two companies, along with in Class Digital Service, are actually those deemed most 
representative of the CGU as described above. 
 

Of course, only some of these CGU described above are relevant for the purposes of impairment testing, as 
the values for the titles or goodwill are recognized separately in the balance sheet. 

 
 

Main evaluation choices in the application of accounting principles and sources of uncertainty in the 
estimates 

 
Main factors of uncertainty in the estimations 

 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and notes has required the use of estimates and 
assumptions both in the determination of certain assets and liabilities, and the valuation of assets and 
liabilities. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other relevant 
factors. 
 
Given the current macroeconomic environment, yet destabilized by the effects of the financial crisis that 
began in late 2008, estimates were made based on assumptions concerning the future, however, characterized 
by a certain degree of uncertainty. 

 
To determine whether there is impairment in assets with indefinite lives it was necessary to submit them to 
an impairment test. The main uncertainties that could affect the estimates relate to the discount rate 
(WACC), the growth rate (g), the assumptions made in the development of expected cash flows. 
In particular, the forecast data used is based on assumptions about future events and management actions 
are characterized by elements of estimation and uncertainty that may involve the risk that the expected 
events do not occur or occur just to an extent and at different times from those assumed, or might occur, by 
contrast, events not foreseeable at the time when the assessment was made. 

  
The following table summarizes the significant assumptions used by management in the most critical 
estimate method, which concerns the determination of the recoverable value of non-current assets, 
including goodwill. 

 
Main assumptions in determining the recoverable amount of intangible assets with an indefinite life 

  
These assets are evaluated whenever there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. Goodwill related to the cash-generating units are evaluated at least once a year even in the absence of 
impairment indicators. 
 
The impairment test performed as of December 31, 2013, acknowledging the worsening macroeconomic 
environment, highlighted recoverable values higher than the carrying values in excess for about 66 million 
after title write-downs of € 3.4 million. 
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Throughout the year 2013, the management has controlled the emergence of any indicators of impairment 
of goodwill of the cash-generating unit. In particular, it analyzed the trends of the actual data for the year 
2013 compared to the corresponding forecast data used in the impairment test as of December 31, 2012 and 
analyzed the trend in interest rates in order to assess the impact on the estimate of the discount rate 
(WACC) to be applied to the expected cash flows. 
In developing its assessment the management has paid particular attention to the estimation of the values in 
use, not deeming that the stock market capitalization of the parent company could represent the value of 
the company, in view of the instability of the market and the low volumes processed. 
 
This is confirmed by the fact that the sale of one of the associated companies of the CGU E-class,had as its 
baseline, a value of the CGU total of around 15 million euro, compared with a market capitalization of that 
for the entire group was equal at the end of the year to around 20 million Euros. 

 
The recoverable amount of the goodwill impairment test as defined by each, is still sensitive to changes in 
assumptions, such as the rate of growth in advertising revenues and, between the valuation parameters, the 
discount rate (WACC) and the consistency of financial projections over the plan period (growth rate g). 
The WACC is in turn sensitive to the variations of its components, including the risk-free that synthesizes 
the country risk. 

 
In order to appreciate the impact that subtle changes in the assumptions can have on the recovery values 
calculated, please refer to the sensitivity analysis shown below. This sensitivity analysis is an integral part 
of the evaluation.  

 
The cash flows of the CGUs are in most cases a derivation of the overall development plan for 2013-2018 
approved by the Board of Directors of the Publisher on January 9th, 2014. Exceptions are some cash-
generating units whose affiliate companies, by means of special Board, have approved better plans than 
those included in the consolidated financial statements of the parent company (Global Finance, Telesia, 
Class CNBC). 
 
The prospective business plans and balance sheets of the CGUs that are the basis of the assessments, have 
been approved by the boards of directors of companies of reference, from which are derived the estimates 
of cash flows for the next three-year or five-year period.  
 
With reference to Telesia, it should be noted that the enhancement of the CGU is generally brought about 
from a growth forecast of cash flows generated by the TV-called "Outdoor" which benefit not only from of 
the installations in airports and subways, but also from the ongoing aggregation with the business on the  
surface public transport (tram and bus) in which the company intends to operate, and made possible by the 
significant investments planned in the reference area. 
 
Below are the main criteria used in the evaluation of impairment testing: 
 
- the explicit forecast period, in which are broken down the revenues and expected costs of the CGUs 

was generally determined in 5 years, except for a few cases (Classpi, Assinform), where the Board of 
Directors of the relevant corporate teams have agreed on a shorter period of 3 years; 

- beyond this period it has been identified for the projection of cash flows, an implicit period of 
indefinite duration. This choice is consistent with the assessment of the titles or the goodwill referring 
to them, whose life is actually an indefinite life, as historically detectable by the time in which such 
assets are born. 

- The cash flow used as the basis of the assessments is net of tax effects, and eventually reduced of the 
investment required to produce cash flows; In addition, for each CGU, a projection of the assets in the 
explicit period, then a budget sheet, with the corresponding adjustments of net working capital to be 
used in the test in order to get the free cash flow to be used; 

- it was determined on the basis of such forecast a "target" balance sheet  for each CGU, making 
hypotheses forecasts on trends in balance sheet items, including policies for the distribution of profits in 
cases where the flows could make it possible. The capital structure was taken as reference for the 
calculation of the average rate (WACC); 
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- the expected cash flows are based both on the historical results generated by the CGU, also considering 
the pre-crisis period (ie considering a recovery in the economy) and on assumptions and estimates of 
future development projects and business areas in which the Group is already operating and whose 
growth assumptions were projected in the Plan 2014-2018 in line with the other assumptions used in 
the projections of the economic data perspective of the Plan; 

- the growth rate of the terminal period (g) was generally considered to be equal to 0%. 
 

With reference to the choice of the discount rate used, the methodology used to determine the weighted 
average rate (WACC) for the actualization of the explicit and the implicit period was: 

 
- To estimate the cost of the risk-free return on capital, it is taken as reference the average of government 

bonds (BTP) issued in the ten-year period (March 2013 - February 2014) determining the average, 
equal to 4.24%: this seems prudent in view of the latest trend in interest rates on government bonds, 
which appear in sharp decline; 

- At the risk-free rate identified was added a risk premium, which for a mature equity market (source: 
Damodaran) was estimated in 5.0%, multiplied by a conversion factor beta, which (source: Bloomberg) 
for the period 2012-2013, specifically related to Class, was quantified in 0.94; the same parameter, for 
only 2013 was equal to 0.83 for Class Editori. It is therefore considered prudent choice to use a rate that 
takes into account a longer span of time, in view of the strong fluctuations of the market; 

- In some cases, where the management has considered the context of reference to be at a greater risk 
than those already reflected in the above parameters, the parameter beta was increased by another 
component, associated with the size of the CGU or to the greater conditions of uncertainty of its own 
specific target market; This change has led, for the interested CGUs, the beta coefficient to a range 
between 1.03% and, 1.47%; 

- To determine the cost of debt has been considered the actual cost of borrowed resources from third 
parties, net of the tax; 

 
The following are the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated and other intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives and the main assumptions used in conducting the test broken down by the cash-
generating units: 

 
 

The CGUs that have not passed the test of impairment are those (Capital, Fashion TV, Fashion Work, 
and Classpi) whose flow forecasts have worsened compared to last year, or for which the use of 
stricter parameters have determined values in use lower than the corresponding values of load. 
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The total value of the negative differences for which it was necessary an impairment amounted to 
3.4 million euro. 
 
The breakdown of the Group's cash-generating units and criteria for identification of the same, have 
not undergone substantial changes with respect to the financial statements as of 31 December 2012, 
except for what has been said about the E-Class. 
 
The main assumptions that the management has used for the calculation the value in use concern the 
discount rate (WACC), the growth rate (g), which was assumed always equal to 0, and the expected 
changes in selling prices and direct costs during the period used for the calculation. 
 
The discount rate used to discount the future cash flows expresses the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC), consisting of a weighted average of the financial structure of the following two elements: 

 
•  the cost of equity calculated as the return on risk-free assets (including country risk implicit in the 

reference market prices), added to the product obtained by multiplying the Beta with the risk premium 
of a virtuous country; 

 
•  the cost of financial debt, net of the tax effect 

 
 
The results obtained from the analysis of the company were compared with those of specific appraisals 
performed by an independent third party appraiser, and that basically confirmed the estimated values by the 
company. 
 
In particular, the parameters used by the independent assessments, where they were drafted, were as 
follows: 

 
The values obtained from external evaluations for impairment would have generated a total of € 3.2 
million, suggesting a more conservative estimate of the company. 
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The following is a summary of the principal results of the sensitivity analysis, showing the values of the 
CGU that would have occurred once the WACC and the g rate value of impairment changed and also those 
that would have been obtained in a theoretical relationship between own funds and of third parties in the 
proportion 50% / 50%. 
 
Mf / Milano Finanza: 

 
 
Classpi: 

 
 
Assinform: 
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Country Class –Capital: 

 
 
Tv Moda: 

 
 

 
Class Cnbc: 
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E-class – Finance: 

 
 
Telesia: 

 
 
Campus: 
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Global Finance: 

 
 

The sensitivity analysis is an integral part of the evaluation process inherent in the development of the 
impairment test and shows how the variation of key parameters such as the calculation of the WACC and 
(g) changes the value in use of the cash-generating unit and, consequently, the devaluation hypothesized. 
The value in use is also sensitive to the assumptions underlying the development of the plan for the explicit 
forecast period and in particular to the hypothesis of revenue growth over the digital business plan. 
 

Other intangible fixed assets  

The value of the other intangible fixed assets, amounting to 9.124 thousand euros, at 31st December 2013, 
saw the following movements in the financial year: 
 
€uro/000 Start-up 

and 
expansion 

costs 

Costs of 
R&D and 

advert. 

Patent 
rights 

Authorizations, 
licenses, 

trademarks 

Assets 
under 
constr. 

and part- 
payments 

Other non 
-current 

assets 

Total 

Historical cost -- -- 9.992 139 31 24.799 34.961 
Prior revaluations         
Prior devaluations         
Prior amortization  -- -- (9.968) (122) -- (18.662) (28.752) 

Initial balance -- -- 24 17 31 6.137 6.209 

Purchases for financial year -- -- 20 -- -- 4.944 4.964 
Change in consolidation area      22 22 
Re-classifications 
(-)        

Re-classifications 
(+)      14 14 

Disposals for financial year        
Write-ups for financial year        
Write-downs for financial 
year        

Exchange rate differences        
Depreciation and 
amortization during the year -- -- (4) (1) -- (2.080) (2.085) 

Total -- -- 40 16 31 9.037 9.124 
Movements pursuant to2426, 
nr. 3        

Tot. other intag. assets -- -- 40 16 31 9.037 9.124 
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The increase in the value of other fixed assets is mainly due to the software investments performed by 
E-Class and PFM News. 
 
Tangible fixed assets 
 
The value of tangible fixed assets at 31st December 2013 amounted to 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Land and buildings  313 308 
Plant and equipment  2.878 2.452 
Industrial and commercial equipment  -- -- 
Other assets  2.040 2.205 
Assets under construction  13 -- 

Total 5.244 4.965 
 
Tangible fixed assets show the following changes: 
 
€uro/000  

Balance at 31/12/2012 5.244 

Change in scope of consolidation 449 
Increases during the year 855 
Financial year decreases (27) 
Re-classifications (13) 
Depreciation and amortization for financial year (1.543) 

Balance at 31/12/2013 4.965 
 
The details and relative movements compared with the previous period are shown in the following table: 
 
€uro/000 

Land and 
buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Industrial and 
commercial 
equipment 

Other assets 
Assets 
under 

construction 
Total 

Historical cost 364 22.711 1.641 17.185 13 41.914 
Prior revaluations       
Prior devaluations       
Prior amortization (51) (19.833) (1.641) (15.145) -- (36.670) 

Initial balance 313 2.877 -- 2.040 13 5.244 

Purchases for financial year  178 - 677  855 
Change in consolidation area  11  438  449 
Re-classifications (-)     (13) (13) 
Re-classifications (+)       
Disposals for financial year     (27)  (27) 
Write-ups for financial year       
Write-downs for financial year       
Exchange rate differences       
Depreciation during the year (5) (614) -- (924) -- (1.543) 

Total 308 2.452 -- 2.205 -- 4.965 

Movements pursuant to art. 2426, nr. 3       

Tot. Tangible fixed assets 308 2.452 -- 2.205 -- 4.965 
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Equity investments valued at net equity  
 
This item refers to the value of investments in associated companies and amounts to EUR 4.44 million 
against 4.48 million euro at 31 December 2012. There were no movements in the composition of investments 
in associates during the period. The decrease in value is due to the depreciation of the investments in Class 
Horse TV, Italia Oggi Editori Erinne Srl and Class Roma Srl, consequent to the results for the year ended 31 
December 2013. At the beginning of the period it was also increased the value of the investment in the 
associated Class Horse TV as a result of a waiver of a financial loan made to recapitalize the company. 
 
Details of the changes during the period are provided in the following table: 
 
€uro/000 

Balance on 
31/12/12 Increases Disposals / 

Reclassif. 

Write-ups 
/(Write-
downs) 

Consolid. 
changes. 

Balance on 
31/12/13 

Italia Oggi Editori Erinne Srl 4.114   (5)  4.109 

Editorial Class S.A. 14     14 

Class Roma Srl 50   (38)  12 

Borsa 7 Editori Srl --     -- 

Emprimer Spa 5     5 

Romaintv Spa in liquidazione --     -- 

Class Horse TV Srl -- 42  (42)  -- 

Up Cube Srl 300     300 

Total 4.483 42 -- (85) -- 4.440 
 
Other equity investments 

 
€uro/000 Balance on 

31/12/12 Increases Disposals/ 
Write-downs Re-classifications Balance on 

31/12/13 
      
Analitica --    -- 
Il Manifesto 10    10 
Proxitalia 5    5 
Agefi Group --    -- 
E-finance --    -- 
Cons Vinco --    -- 
Co.Na.It --    -- 
Borfin --    -- 
Entropic Synergies 300    300 
Class Pubblicità 2.489 5.105  (7.594) -- 
Banca Popolare di Vicenza 406 42   448 

Total 3.210 5.147  (7.594) 763 
 
The participation in Class Pubblicità has been reclassified in the investments in subsidiaries following the 
acquisition of additional actions that led Class Editori to hold 51% of the share capital. During the period, 
there were also purchased additional shares in Banca Popolare di Vicenza. 
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Non-current trade receivables 

The amount reported in the balance sheet amounting to EUR 16.178 million, is entirely relative to the portion 
receivable after one year of commercial credit, discounted, generated from the sale of software developed by 
the subsidiaries E-Class and PMF, which took place during the year 2011, whose the credit was sold to the 
parent company Class Editori in 2012. According to the provisions of IFRS, the nominal value of the loans 
was subject to discounting with its inclusion of a provision of € 2.414 million Euros. 

 

Deferred tax assets recevables 
 
The amount of deferred tax assets is equal to 5,13 million euros (on 31 December 2013) compared to a value 
of 4.46 million euro in 31 December 2012 . The increase compared to the previous year is generated in part 
from the entrance in the consolidation of the company Classpi, and partly from negative taxable IRES 
accrued by certain companies of the Group during the year. 
It should be noted that this item included in 2012 budget among the current tax credits, was reclassified as 
non-current receivables in the consolidated annual financial statements. 
A detailed analysis of the composition of this is provided in the detail table appearing in paragraph 30) 
(taxes) of these notes to the financial statements. 
 
Other receivables  
 
The amount of other non-current receivables is equal to 3,00 million euros in 31 December 2013 compared 
to a value, on 31 December 2012, of 2,97 million euros.. 
 
These primarily relate to deposits paid for the subscription of leases of real estate. These include a security 
deposit of € 2 million to be paid by Class Editori Spa to Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa during the la 
restructuring phase of CIA Group of of the property located in Milan, in Corso Italia corner Via Burigozzo, 
intended for a part, to be used as offices for the benefit of the publishing house. Its lease was signed between 
company Class Editori and Diana Bis Srl, controlled by CIA Spa, with effect from 1 July 2012. 
 
 
CURRENT ASSETS 
 
Inventory 
 
They total overall 2,70 million euros versus 1,70 million euros of the previous year. The method adopted for 
valuation of paper is FIFO, while for photographic services, finished products and goods awaiting sale the 
purchase cost is used. This is however equal to or less than the market price. 
The inventory item is made up as follows 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Paper 507 197 

Editorial material 98 107 

Raw materials, subsidiary materials and consumables 605 304 
   
Finished products and goods 1.090 2.197 

Work in progress 5 197 
   
Total warehouse inventory 1.700 2.698 

 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 72 

The increase in the value of inventories of finished goods, compared to the previous year is due to the 
inclusion in the scope of consolidation of Class Publicità, with the consequent recognition of the related 
inventories of finished goods purchased mainly in the context of foreign exchange transactions entered into 
commodity for the provision of advertising services. It is important to note that the value of the finished 
products as of 31 December 2013 is shown in the balance sheet of the warehouse write-down fund of 567 
000 euro, while the value of the stock editorial is net of the warehouse write-down fund of 80 thousand euro. 
The fund is allocated to adjust the carrying value to the fair value of the products in stock at the end of the 
period, with a provision in the year of 395 thousand euro. 

The item work in progress includes the amount of € 191 thousand relating to the advancement progress of 
the the company Roma Servizi per la Mobilità, conducted by the Telesia Spa, relating the contract signed on 
August 2, 2013 for the construction and management of video-communication, on the transports, with TPL 
Roma Capitale. 
 
Current trade receivables 

 
The total trade receivables increased from 62.34 million EUR of 31 December 2012 to 70,37 million euro on 
31 December 2013. 

The detail of trade receivables is as follows: 
€uro/000 

31/12/12 31/12/13 

Regular customers 22.803 45.738 

Invoices to be issued 3.162 2.888 

Portfolio bills 32 195 

Receivables from Advertising concessionaire 20.110 -- 

Distributors (Italia Oggi – Erinne) 8.511 10.096 

Receivables from affiliates 9.227 13.122 

Provision for bad debts (1.502) (1.670) 
   
Total trade receivables 62.343 70.369 

 
Loans to customers are mainly of a commercial nature related to advertising revenues from the subsidiary 
Classpi Spa, sub-agent for advertising collection of the Group. 
 
The increase in the extent of trade receivables is mainly due to the enlargement of the consolidation of the 
advertising concessionaire for the group, Class Pubblicità, whose trade receivables as of December 31, 2013 
amounted to approximately € 28.7 million. The inclusion in the scope in the society group has therefore 
contributed to the increase in trade receivables of approximately EUR 8.6 million compared to the situation 
of the previous year, which included trade receivables from companies to Class Pubblicità for a total of 20.1 
million euro. 

During the period there have been made considerable impairment of trade receivables generated by the 
particular economic situation and the increasing number of failures that have also affected the customers of 
the publishing house: the amount of loans written off during the year has been a total of 4.4 million Euros. 
Of these, 2.40 million Euros have been covered by the use of provisions for bad debts previously made. 

The increase in trade receivables compared to a decrease in turnover, indicates a lengthening of the average 
time of collection, with negative consequences on the financial position. 

It should be noted that, as required by the International Accounting Standards, the value of trade receivables 
takes into account the effect of the so-called time value, which led after the estimated time of collection to  
discounting them. The lower value of the consolidated receivables at December 31, 2013, generated by the 
actualization, is equal to 0.7 million euro. 
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Financial assets held for sale valued at fair value and posted to the income statement 
 

The value of these financial assets at 31 December 2013 is equal to zero, since the company had sold in the 
the period its participation of 31.25% of the share capital of Digital Class Service, classified on 31 December 
2012 as equity investments held for trading and valued at the sale price of EUR 5 million. The sale was 
completed on 20 March 2013. 

 
Financial receivables  
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Italia Oggi-Erinne C/A 3.920 6.808 

Class Roma C/A  154 103 

Financial receivables from other associates 544 180 

Financial receivables from Advertising concessionaire 13.542 -- 

Financial receivables from others 2.963 3.730 
   
Total financial receivables 21.123 10.821 

 
These are mainly receivables relating to current loan arrangements with affiliated companies and group 
companies CIA. Financial receivables from others also include a loan of EUR 913 000 to the company 
Ciemme Sistemi. The decrease compared to the previous year is due to the entry in the consolidation of the 
advertising Classpi, resulting in elimination of financial receivables from the same company as part of the 
consolidation. 
 
Tax receivables  
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Bank withholding tax 117 -- 

IRES receivables from tax consolidation  10.626 17.922 

IRES/IRAP tax payments 936 722 

Advance VAT payments 2.958 3.198 

Other receivables from tax authority 1.917 1.932 

Total tax receivables 16.554 23.774 

 
The increase in tax credits is essentially entirely due to tax losses accrued during the year with the 
consequent recognition of the related receivables. 
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Other receivables  

 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Sales commission advances 126 1.630 

Credit notes to be received from/advanced to suppliers 7.222 9.222 

Receivables due from employees 226 246 

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 6.099 4.579 

Receivables from other publishers 656 670 

Receivables from social security institutions   324 313 

Receivables from sales of investments   10.163 3.000 

Other receivables  257 100 

Total other receivables  25.073 19.760 

 
The increase in receivables from agents for provisional advances is due to the inclusion in the scope of 
consolidation of the advertising Classpi, owner of the network of agents dedicated to the sale of advertising 
for the group. 
The decrease in prepayments and accrued income, is partly due to the reversal of deferred actuarial expenses 
resulting from the amendment to IAS 19 relating to the evaluation of severance pay provision. As they can 
not account for the effects of income / expenses actuarial with the corridor method, deferred charges that on 
31 December 2012 amounted to € 1.046 million, were closed with a contra-equity. 
Prepaid expenses include the deferral of costs to future years generated by maxi-off charges on operating 
leases related to the use of software and licenses for electronic publishing. 

The reduction in receivables for the sale of investments is due, for 5.1 million euro, to the end of the credit 
for the sale of the shares of Class Spa Advertising, as a result of the repurchase of the investment. Still in the 
year, shares were purchased by Milano Finanza Spa, representing 2.5% of the capital. 
Prepaid expenses include deferral of the initial deposit paid in 2006 for a contract for the use of software 
originally held by the company Tenfore International Ltd and its brand, valued at € 1,458,333. 

 
 
Cash and cash equivalents  
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Bank deposits 15.811 11.793 

Postal accounts 100 97 

Cash and other effects on hand 42 53 

Total Liquid Funds 15.953 11.943 

 
The total net financial position and its primary components are shown below, in accordance with the format 
recommended by Consob. 
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Net total financial position 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

• Cash on hand 
 

a) Bank deposits 
b) Postal deposits 

• Other liquid funds  

42 
 

15.811 
100 

15.911 

53 
 

11.793 
97 

11.890 

• Liquid funds and other financial assets (A+B) 15.953 11.943 
• Securities held for trading 
 

c) Financial receivables from affiliated companies 
d) Derivative instruments and other financial assets 

• Receivables and other financial assets 

5.000 
 

4.618 
16.505 

21.123 

-- 
 

7.091 
3.730 

10.821 

• Current financial assets (D+E) 26.123 10.821 

• Current financial payables 
 

e) Mortgage 
f) Loans 

• Current quota of non-current debt 
 

g) Financial payables due to affiliated companies 
h) Derivative instruments and other financial assets 

• Other current financial payables 

 
26.633 

 
578 

55.945 
56.523 

 
318 

-- 
318 

 

 
26.764 

 
2.499 

51.250 
53.749 

 
1.183 

-- 
1.183 

 
a) Payables due to banks and other current financial liabilities (G+H+I) 83.474 81.696 

b) Net current financial position (C+F-L) (41.398) (58.932) 
 
i) Mortgage 
j) Loans 

c) Part of non-current debt 
 
d) Other non current financial payables 

 
1.276 

-- 
1.276 

 
-- 

 
6.671 

-- 
6.671 

 
-- 

e) Non-current financial debt (N+O) 1.276 6.671 

f) Net financial position (M-P) (42.674) (65.603) 
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
 
 
NET EQUITY 
 
 
Net equity movements  
 
€uro/000 Balance on 

31/12/12 
Result 

transfer 
Translation 
differences 

Change in IAS 
19 on employee 

severance 
indemnities 

Other 
movements 

Result of 
the 

period 

Balance 
on 

31/12/13 

Net equity:        
        
Of the group:        
Share capital 10.561      10.561 
Share premium reserve 31.329      31.329 
Revaluation reserve        

Legal reserve 2.544      2.544 
Own shares reserve (94)      (94) 
Reserves under the 
articles of association        

Consolidation reserves (4.366) 1.037 (28) (1.399) (1.513)  (6.269) 
Other 39.762 (13.981)  (83)   25.698 
Profit (loss) of the period (12.944) 12.944    (22.782) (22.782) 

Group net equity 66.792 -- (28) (1.482) (1.513) (22.782) 40.987 
        
Minority:        
Minority capital and 
reserves 5.001 (455) (10) (320) 1.569  5.785 

Minority profit (loss) (455) 455    1.095 1.095 
Minority net equity 4.546 -- (10) (320) 1.569 1.095 6.880 

Tot. Net Equity 71.338 -- (38) (1.802) 56 (21.687) 47.867 
          
The main changes in consolidated equity group are dictated, besides the recording of the results for the 
period to 31 December 2013 and the allocation of the result 2012, by the following factors: 
 
- changes in methods of accounting for the severance pay provision under the new IAS 19, in force since 

January 1, 2013 - 1.48 million euro. With reference to this post is to be noted that due to the change of 
IAS / IFRS 19, relating to the severance pay, which excludes the possibility of accounting for actuarial 
gains and losses using the corridor method, allowed until the end of 2012, on January 1, 2013 was 
recorded a negative OCI reserve (reserve included under IAS transition), for € 1.53 million for the 
reversal of the accrued income recorded at December 31, 2012 which amounted to € 1.22 million, and 
retained earnings of EUR 0.31 million to undo the negative effects of discounting on the income 
statement for the year 2012. The recognition of actuarial component on severance pay to 31 December 
2013 has also resulted in a further reduction of the OCI reserve of  0.26 million euro; 

- effect on shareholders' equity of the Group's sale of 31.25% of the shares of Class Digital Service, - 
EUR 1.34 million; 

- Impact on the consolidation of the acquisition of control of Class Pubblicità, - EUR 0.17 million; 
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- effect on shareholders' equity of the Group's waiver of financial receivables from Fashion TV - 0.25 
million euro. 

 
Shareholders' equity attributable to minority interests amounted to 6.88 million euro at December 31, 2013 
compared to 4.55 million euro at 31 December 2012. The increase is due to the combined effect of the 
factors described above as well as the positive result the year, particularly relating to the significant profits of 
the companies PMF News and E-Class for which, as mentioned, 31.25% of the shares is attributable to third 
parties. 
 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
Non-current financial payables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Loans received (M/L-term amounts) 1.276 6.671 

Payables to Leasing companies -- -- 

Total financial payables 1.276 6.671 

 
The increase in non-current financial payable is mainly due to the ignition of a loan with Banca Popolare 
Emilia Romagna by Class Editori to replace a line of credit of the same amount, previously classified in 
current financial payables. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities 
 
The amount of deferred tax liabilities is equal to  2,42 million euro (on 31December 2013) compared to a 
value (as at 31 December 2012) of EUR 2.33 million. A detailed analysis of the breakdown of this item is 
provided in the detail table appearing in paragraph 30) (taxes) on these notes to the financial statements. 
It should be noted that this item included in 2012 budget as current tax liabilities, has been reclassified as 
non-current payables. 
 
Provision for risks and charges 
 
€uro/000  

Balance on 31/12/2012 1.150 

Change in scope of consolidation 228 

Increases during the year 23 

Alienations for financial year (911) 

Exchange rate differences -- 

Balance on 31/12/2013 490 
 
The changes in the consolidation perimeter is generated by the entry of  New Satellite Radio Srl. The uses 
for the year, amounting to 817 thousand euro, are relative, for 57 thousand euro as coverage of installment 
payments made as a result of Inpgi amnesties, for which funds had been made at the time of initial 
recognition of liabilities in the income statement, for 254 thousand euro for the settlement of litigation, 
completed in the year and of 600 thousand euro in lost revenues related to the event Class25, originally 
planned but failed because of objections raised by some customers. 
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The residual amount of funds seems appropriate in relation to contingent liabilities estimated by the 
Publisher, mainly relating to proceedings arising from publishing activities. 
 
 
Post employment benefits 
 
€uro/000 Balance at 

31/12/12 
Change in 

scope of 
consolidation 

Transfers/ 
Utilisations 

Financial 
charges 

Actuarial 
charges 

Allocations Balance at 
31/12/13 

Category:        
        Executives 457 224 (161) 3 (46) 39 516 
        Journalists 2.255 -- (155) 16 310 139 2.565 
        
Employes 2.292 360 (233) 16 (5) 275 2.705 
        Tot. Employee 
severance 
indemnities 

5.004 584 (549) 35 259 453 5.786 

The change in the scope of consolidation refers to the enlargement of the company Class Pubblicità 
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The following paragraphs provide details of the actuarial assumptions used for the valuation of the severance 
pay in accordance with IAS 19, as of 31 December 2013: 

Financial Recruitments:   
   

Rate of Actualization   Eur Composite Trend AA 
on 31.12.2013 

      

 
Deadlines 

(years) Rates 

 1 0,400% 
 2 0,665% 
 3 0,949% 
 4 1,275% 
 5 1,576% 
 7 2,110% 
 8 2,343% 
 9 2,547% 
 10 2,567% 
 15 3,019% 

      

Inflation rate   2,00% 
Expected rate of salary increase (including inflation)   2,65% 
Percentage of severance pay required in advance *   70,00% / 100,00% 

* 100% only for Milano Finanza and Class Editori; 70% for all other companies      

 
Demographic hirings:      

Maximum Age Placement at Rest   According to the latest 
laws 

Tables of Mortality   RGS 48 
Average Annual Percentage Exit of Personnel **   7,51% 
Annual probability of a request in advance   4,00% 

** calculated for any cause of elimination in the first ten years following the year of assesment     

      

Sensitivity analysis Sensitivity New DBO    

Rate of Discounting 
+1,00% 5.218.337 

-1,00% 6.310.954 

      

Additional Information        
Duration (in years)   12,07 

      

Scheduled payments        
scheduled payments on 31.12.2014   505.912 
scheduled payments on 31.12.2015   470.032 
scheduled payments on  31.12.2016   491.685 
scheduled payments on  31.12.2017   422.716 
scheduled payments on 31.12.2018   585.802 
scheduled payments from 1.01.2019 to 31.12.2023   2.078.092 
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CURRENT LIABILITIES 
 
 
Financial payables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Borrowings from banks 26.633 26.764 

Affiliates’ C/A 318 1.183 

Borrowings from other lenders 56.523 53.749 

Total financial payables 83.474 81.696 

 
Payables to other financial liabilities include bank loans and overdraft facility financing, entered into by the 
parent company Class Editori, for about 51 million Euros. For more details on the financial situation, please 
refer to the report on operations, in the comment section, at the net financial position. 
 
 
Trade payables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Payables to suppliers and collaborators 24.881 34.495 

Invoices to be received and credit notes to be issued 10.043 11.827 

Payables to advertising concessionaire 7.675 -- 

Payables to affiliates 1.845 10.194 

Total trade payables 44.444 56.516 

 
The increase in trade payables was mainly due to the increase in amounts due to related companies, 
especially to Italia Oggi Editori, and is also reflected in the increase in receivables from associates waiting 
for the adjustment of the debtor and creditor. 
 
 
Tax payables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Advance VAT payments 100 150 

Payables to Liabilities to tax authority for withholding tax 960 2.326 

Current tax payables  604 980 

Total Tax Payables 1.664 3.456 

 
The current tax liabilities relate to taxes on operating results. The increase in payables for withholding is due 
to the delay of the timing of payment of the same by the companies of the group caused by the current 
financial stress, leading to the presence of overdue payables as at 31 December 2013. 
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Other payables 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Payables to Social Security institutions 1.549 1.132 

Payables to agents for commissions 325 2.693 

Payables to employees 612 786 

Payables to shareholders for dividends 97 97 

Deferred subscription income 680 570 

Returns 10.146 9.995 

Other Accrued Expenses and Deferred Income 2.267 3.467 

Client advance accounts 8 7 

Other payables 551 1.178 

Total other payables 16.235 19.925 

 
The increase in payables from agents for commissions is generated from the entrance in the scope of 
consolidation of the advertising concessionaire Class Pubblicità, owner of the sales network for the 
collection of advertisements for the publisher. 

Other payables include, as of 31 December 2013, the remaining amount due to Euroclass Multimedia 
Holding, for the acquisition of the stake in the company Telesia, which took place during the year 2013 for 
the amount of 525 000 EUR. 

Different accrued expenses, include the amount of EUR 375,000, for the allocation of the cost for the license 
fee for the use of software originally held by the company Tenfore International Ltd and its brand. 
 
INCOME STATEMENT 
 
Concerning the economic performance of Class Editori Spa and subsidiaries, in addition to the matters 

discussed in the interim report on operations, the main items are set out below, divided into classes 
 
Revenues  

 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 C 

(%) 

Subscription and news-stand sales 35.767 31.222 (12,7) 

Subscription revenues 46.250 47.240 2,1 

Other income 5.962 5.211 (12,6) 

Total operating revenues 87.979 83.673 (4,9) 

Contributions for operating expenses 364 360 (1,1) 

Total 88.343 84.033 (4,9) 

Extraordinary income 5.986 1.926 (67,8) 

Total revenues 94.329 85.959 (8,9) 
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It should be noted that compared to last year,  the extraordinary income has been reclassified in a specific 
item of the balance sheet, as detailed in paragraph 27) 

 
Production costs  
 
Details of Operating costs are as follows 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes 

(%) 

Purchases 5.122 4.384 (14,4) 

Services 72.748 70.882 (2,6) 

Staff costs 21.560 18.651 (13,5) 

Valuation of equity investments by net equity 88 85 (3,4) 

Other operating costs 5.342 3.551 (33,5) 
    
Total operating costs 104.860 97.553 (7,0) 

Extraordinary expenses  1.177 5.175 339,7 

    
Total Costs 106.037 102.728 (3,1) 

 
It should be noted that compared to last year, the extraordinary expenses have been reclassified to a specific 
item of the balance sheet, as detailed in paragraph 27) 
The reduction in operating costs is a result of the maneuvers of cost containment and rationalization of 
resources carried out by the Publisher. 
 
Further details are given below of the costs relating to services: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes 

(%) 

Production costs 28.691 26.482 (7,7) 

Editorial costs 6.513 6.126 (5,9) 

Commercial/advertising costs 19.961 21.040 5,4 

Distribution costs 5.375 4.122 (23,3) 

Other costs 12.208 13.112 7,4 
    
Total service costs 72.748 70.882 (2,6) 

 
Extraordinary income and charges 
 
The details are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes 

(%) 

Contingent assets  2.320 1.925 (17,0) 

Capital gains / revaluation of shareholdings 3.666 1 n.s. 
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Total extraordinary income 5.986 1.926 (67,8) 

    

Contingent liabilities (1.095) (2.888) (163,7) 

Losses on loans (not covered by funds) (4) (1.773) n.s. 

Costs of reimbursement for damages and transactions (78) (514) n.s. 
    
Total extraordinary expenses  (1.177) (5.175) (339,7) 
    
Profit from extraordinary items 4.809 (3.249) n.s. 

 
Contingent assets for 2013 consist of 43 thousand Euros of revenues pertaining to previous years, to 152 
thousand euro from the accounting period income tax for 51 thousand euro in income for leave as failures 
related to loans already written down for about 100 thousand euro from the correction of errors accounting 
for differences between estimated and actual values, and the remainder, from the closing rounds of the debt 
for which you have not realized the monetary outlay. 
Extraordinary expenses include contingent liabilities, losses on loans and costs for the period for the 
settlement of disputes and various transactions. The significant increase compared to the previous year is a 
direct result of the current crisis that is affecting the national economy with the consequent closing of client 
companies of the publishing house with its negative effects. 

In detail, contingent liabilities for the year just ended are made for 773 thousand euro of costs not accounted 
for on an accrual basis, for 140 000 euro tax contingencies, EUR 771 000 for the closure of prepayments on 
content used by the company Class Meteo Service, whose rights of use are extinct as a result of the 
settlement agreement signed with the provider, as described in the report, for 35 000 € by placement of 
accounting errors for incorrect estimates, and the remainder, amounting to 1.169 million euro, from the 
closure of very old and fragmented credit balances, no longer collectable for which the management has 
deemed it appropriate and prudent to close matches. 
 
Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 
 
This item shows the cost of the amortization period of intangible and tangible assets, a detailed breakdown 
by asset is shown in the tables of the balance sheet, while brief summary is given in the following table: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 Changes 

(%) 

Amortization of intangible fixed assets  1.201 2.085 73,6 

Amortization of tangible fixed assets 1.814 1.543 (14,9) 

Provision for doubtful accounts 1.806 1.201 (33,5) 

Write-down of assets with indefinite useful lives -- 3.415 -- 
    
Total depreciation and amortization  4.821 8.244 71,0 

 
The increase in amortization of intangible assets is mainly generated by the investments made by the 
publisher in finance over the last two years. 
During the period there were no write-downs of goodwill and titles for a total of 3.415 million euro, as 
described in the tables in the balance sheet on the assets with indefinite useful lives. 
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Charges/Net financial income 
 
The details of financial income and expenditure for the period are shown below: 
 
€uro/000 

31/12/12 31/12/13 

Receivable bank interest 614 288 

Financial income from affiliates 188 181 

Other financial income 545 640 
   
Total financial income 1.347 1.109 

Bank and loan charges (183) (343) 

Bank interest charges (727) (1.309) 

Financial charges from affiliates (19) (19) 

Other financial charges (2.037) (2.533) 
   

Total financial charges (2.966) (4.204) 

Charges/Net financial income (1.619) (3.095) 
 
Net financial expenses increased from EUR 1.62 million of 31 December 2012 to 3.09 million euro at 31 

December 2013. 

Under the item “other financial expenses” are included the interest expense related to the process of 
severance pay fund revaluation in accordance with IAS 19. “Other income and expense” includes the effect 
of the time value on the credits. 
 
Income taxes 
 
Details are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 

31/12/12 31/12/13 

Taxes of the financial year 1.398 1.327 

Advance/Deferred taxes (6.147) (7.748) 
   
Total taxes of the period (4.749) (6.421) 

 
The second paragraph of Article 14. 2427 requires a statement indicating: 
a) a description of the temporary differences that resulted in the recognition of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities, specifying the rate applied and the changes compared to the previous year, the amounts credited or 
debited to the income statement or in equity, the items excluded from the calculation and the reasons 
therefor; 
b) the amount of deferred tax assets recorded in the financial statements relating to losses during the current 
or prior years and the reasons, the amount still to be recorded and the reasons for non-registration. 
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 Values on 31/12/2012 Values on 31/12/2013 

 
Amount of 
temporary 
differences 

Tax effect Effect on net 
profit 

Amount of 
temporary 
differences 

Tax effect Effect on net 
profit 

Tax rate applied  27,50%     27,50%     

Tax rate applied  31,40%     31,40%     
              
Advance/Deferred taxes:            
Tax benefit on corporate income tax 
losses (6.808) 1.872 18 (6.351) 1.747 (126) 

Tax benefit on corporate income tax 
losses -- -- -- (20) 6 -- 

Publication start-up 2.156 (677) (103) 2.479 (778) (101) 
Devaluation fund Taxed receivables -Change 
Consolidation area -- -- -- (42) 12 -- 

Provision for doubtful  taxed receivables (1.491) 410 134 (1.274) 350 (60) 
Provision for doubtful  taxed receivables- Change 
Consolidation area 625 (172) -- -- -- -- 

Provisions for liabilities and charges   (1.238) 340 196 (443) 122 (219) 
Provisions for liabilities and charges –Change in 
Consolidation Area 100 (31) -- -- -- -- 

Credit Time value fund (820) 226 (760) (728) 200 (25) 
Time Value Fund-Change in Consol. Area 464 (128) -- -- -- -- 
Time Value fund adjustment 73 (20) -- 73 (20) -- 
Maintenance expenses (214) 67 (20) (171) 53 (14) 
Maintenance expenses–Change in Consolidation Area 53 (17) -- -- -- -- 
Inventory write-down provision (121) 33 (10) (156) 43 10 
Inventory write -down provision– Change in 
Consolidation Area 101 (28) -- -- -- -- 

Additional agent indemnity -- -- -- -- -- -- 
Remuneration to directors (480) 132 20 (528) 145 13 
Unforeseen financial charges (7.139) 1.963 620 (9.412) 2.588 625 
Financial charge adjustments- Change in Consolidation 
Area -- -- -- (291) 80 -- 

Adjustment financial charges 51 (14) (14) 51 (14) -- 
Staff severance fund differences (35) 10 16 (114) 31 22 
Employee Severance Indemnity Fund-Change in 
Consol. Area 48 (13) -- -- -- -- 

Write-up of frequencies 7.277 (2.286) (134) 7.700 (2.421) (134) 
Transfer of excess financial charges to the group 713 (196) -- 713 (196) -- 
Excess GOP (916) 252 218 (1.826) 502 250 
Unused ACE (294) 81 77 (290) 80 (1) 
Change merchandise at fair values -- -- -- (115) 36 -- 
Intangible fixed asset amortization differences 160 (51) 456 160 (51) -- 
Intangible fixed assets -Change in 
consolidation area (13) 4 -- -- -- -- 

Tangible fixed asset amortization differences (664) 210 38 (647) 204 (5) 
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)    1.967 752   2.719 235 

Net effect:              

on net profit for the year   752     235    

Exchange difference on initial balance  --   (154)    

On Opening Net Equity due to change in 
consolidation area   (414)      490     

On opening Net Equity  1.798     2.136    

On closing Net Equity   2.136     2.707    
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The effect of the overall income statement relative to the time differences in the calculation of taxes, 
amounting to 7.748 thousand euro,  includes the advance taxes on negative IRES taxable income of the 
companies belonging to the Class Group tax consolidation area, for € 7,509,  as well as advance and 
deferred taxes on the additional time differences, amounting to 235 thousand euro, as shown in the table 
above. 

 
 

The fiscal effect relative to the other items of the overall consolidated interim income statement 
 
The other components of comprehensive income are given by the following factors:  
- changes related to the translation reserve established relating to translation differences in shareholders' 

equity of the subsidiary American Global Finance Inc. This difference is negative, at 31 December 2013, 
for 38 000 EUR (the proportion of majority shareholders amounted to EUR 28 000, the minority interests 
of EUR 10 thousand). The effect at December 31, 2012 was negative by EUR 25 thousand (EUR 18 
thousand, the share of majority shareholders; 7000 EUR minority interests); 

- the amendment of IAS 19 relating, inter alia, to the method of accounting for employee severance 
indemnity, with the abolition of the possibility of using the corridor method for registration of charges 
and losses, led to the direct recognition in an equity reserve, of the actuarial accrued expenses during the 
year for a total of EUR 259 thousand (the portion attributable to majority shareholders amounted to 213 
thousand euro, while that on third parties of 46 000 €).  

These items, included in the statement of comprehensive income, do not generate tax effects. 
 
 
Memo accounts 
 
Details are as follows: 
 
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Guaranties for prize-winning competitions 120 120 

Guaranties furnished for third parties 1.708 1.763 

Total furnished guaranties 1.828 1.883 

Goods/electronic machines with third parties 1.951 1.222 

Paper with third parties 685 198 

Total of goods with third parties 2.636 1.420 

Shares with Monte Titoli 379 377 

Total securities with third parties 379 377 
   

Total 4.843 3.680 
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
 

As required by IAS 32, the following table compares the values booked to the statements at 31 December 
2013 and the relative fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 
€ (thousand) Accounts 

value 
Fair 

Value 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 11.943 11.943 

Trade receivables 89.630 86.547 

Equity investments and securities 5.203 5.203 

Other receivables 62.480 62.480 
   
Financial liabilities   

Loans   

- at fixed rates 9.170 9.170 

- at floating rates  52.433 52.433 

Trade payables 56.516 56.516 

Other payables 25.802 25.802 

Borrowings from banks 26.764 26.764 

 
 
SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 
The following sector information is provided in compliance with IAS 14. 
The main sector data of the companies is given below 

A. Newspapers  
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/12 31/12/13 Absolute 
change 

Changes  
(%) 

Revenues 22.672 20.893 (1.779) (7,8) 

Direct operating costs 13.101 12.717 (384) (2,9) 

Contribution margin 9.571 8.176 (1.395) (14,6) 

%  incidence on revenues 42,2 39,1   

B. Periodicals 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/12 31/12/13 Absolute 
change 

Changes  
(%) 

Revenues 17.827 15.740 (2.087) (11,7) 

Direct operating costs 18.095 15.842 (2.253) (12,5) 

Contribution margin (268) (102) 166 61,9 

%  incidence on revenues (1,5) (0,6)   
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C. Digital area 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/12 31/12/13 Absolute 
change 

Changes  
(%) 

Revenues 37.202 31.978 (5.224) (14,0) 

Direct operating costs 35.647 34.247 (1.400) (3,9) 

Contribution margin 1.555 (2.269) (3.824) n.s 

%  incidence on revenues 4,2 (7,1)   

 
D. Professional Services 
 
 
The business area has achieved the following results: 
 
€uro/000 
(Data reclassified by management) 

31/12/12 31/12/13 Absolute 
change 

Changes  
(%) 

Revenues 2.036 9.916 7.880 n.s 

Direct operating costs 1.838 8.736 6.898 n.s 

Contribution margin 198 1.180 982 n.s. 

%  incidence on revenues 9,7% 11,9%   

 
Ongoing disputes 
 
The Inland Revenue of Milan has notified in 2005, to the Company Milano Finanza Editori Spa, notices of 
assessment for the tax years 2002 and 2003. Following the appeal of Milano Finanza, the Provincial Tax 
Commission of Milan filed on July 17, 2007 the judgment of First Instance which partially accepted the 
appeal of the company, halving the value of the initial taxable. Meanwhile, under the law, it was registered 
as 50% of the additional taxes assessed. The payment of the tax occured in the month of July 2006 for an 
amount of approximately EUR 354 000. The hearing at the CTP of Milan was held July 6, 2009. Judgment, 
filed on 11 November 2009, dismissed the appeal of the notice of assessment regarding the year 2003, while 
partially upheld the appeal in respect of the notice of assessment 2002. In particular, it was accepted the 
appeal of the Agency with respect to the relief n. 4 of the notice of assessment, meaning the failure of 
recognition of interest income (art.56 Tuir) with relative recovery in taxation for the purposes of direct taxes 
of EUR 340,901.46. The company, with the assistance of the Tax Law Firm founded by Franco Gallo, 
presented in December 2010 appeal to the Supreme Court. We are awaiting for the hearing. 
 
The company Class Editori SpA, Milano Finanza SpA (as well as the associated Italia Oggi Editore  - Erinne 
Srl) has a dispute with the Inpgi by virtue of which the institute advancing claims on alleged violations of 
contributions that the company considers to be unfounded. Given the opportunity by a tax amnesty, 
introduced regarding disputes with the Inpgi, the publishing house has assessed convenient to adhere to the 
same relation to disputes relating to the early findings. In the course of 2013 have terminated the installment 
payments of the sums agreed upon, with full utilization of the funds of specifically allocated risks, 
amounting to 400 thousand euro. 
While the dispute on the assessments conducted by Inpgi in 2007 is still ongoing. The total amount requested 
is approximately 1.6 million Euros. For these, comforted by the evaluation of Ichino-Brugnatelli and 
Associates, in charge of the defense, it was not considered appropriate at the moment (including in 
compliance with IAS. 37) to make any provision. 
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The company Classpi Spa had been received assessment notices as a result of the official reports for the 
major dealers for the years 2002 to 2007 , for alleged non-deductibility of VAT on costs for negotiation 
rights paid to the Media Centers , according to industry practice. 
The company has won the court of first instance for all of these years, except 2005, the year for which the 
CTP of Milan (Section 1) and with ruling no. 191 delivered June 7th, 2011 and filed on September 7, 2011 
unexpectedly rejected the company's appeal. 
It was therefore lodged an appeal with the Regional Tax Commission of Lombardy and with ruling no. 
19/13/13, delivered on January 23, 2013, reached a decision unfavorable to the company's appeal, which, 
therefore, on October 7, 2013, has filed an appeal to the Supreme Court. 
Please note that Equitalia-Esatri had already issued a tax notice in relation to 50% of the assessed taxes 
(excluding IRES), for a total of 346 000 EUR. The folder included both of the findings contained in the 2005 
tax assessment and those relating to disputes on the rights of negotiation for the years 2005, 2006 and 2007. 
 
After the usual rejection of the suspension, a rescheduling petition was filed in the folder. The request was 
granted in early 2011. The company paid about 221 thousand Euros, more than the total due according to the 
outcome of the judgment of first instance in which it has been said earlier. It was therefore suspended the 
plan for rescheduling even after obtaining the measure of relief from the Inland Revenue. On May 29, 2012 
was obtained reimbursement of EUR 126 thousand, corresponding to the amount paid in excess of the 
outcome of the judgment of the Provincial Tax Commission. 
With regard to the years 2002, 2003 and 2004, with judgment no. 81/14/12 of Regional Tax Commission of 
Lombardy, filed on July 10, 2012, it was confirmed the judgment in favor of the company already achieved 
in the first degree. On July 18, 2013 was notified by the Inland Revenue, appeal to the Supreme Court 
against the judgment n. 08/14/12. Classpi filed its defense on 24 October 2013. 
Finally, with reference to the years 2006 and 2007, with judgment no. 58/12/13 of Regional Tax Commission 
of Lombardy, filed on March 15, 2013, it was confirmed the judgment in favor of the company already 
achieved in the first degree. Also in this case this case, the Inland Revenue has proceeded to file appeal in the 
Supreme Court to challenge the judgment in favor of the company, which, on December 17, 2013, has filed 
its defense. 
For all three judgments, we are waiting for the hearing to be scheduled, which will presumably be fixed in 
about 3 years. 
 
On 25 February 2010, the subsidiary Classpi received a notice of assessment as a result of a tax audit made 
by the Revenue Agency for the fiscal year 2005. The notice of assessment reported tax recoveries IRES / 
IRAP for about 2,5 million Euros, and for VAT purposes for around 2 million Euros. Several shots are 
resulting from the lack of consideration by Agency officials, of what is the reality of the advertising market 
in general and the typical evolution of commodity exchange contracts, in particular, where it is inevitable for 
worldwide publishing to resell the material/service at prices lower than those of acquisition. The main 
findings relating to the failure to account for revenues regards the failure to re-invoicing to group companies 
of the advertising costs incurred for the promotion of editorial publications. Such benefits, however, are 
provided by infra-group contracts that provide for a specific remuneration for Classpi. On September 7, 2011 
was filed judgment no. 191 of the Provincial Tax Commission of Milan (Section 1). The judgment is overall 
very positive, welcoming almost all observations of the company and has significantly reduced the initial 
findings by reducing the amounts to EUR 175 thousand in taxable income for a tax effect of 100 thousand 
euro. The Inland Revenue against the judgment, notified in accordance with law interlocutory appeal against 
the Classpi which in turn has presented rebuttal and act in court. The Regional Tax Commission of Milan, on 
23 January 2013, substantially confirmed the outcome of the decision at first instance, thus confirming the 
general correctness of the company.  
Although both sentences have been extremely favor of the Company, effectively reducing the claims of the 
agency from the original 2.5 million taxable income assessed, about 370 thousand Euros of taxable income, 
the company has decided to appeal to the Supreme Court, however, also considering the fact that the same 
judgment had given negative results to the company in relation to the issue of rights trading, with regard to 
the year in question. 
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In a dispute that sees opposing Class CNBC SpA against Capitalia S.p.A. / Bipop Carire S.p.A. (now both 
Unicredit SpA) for the sale of advertising space, the Court of First Instance of the Court of Milan ordered 
Capitalia SpA to pay to CFN CNBC S.p.A. (old name of the company) of the sum of € 619,748.24 plus 
interest for late payment at the statutory rate and the costs of litigation paid in Euros 46411.63. 
At the conclusion of the appeal proceedings, overturning the decision of First Instance, the Court of Appeal 
of Milan, with judgment filed on 16 January 2012 has condemned Class CNBC to return to Unicredit Srl 
(Capitalia) € 732,695.81 plus statutory interest. The dispute was settled by a commercial agreement for the 
provision of advertising services from the company, avoiding a new degree of judgment, expenses, and 
uncertainty of the facts. 
 
 
Privacy information  
 
Pursuant to paragraph 26 of Annex B to Legislative Decree no. 196/2003 establishing Code regarding the 
protection of personal data, the Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the measures relating 
to the protection of personal data, in the light of the provisions introduced by Legislative Decree no.  
196/2003 in accordance with the terms and conditions specified therein. In particular report that the Security 
Policy Document referred to in paragraph 19 of that Annex B, deposited at the registered office and freely 
available, was published on 28 March 2006 and constantly updated according to the regulation. 
 
Significant extraordinary events and transactions 
Pursuant to Consob communication n° DEM/6064293 of 28th July 2006, no significant extraordinary 
transactions were made by the Publishing house during 2013. 
 
Atypical and/or unusual transactions  
 
Pursuant to Consob Communication n° DEM/6064293 of 28th July 2006, during the year the publishing 
house performed no atypical and/or unusual operations, as defined in the Communication 
 
Balance sheet highlights after 31st December 2013 
 
With effect from 8 January Angelo Sajeva, coming from Mondadori, of which he was president and chief 
executive officer, and vice president of Mediamond, has assumed the position of director for strategy and 
development of Class Editori and at the same time the office of President of Class Pubblicità covered so far 
by the interim general manager and managing director of Class Editori, Andrea Mattei. 
 
On January 9, the Board of Directors approved the five-year business plan, which expects to achieve, by the 
fifth year, a ratio EBITDA / turnover of the publishing house of over 17%. The 2013-2018 business plan, 
relying on the availability of content and the plurality of the media, also provides for the consolidation of 
leadership positions already achieved in the financial news,  
the strengthening of the digital environment for all new media, with the launch of new platforms disengaged 
from titles, apps for tablets and a new TV project banking, the particular focus on the business unit TV & 
radio Radio, as well as a significant development in the international area, particularly in China (thanks to 
the partnership with Xinhua News Agency, the largest Chinese publishing group with $ 16 billion in 
revenues, which is owned by the government) and Central and South America starting from licensed local 
editions of the monthly Gentleman. 
As already mentioned, during the preparation of the plan it was revealed the need to give continuity and 
efficiency to the business activity, to strengthen the financial structure, for which the management has 
activated and set event before the year 2013 a significant increase in capital project, for which various 
solutions are being examined by the Council. 
On January 24, 2014 was completed the acquisition of EUR 4 million, from an independent valuation from 
the bottom Agora Finance, of 100% of the shares of the company Aldebaran srl. 
The payment will be made partly in cash and in items by offsetting credits Class to the counterpart. 
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Aldebaran is the holder of technologies and activities related to the creation and development of outdoor TV 
channel Moby, made for buses, trams and metro trains, that is strategic and crucial for Telesia and for the 
growth of business in the world of out of the house TV and in general in the digital sector. 
 
On March 4th and 6th was presented to the world of advertising, to agencies and media centers, the new 
palimpsest of Class TV Channel 27 of the digital TV, starring the best-loved Italian fictions and most famous 
Hollywood movies, along with quality and useful everyday information to meet the need of intelligent 
entertainment and practical training of the high target to which is dedicated the programming of the channel. 
I Cesaroni and Distretto di Polizia, are among the many titles of great appeal aired from Sunday, March 9. 
 
On March 10th, was published the new special edition MF International China Italy, dedicated to the 
protagonists and business opportunities from and with China. Very positive feedback from the advertising 
revenues. 
 
At the end of March was released in China and Italy in the new issue of the Eccellenza Italiana magazine in 
mandarin, again with very encouraging feedback advertising revenue. 
 
 
Future management prospects 
 
The Board of Class Editori, in view of the trend of publishing house in recent years and the prospects for the 
editorial and advertising market, examined the various options that are offered to the company for the future, 
aimed at strengthening the financial and capital structure, a prerequisite for the realization of the business 
plan approved by the Board on January 9th, to be pursued using the tools available in the current order and in 
the current market, even with the significant support of historical members. 
The latter have expressed their willingness, under certain conditions, to evaluate proposals for a financial and 
capital strengthening that will eventually be made by the company at the conclusion of the ongoing review of 
various alternatives. To this end, the Board has resolved to convene again by April 14, when it can be 
proposed to the shareholders a significant increase in capital in view of a possible formalization of its 
commitment to ensure the subscription, also of any unsubscribed shares, by its historical members 

At the same venue, the board of directors shall reserve the assessment of the opportunity to supplement or 
update the plan itself whereas it will be deemed necessary, to take into account possible scenarios that could 
have taken place in the period between the approval of the plan and the definition of the financial strategy 
that should maximize results. 
2014 has started with a few encouraging sign from the markets, and in particular from the advertising sector. 
In this context, still prevail queue positions by investors, with reductions or delays in planning by major 
customers. The visibility is therefore currently still quite limited. In this context of uncertainty, the Publisher 
is continuing with its rational cost containment and revenue developments. 
 
 
 
 

The board of directors 
The president 

Victor Uckmar 
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Schedule of significant equity stakes pursuant 
to Art. 120 of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998 
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In accordance with art. 126 of the regulation approved by Consob Resolution no. 11971/1999, we 
provide information on the significant equity stakes pursuant to Art. 120 of Legislative Decree 
no. 58/1998 
 

Name City or 
State 

Share 
Capital 

Consolidated 
% of group 

Method of 
equity 

holding 

Shareholder % of 
share in 
capital 

Campus Editori Srl Milan  50.000 70,00  direct Class Editori Spa 70,00 

PMF News Editori Spa Milan  156.000  68,75  indirect Class Digital 
Service Srl 

68,75 

Country Class Editori Srl  Milan  10.329  100,00  direct Class Editori Spa 100,00 

Edis Srl Milan  10.400  99,50  direct Class Editori Spa 99,50 

Lombard Editori Srl Milan  52.000  50,10  direct Class Editori Spa 50,10 

MF Conference Srl Milan  10.329  51,00  direct Class Editori Spa 51,00 

Milano Finanza Editori Spa Milan  291.837 84,327  direct Class Editori Spa 84,327 

MF Editori Srl Milan 10.400 84,327 indirect Milano Finanza 
Editori Spa 

100,00 

MF Servizi Editoriali Srl Milan 10.400 84,48 direct  
indirect 

Class Editori Spa      
Milano Finanza 
Editori Spa 

1,00      
99,00 

Milano Finanza Service Srl Milan  10.000  75,01  direct Class Editori Spa 75,01 

DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl Milan  47.500 94,73  direct Class Editori Spa 94,73 

Ex.Co. Srl Milan  17.000 100,00 direct Class Editori Spa 100,00 

Global Finance Media Inc. ($) USA  151 $ 73,52 direct Class Editori Spa 73,520 

E-Class Spa  Milan  608.400  68,75  direct Class Digital 
Service Srl 

68,75 

Classpi Spa Milan  260.000 51,00  direct Class Editori Spa 51,00 

New Satellite Radio Srl Milan  10.000 100,00  direct Class Editori Spa 100,00 

Class TV Service Srl Milan 10.400 100,00 direct Class Editori Spa 100,00 

Class Servizi Televisivi Srl Milan 10.000 100,00 direct Class Editori Spa 100,00 

Classint Digital Service Srl Milan 100.000 68,75 direct Class Editori Spa 68,75 

Classint Advertising Srl Milan 10.000 100,00 direct Class Editori Spa 100,00 

Editorial Class  Spain  60.101  44,00  direct Class Editori Spa 44,00 

CFN CNBC Holding Holland 702.321 68,43 direct Class Editori Spa 68,43 

Italia Oggi Editori Erinne Srl Milan 10.000 48,90  direct Class Editori Spa 47,00 

    indirect  Assinform Srl 2,00 

Italia Oggi Srl Milan 10.400 48,90 indirect Italia Oggi Editori 
Erinne  Srl 

100,00 

Fiorentina.it Srl  Florence 10.000 46,45 indirect Italia Oggi Erinne  
Srl 

95,00 

Class Roma Srl  Milan  10.400 59,12 direct  
indirect 

Class Editori Spa      
Italia Oggi Editori 
Srl 

20,00      
80,00 

Borsa 7 Editori  Milan 52.000 14,00  direct Class Editori Spa 14,00 
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Name City or 

State 
Share 
Capital 

Consolidat
ed 

% of group 

Method of 
equity 
holding 

Shareholder % of 
share in 
capital 

Agefi Class     50,00 direct Class Editori Spa 50,00 

Class Cnbc Spa Milan 627.860 46,07 direct  
indirect 

Class Editori Spa      
CFN CNBC Holding 

2,73      
63,32 

Radio Classica Srl Milan 10.000 99,818 direct  
indirect 

Class Editori Spa      
Milano Finanza 
Editori Spa 

99,00      
1,00 

Telesia Spa               Rome 1.500.000 85,625 direct Class Editori Spa 85,625 

Classpi Digital Srl Rome 10.400 88,93 direct 
indirect 

Class Editori Spa 
Telesia Spa 

23,00 
77,00 

Emprimer Spa Milan 1.000.000 10,00 direct Class Editori Spa 10,00 

MF Dow Jones News Srl Milan 100.000 50,00 direct Class Editori Spa 50,00 

Fashion Work Business Club 
Srl 

Milan 10.400 100,00 direct Class Editori Spa 100,00 

Class Editori Service Spa Milan 300.000 100,00 direct Class Editori Spa       100,00       

Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl Pordenone 50.000 95,00 direct Class Editori Spa 95,00      

I Love Italia Srl Palermo 10.000 51,00 direct Class Editori Spa 51,00 

Class Meteo Services Srl Milan 10.000 100,00 direct Class Editori Spa 100,00 

Tv Moda Srl Milan 40.000 51,00 direct Class Editori Spa 51,00 

Class Horse TV Srl Milan 100.000 30,00 direct Class Editori Spa 30,00 

Banca Popolare Vicenza Vicenza 260.594.490 0,008 direct Class Editori Spa 0,008 

Up Cube Srl Milan 119.000 25,00 direct Class Editori Spa 25,00 
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Related party transactions 
at 31st December 2013 
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Following the Consob communication issued on 24 September 2010 concerning the provisions governing 
related party transactions pursuant to Consob resolution no. 17221 of 12th March 2010, as amended, the 
Board of Directors of Class Editori Spa approved the procedure for related party transactions which came 
into force on 1st January 2011. 
 
 
The main commercial and financial relations with related parties at 31st December 2013 are shown below. 
Commercial and financial relations with stakeholders are regulated by the same conditions applied to 
suppliers and customers. 
 
 
Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa (CIA) 
 
A. Property lease contracts (as the lessee) regulated at market conditions, necessary for the performance of 
the production operations in the locations where Class Editori and its subsidiaries are located; 

B. Facility management contracts (passive) for services provided by CIA to Class Editori and other 
companies in its group for the services and maintenance and management services of the above-cited 
properties; 

C. During 2008, following the purchase by CIA of an important property complex adjacent to the Class 
registered office- with the partial designation of that complex for a purpose which will benefit the 
publishing house- Class paid CIA a security deposit of 2.0 million euros, including for the purpose of 
adapting the property to its needs; 

D. (Active) contracts regulated at market conditions, for the supply of administrative, financial, technical 
and legal consulting services, both for the performance of CIA’s ordinary operations, and for the 
extraordinary projects underway involving financial and real property investments. 

 
 
Euroclass Multimedia Holding S.A. 
 

To be reported during the period is the purchase of shares by Class Editori corresponding to 5% of the share 
capital of Telesia, sold by Euroclass, at the price of EUR 525 000. The sale was based on a value attributed 
to Telesia of 10.5 million euro. 
 
Again with reference to the related Euroclass Multimedia Holding, it is to be reported that the number of 
Prepayments include the deferral of the initial deposit paid in 2006 on a contract for the use of software 
originally held by the company Tenfore International Ltd and its brand, worth € 1,458,333, while the number 
of accrued expenses include an amount of € 375,000, relating to the allocation of the cost for the fee for the 
use of the same software. 
 
Other operations 
 
Lastly, we note a loan to the Case Editori Srl company for an original amount of 0.55 million euros, 
regulated at market conditions. 
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The table shows the balance sheet and profit and loss account effects of the relationships described above:
   
€uro/000 Balance sheet 

item 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Balance Sheet Relationships    

Receivables from CIA for deposit (8) 2.000 2.000 
Trade receivables from Euroclass to buy shares (8) 500 500 
    
Trade receivables from CIA Group for goods/service   (10) 3.770 4.445 
Trade receivables from New Sat. Radio/World Space It.  (10) 335 340 
    
Financial receivables from New Sat. Radio/World Space It.   (12) 290 424 
Financial receivables from CIA group (12) 1.741 1.749 
    
Receivables from other publishers (14) 656 670 
Sundry receivables from CIA group (14) 6.499 7.700 
Payments to CIA group (14) 255 289 
Payments on services provided by EuroClass (14) 1.583 1.458 
    
Trade payables to CIA for rents and facilities (22) (1.367) (2.530) 
Trade payables to CIA group (22) (122) (1.102) 
    
Paybles to  Euro Class for share acquisition (24) -- (525) 
Accrued expenses for services provided by Euroclass (24) -- (375) 

   
€uro/000 Balance sheet 

item 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Income statement relationships    

Revenues for administrative and consulting services provided to CIA (25) 345 150 
Revenues for recovering costs from companies of the CIA Group (25) 195 39 
Revenues for goods sale to CIA group companies (25) -- 24 
Advertising revenues from New Satellite Radio (25) 1.105 -- 
    
Costs for software license use (26) (500) (500) 
Costs of leasing from CIA Group (26) (2.531) (3.068) 
Costs for facility services from CIA Group (26) (576) (586) 
Costs for recovering costs from companies of the CIA Group (26) (195) (39) 
Costs for services from companies of the CIA Group (26) (30) (29) 
    
Financial income from New Satellite Radio (29) 7 -- 
Financial income from CIA group (29) -- 23 

 
The decrease in revenues from consulting services provided ACIA Spa is related to the intense activity 
carried out in the previous period with regard to extraordinary transactions, services not replicated in the year 
2013. Higher costs for leases by the Group CIA is due to the outward regime of rent for offices leased by the 
company Diana Bis, whose contract starts on July 1, 2012, therefore impacting for 12 months the year 2013 
compared to the  6 months of the previous period. 
As for the associates, it should be noted that some of these are related to the company by financial 
transactions and business. About the financial relationships with associates, they are regulated at a market 
rate. 
 
The most significant of these relationships is with the company Italia Oggi Editori-Erinne Srl with which 
commercial agreements exist for work and services regarding, on one hand, advertising sales and the supply 
of administrative, legal and financial services, and on the other, the domestic distribution of daily and 
periodical publications for which Italia Oggi Editori-Erinne Srl represents the primary national distributor. 
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The table shows the balance sheet and profit and loss account effects of the relationships with affiliates 
 
€uro/000 

31/12/12 31/12/13 

Balance Sheet Relationships   

Distribution receivables  (Italia Oggi – Erinne) 8.511 10.096 
Trade receivables from Italia Oggi – Erinne 4.714 5.765 
Trade receivables from  Class Roma 155 255 
Trade receivables from  Class Horse TV 4.362 7.108 
Financial receivables from  Italia Oggi – Erinne 3.920 6.808 
Financial receivables from  Class Roma 153 180 
Financial receivables from  Class Horse TV 543 103 
Othere receivables from Class Horse TV -- 3 
Prepayments from Italia Oggi – Erinne -- 1.200 
   
Financial payables to Italia Oggi– Erinne (67) (1.003) 
Financial payables to Class Roma (181) (7) 
Financial payables to  Class Horse TV -- (173) 
Financial payables to  Upcube (70) -- 
Financial payables to  Italia Oggi – Erinne (1.052) (8.950) 
Financial payables to  Class Roma (175) (349) 
Financial payables to Class Horse TV (360) (694) 
Distribuzione payables (Italia Oggi – Erinne) (248) (201) 
Deferred expenses to Class Horse Tv (390) -- 

 
€uro/000 

31/12/12 31/12/13 

Income statement relationships   

Revenues from services provided to  Italia Oggi – Erinne 1.904 1.908 
Revenues from services provided to  Class Roma 168 23 
Revenues from services and supplies provided to Class Horse TV 2.336 1.807 
Revenues from expense recovery to associates  57 571 
Revenues from advertising to associates 115 250 
Revenues from the sale of paper and goods to associates 6 294 
Revenues from recovery of sales costs 71 37 
   
Costs for advertising services provided by Italia Oggi – Erinne/Class Horse TV (68) (173) 
Distribution costs  (Italia Oggi – Erinne) (3.263) (3.928) 
Costs for services provided by Italia Oggi–Erinne -- (240) 
Costs for services provided by Class Roma (255) -- 
Costs for services provided by Class Horse TV (165) -- 
Costs for expense recovery from associates (57) (571) 
Costs for sales of copies from associates (294) (355) 
   
Financial income from affiliates 188 181 
Financial charges from affiliates (19) (19) 
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Other inter-company transactions 
 
VAT consolidation agreement 

Class Editori Spa has a group consolidated VAT agreement involving the companies in the Class group that 
satisfy the requirements of relevant legislation (art. 73, subsection 3 of D.P.R. 633/72).  

The following surety bonds relative to VAT receivables were taken out by companies belonging to the group 
VAT scheme and have not yet been discharged: 

Class Editori – value of 563 000 EUR for credit transferred to  VAT group concept in the tax year 2010. 
The bond will cease its effect on September 30, 2014; value of 5.978 million euro credit  transferred to  VAT 
group concept in the tax year 2012. The bond will cease its effect September 30, 2016; value of 299 000 
EUR for credit  transferred to VAT group concept in the tax year 2012. The bond will cease its effect 
September 30, 2016. 

E-Class – value 1,262,000 euros for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2011 return. 
The effects of the bond will cease on 30th September 2015. 

Milano Finanza – value 3,996,000 euros for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2011 
return. The effects of the bond will cease on 20th September 2015. 

Country Class Editori – value 126,000 euros for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 
2010 return. The effect of the bond will cease on 20th September 2014; value 135,000 euros for the 
receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2011 return. The effects of the bond will cease on  
September 20th, 2015. 

Edis – value 187,000 euros for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2011 return. The 
effects of the bond will cease on 20th September 2015 

Radio Classica – value 35,000 euros for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2010 
return. The effect of the bond will cease on 20th September 2014; value 111,000 euros for the receivable 
transferred to the parent company for the 2011 return. The effects of the bond will cease on 20th September 
2015; value of 68000 euro for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2012 return. The 
effects of the bond will cease on 20th September 2016. 

MF Conference – value 35,000 euros for the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2012 
return. The effects of the bond will cease on 20th September 2016. 

PMF News – value of 3.826 thousand euro or the receivable transferred to the parent company for the 2012 
return. The effects of the bond will cease on 20th September 2016. 

 
IRES tax consolidation 

Following the renewal of the tax consolidation option by the parent company, Class Editori SpA for the three 
year period 2013-2015, Class Editori Spa and its main subsidiaries determine IRES within the sphere of the 
current IRES tax consolidation agreement. Relations between the tax consolidation participants are governed 
by special agreements.  
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In compliance with Art. 149- duodicies of the Issuers’ Regulations, the following Schedule reports the 
compensation disbursed to the independent auditor in the year 2013, divided by type of service: 
 
€uro  Year 2013 

 

Auditing of the annual financial statements at 31st December 2013  15.300 
Auditing of the consolidated financial statements at 31st December 2013  15.000 
Limited audit of the consolidated half-year report as of 30th June 2013  25.000 
Auditing for the year  2013  5.375 
Total auditing for the parent company  60.675 
Other services certifying the parent company    1.500 

Total costs of the parent company  62.175 
   

Auditing of the annual financial statements at 31 December 2013: subsidiaries  74.620 
Auditing of the financial year 2013: subsidiaries  19.575 
Total auditing of subsidiaries  94.195 
Other services certifying the subsidiaries (ADS Certification)  1.500 

Total costs of subsidiaries  95.695 
Total costs of Independent Auditor 

  157.870 

 
 
During the year, has been appointed a new auditor. The fees shown therefore include the fees paid to both  
independent auditors during the year. 
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Certification of the consolidated financial statements 
pursuant to Art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation 
No.11971/1999 and subsequent amendments 

 and additions 
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Certification of the consolidated financial statements pursuant to Art. 81-ter of 
Consob Regulation No. 11971/1999 and subsequent amendments and additions 
 
 
 
1. The undersigned Paolo Panerai, in the capacity of CEO, and Emilio Adinolfi, in the capacity of the 

competent Manager of Class Editori Spa hereby certify, including in consideration of the provisions of 
Art. 154 -bis, paragraphs 3 and 4 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24 February 1998, that the 
administrative and accounting procedures applied for the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statement as of 31 December 2013: 

1.1. are consistent with the administrative/accounting system and the company’s structure; 

1.2. are adequate and have been effectively applied; 

 
2. No items worth noting emerged from this assessment. 

3. It is also hereby certified that the consolidated financial statements for the period closing on 31 
December 2013: 

a) are consistent with accounting ledger entries and records; 

b) has been drawn up in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 

c) the respective interpretations published by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) 
and ratified by the Commission of the European Union by Regulation No. 1725/2003 and 
subsequent amendments, consistent with Regulation No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament, as 
well as the provisions issued in implementation of Art. 9 of Legislative Decree No. 38/2005, and to 
our knowledge, is suitable to provide an accurate and proper picture of the asset, economic and 
financial situation of Class Editori Spa and all of the companies included in the consolidation 

d) the Report on Operations includes a reliable analysis of the performance and operating result,and 
also of the situation of the issuer and the sum of companies included in the consolidation, together 
with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties to which they are exposed 

 
 
 
Milano, March 21st 2014 
 
 
 
Managing Director Entrusted Executive  
 
Paolo Panerai Emilio Adinolfi 
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Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors 
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CLASS EDITORI S.p.a. 
 

v ia  M.  Bur igozz o ,  n .  5 -  Milano  
 

Corpora t i on  S tock  €10.560.751,00. 
 

***** 
 

Report of the Board of Statutory Auditors of the  

Gruppo Class Editori at the Shareholders' meeting 

on the Accounts, closed on December 31, 2013 
 

Shareholders, 
 
the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2013 "Class Editori Group," which was given to 

us in conjunction with the financial statements of the parent company Class Editori Spa includes the 

balance sheet, the income statement, cash flow statement, statement of changes in shareholders' equity, 

Information by business segment, as well as the Notes and the Report of the Board of Directors on 

operations. 

It was drafted in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European 

Union and presents a Group equity  of 40 987 thousand Euros, and a negative result attributable to the 

Group of € 22,782 thousand. The information obtained from PKF Italy Spa, responsible for auditing the 

financial statements, enables us to observe that the values expressed therein correspond to the accounting 

records of the Parent Company and the information to her formally submitted by its subsidiaries. 

The Auditors have issued an unqualified report on the financial statements, certifying that it is 

presented clearly and it represents a true and fair view of the financial position, of the results of 

operations, of the changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows of the Class Editori Group. The 

Auditor also has not made any disclosures. The report contains and explains the elements, the data and 

information required by Article 2428 of the Civil Code and Article 40 of Legislative Decree no. N. 127, 

1991. 

Specific information regarding the Group considered as a whole, as expressed in its financial aspects 

of the values contained in the consolidated financial statement, are widely reported in the Directors' 

Report, which illustrates a true, balanced and exhaustive analysis of the position of the undertakings 

included in the consolidation, and the performance and results of operations as a whole and in the 

various fields in which it has operated, through its subsidiaries, particularly with regard to the costs, 

revenues and investments, as well as a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the 

companies of Class Editori Group are exposed to. 
 

    Milan, April 4th 2014 
  
Board of Statutory Auditors 

Carlo Maria Mascheroni  
Lucia Cambieri 
Mario Medici 
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External Auditors’ report on the consolidated 
financial statements 
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Class Editori Spa 
Registered Office in Milano - Via Marco Burigozzo, 5 

 
MANAGEMENT REPORT 

AS OF  31 DECEMBER 2013 
 
 
Performance 
 
The value of production went from 34.754.647 euro on 31 December 2012 to 29.642.742 euro on 31 
December 2013 (-14,7%). 
 
It should be noted that in the previous year other revenues and income include the effect of the fair value of 
the portion of the investment in Class Digital Service Srl, amounting to EUR 3.2 million euro, following the 
classification of the same among the securities held for trading. The sale has then taken place on 20 March 
2013. In terms of revenues, there is mainly the decrease in advertising revenues, while, although based 
values to this day still marginal for the company, there was a result in growing revenues from digital area. 
 
Operating expenses increased from € 48,659,966 to € 52,110,972. The increase was generated by the 
different effects of opposite sign: 
 

• A substantial reduction of production costs, mainly in the purchase of paper and other goods and 
services production; 

• A significant increase in performance of services by affiliates, for all the activities related to the 
activities of business management, marketing, technical and operational, considerably grown in a 
context of crisis, but also of relaunch, and for charges in connection with commercial costs, even for 
the greater effect of write-downs of bad debts; 

• A reduction in the workforce and personnel costs, partly as a result of the activation of Solidarity 
Contracts starting from June; 

• An increase in expenses for third-party services, related to the higher costs incurred for the purchase 
of editorial content for the Class TV channel, mainly from abroad, and to higher costs incurred for 
leases. 

 
 
 
The gross operating margin (EBITDA) rose from EUR -13,905,319 -22,468,230 to euro, as a result of the 
combined effects described above 
 
The difference between extraordinary income and expenses was negative for € 2,968,992, against a positive 
balance of 415 555 of the previous year, a year in which capital gains were realized for 970 000 euro thanks 
to sale of shares in Class Pubblicità and Italia Oggi. The worsened economic environment has also led to the 
need for further write-downs on loans as a result of business closures or bankruptcies of customers that were 
not foreseeable in 2012, in excess of the funds allocated in the budget for about 200 thousand Euros. 
 
Depreciation, amortization and write-downs totaled to € 3,769,218 compared to € 2,329,062 of the previous 
year. This increase is primarily due to the effect of the impairment test pursuant to IAS 36, as more fully 
described in the notes to the financial statements, which has generated negative difference between the 
carrying value of certain investments and the fair value of 2.2 million euro, and the impairment of an asset 
with indefinite useful lives (the title Class Life) for an amount of EUR 300 thousand. 
 
The net result after tax was a loss of € 23,718,504, compared to a net loss achieved in the previous year of  
EUR 13,981,383. 
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Primary economic–financial events of the period 
 
Also 2013 was a difficult year for the Italian economy, weakened by the recession, political instability, 
severe crisis in the advertising market and of the editorial sector in general, which has been very strong at 
least until the last quarter of the year, also due to the delays on the maneuvers of development, and the lack 
of liquidity from the banking system that has been passed on to the private sector. 
 
The main macroeconomic indicators are still negative, although they showed the first timid signs of a slow 
recovery: the latest quarterly economic bulletin of the Bank of Italy (the first in 2014), speaks of a modest 
recovery with low inflation in the euro area , and an increase of expectations in Italy, whose GDP has finally 
slowed his descent during the third quarter of 2013, supported by exports and changes in stocks, with an 
improvement in industrial production and in the business trust indexes. 
Conditions in financial markets have improved, helped by a sharp reduction in the interest rate differential of 
government bonds compared to the Bunds. 
The economic situation has remained very weak during the whole 2013 year. The most immediate and direct 
consequence of the crisis was, as in recent years, a decline in advertising spending by businesses. 
In 2013, the context of reference has undergone considerable declines in sales. The data published by 
Nielsen for 2013 shows an overall decline in the advertising market of 12.4%, which is added to that of 
14.3% in 2012 and to that of previous years. 
However, is the positive figure is trend of the second half of the year, where the contraction of the 
advertising market was 5.9%, compared with the fall in the first semester of 17.5%. 
 
In particular, in 2013 the print media have declined by 21.2%, with a trend of the magazines worst (-24%) 
than the newspapers' (-19.5%), while the data of the TV advertising market showed a decline of 10%. Even 
the Internet means for the first time achieved a decline in advertising revenues, equal to 1.8%. 
 
The editorial publications edited directly by the parent company  (the  monthly publications Class and Case 
& Country and the television channel Class TV, on channel 27 of the digital cable) have suffered particularly 
of the market crisis due to strong reductions recorded in the magazine sector and television. 
 
Circulation averages in 2013 have suffered, as the whole market, significant declines, but these have been 
reflected in the substantial reduction of production costs. Class had an average distribution of 78 000 copies 
(86 500 in 2012). 

 
The Publisher is also completing the renovation of the entire technological infrastructure, which will be 
completed by the first half of 2014 that will leverage digital media to increase the flexibility of content 
delivery, especially on mobile devices. 
 
Although the signals of activity on the digital area are encouraging, in the context of continued weakness in 
the market, the company, together with all the companies belonging to the Class, has implemented a plan to 
reduce costs which covered all areas of expenditure and all sectors of activity. 
Many of the cost containment measures undertaken have been activated during the year just ended, and their 
effects have gone operational in the second half. 
 
Among the operations carried out, besides those on the staff which led to a reduction in personnel, include: 

• reductions editorial and industry costs (particularly paper and printing), resulting from higher on line 
sales and optimization of sizes and printing centers; 

• Cost optimization of technology platforms related to the areas of financial services; 

• an activity, in particular, made stronger and tighter in the second semester, for a constant control of the 
foliation and the cost of periodical publications, calibrated for each outgoing number on revenues 
collected so as not to have to close titles. 
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In the course of 2013 was been started, for many companies in the group, a progressive use of social welfare, 
with the use of Contracts for Solidarity and, in exceptional cases, of the Special Layoff Benefits Fund. 
 
During the Board of Directors held January 9, 2014 it was approved the five-year plan developed by the 
company with the assistance of a leading international investment bank. During the process, it emerged the 
need to give continuity and efficiency to the business activity, to strengthen the financial structure, for which 
the management has activated itself and which had already defined, even before the 2013 financial year, a 
plan  for significant increase in capital, for which various solutions are being examined by the Council, as 
specified in the business outlook paragraph. 

Among the most relevant editorial and business initiatives for the period, there are: 

• the the success of Eccellenza Italiana has been confirmed: the first multimedia system (magazine-
website-App) designed to lead the Chinese tourists who come to Italy and those who in China are 
interested in the Made in Italy and its lifestyle. Created by Class Editori in partnership with Xinhua 
(New China Agency) and Italy-China Foundation, Eccellenza Italian allows Italian companies to get in 
touch and talk directly, to 500,000 Chinese people who are interested in visiting Italy and buy products 
made in Italy; 

• in February was presented Gentleman's Style, the book published by Class Editori during of the tenth 
anniversary of the magazine, with a very positive feedback from the sales; 

• in March was signed a letter of intent between Class Editori and NABA / Domus Academy (Laureate 
Group, the world's largest private university chaired by Bill Clinton) for the production of multimedia 
content and contexts associated with the design and art world; 

• it was finalized in March, the sale to Intesa Sanpaolo, at the price of €5 million, of 31.25% of Class 
Digital Service, the company in which were concentrated all the activities of the publishing house in the 
field of digital diffusion of data and of financial information. The operation aims at making more 
efficient, and therefore cheaper for customers, the distribution of data and information on the Italian and 
international financial markets, in the context of deregulation that allowed to the opening of the market 
to new negotiation platforms and the fixing of prices of alternative titles to those of the Italian Stock 
Exchange; the economic effect of this sale had been however recorded on an accrual basis in 2012; 

• in the early months of 2013 the publishing house was invited by the Chinese authorities to participate 
with their own installation to CHIC, the largest trade show and exposition of Chinese clothing and 
fashion. The installation, with more than 300 garments that have represented the best of Made in Italy, 
was a big hit, and has been requested in other exhibitions and Chinese fashion weeks; 

• starting from October, the audience data of channels out of home (TV Subways, airports, Highway stops 
and Buses) are now available in the software system Kubik ("probable Media Soft") in addition to those 
of Class TV (channel 27 of digital cable TV), used by all the media centers. For the first time it is 
therefore possible to calculate the benefits of an integrated media plan, capable of reaching audiences at 
home and on the go, estimating communication results and additional coverage. This result is extremely 
important for business purposes also in order to support the development strategy of the publishing 
house, which is strongly geared to digital. 

 
Regarding the financial situation, it must be noted that: 
 
 the total trade receivables increased from  55,04 million euro of 31 December 2012 to 57,38 million 

euro; 
 

 the total shareholders amounted to € 46.3 million against € 70.1 million at December 31, 2012;  

 The net financial position amounted to EUR -36.6 million, compared to EUR -16.2 million in 2012. 
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Details of the net financial position are as follows: 
 
€ (thousands) 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes 

2013/2012 
Change % 

Securities 5.000 -- (5.000) (100,0) 

Receivables from banks 14.934 5.297 (9.637) (64,5) 

Non-current financial receivables 133 -- (133) (100,0) 

Current financial receivables 47.949 35.306 (12.643) (26,4) 

Non- current financial payables (52) (6.027) (5.975) n.s. 

Current financial payables to banks (84.166) (71.131) 13.035 15,5 
     
Net financial position (16.202) (36.555) (20.353) (125,6) 

 
In implementation of Directive 2003/51/EC (“Modernization of Accounts Directive”) ratified by Legislative 
Decree 32/2007 and the consequent amendments to article 2428 of the Italian Civil Code, below we present 
the main information 
- the financial result indicators; 
- the analysis of risks and uncertainties to which the company is exposed; 
- Information concerning the environment and personnel  
- analysis of the sectors in which the company operated (business segments). 
 
Financial parameters 
 
For a better understanding of the company’s financial and equity situation and result, we include a 
comparison of certain financial indicators/ratios for two reference periods, and the outline of the income 
statement reclassified in accordance with the weight of each business areas 

€uro/000 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes  % 

    Revenues from sales 29.106 28.363 (2,6) 
Internal production -- -- -- 
Value of production 29.106 28.363 (2,6) 
External operating costs (43.747) (48.703) 11,3 
Added value (14.641) (20.340) (38,9) 
Cost of personnel  (2.704) (2.131) (21,2) 
Gross operating profit (GOP)  (17.345) (22.471) (29,3) 
Depreciation, amortisation and provisions (2.329) (3.769) 61,8 
Operating profit (19.674) (26.240) (33,4) 
Results of the ancillary area 3.439 2 (99,9) 
Net results of the financial area -- -- -- 
Normalized EBIT (16.235) (26.238) (61,6) 
Results of the non-recurring area 416 (2.969) n.s. 
Total EBIT  (15.819) (29.207) (84,6) 
Net financial income (charges) (3.837) (1.460) (61,9) 
Profit before tax (19.656) (30.667) (56,0) 
Income taxes 5.675 6.948 22,4 
Net profit (13.981) (23.719) (69,7) 
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Total revenues for the past five years are presented below together with the principal financial statement 
indexes: 
 
€uro/000 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

Total revenues 46.582 48.650 64.549 35.818 30.048 

Net profit 1.281 (477) 8.186 (13.981) (21.210) 

      
 
 

 31/12/12 31/12/13  

Financing of fixed assets      
     Fixed asset coverage-Primary indicator 
(Own Equity-Fixed Assets) 

€/000 9.621 (20.234)  

     Primary capital ratio  
(Own Equity / Fixed Assets) 

% 1,16 0,70  

     Fixed asset coverage-Secondary indicator 
(Own Equity + L.T. Liabilities-Fixed Assets) 

€/000 10.766 (13.780)  

     Secondary capital ratio 
(Own Equity + L.T. Liabilities / Fixed Assets) 

% 1,18 0,79  

     
These ratios show the method of functioning of medium and long-term loans, and the composition of the 
sources of financing 

 

     
Borrowing ratios     
     Total debt-equity ratio 
(Long-term + Current Liabilities/ Own Equity) 

% 1,86 3,01  

     Financial debt-equity ratio 
(Loans + current liabilities / Own Equity) 

% 0,99 1,55  

     
These ratios aim at representing the composition of the sources of financing.  

     
Profitability ratios    
    Net ROE 

(Net Profit / Own Equity) 
% (19,94) (51,21)  

     Gross ROE 
(Profit before tax / Own Equity) 

% (28,03) (66,21)  

     ROI 
(Operating Result / Fixed Assets) 

% (32,52) (39,43)  

     ROS 
(Operating Profit / Revenues from sales) 

% (112,58) (169,82)  

     
The profitability ratios are those most frequently used in business economics practice to compare the 
company’s results and the structural sources of financing of operations 

 

 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 115 
 

 
    
Solvency indicators     
    
Working capital 
(Current Assets-Current Liabilities) 

€/000 10.153 (14.557) 

    Working capital ratio 
(Current Assets / Current Liabilities) 

% 1,08 (0,89) 

    Liquidity margin  
(Deferred Liquidity + Immediate Liquidity-Current Liabilities) 

€/000 9.756 (14.790) 

    Liquidity ratio 
(Deferred Liquidity + Immediate Liquidity / Current Liabilities) 

% 1,08 0,89 

    
The solvency ratios aim to represent current assets with respect to the company’s short-term commitments 

 
MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACED BY THE COMPANY 
 
The economic and financial crisis that hit the Western markets, and that has had a significant impact on the 
publishing market, is certainly at current state the main risk factor for the publishing house, whose 
advertising revenues account for about 55% of the total, generating greater margins. 
Communication investments by businesses, which are the basis of the advertising revenues of the publishing 
companies, are strongly dependent on the structural situation of the economy of the country. The desired and 
expected recovery of the economy, which is anchored to the recovery plan and to the five-year development 
plan of the publishing house, thus appears to be the main element of risk concerning the future of the 
company. 
Positive signals from the advertising market, as mentioned earlier, have been seen with a slowdown in the 
performance of the reduction in volume collections during the second half of 2013, compared to the first. 
The signals of the advertising market in 2014, however, seem to be still marked by caution. 
In this situation of uncertainty and risk of the Publisher, has continued to invest in products and rganizational 
structures, particularly commercial, both to seize every opportunity in the market and to counter the effects 
of the crisis.  
The consolidated financial statements and the financial statements of the Class Editori SpA have been 
prepared on a going concern basis, based on the assessment made by the Directors , as required by IAS 1,, on 
the ability of the company and of the publishing house to continue operating as a working entity, taking into 
account all the information available. The Directors have assessed the uncertainties inherent in the 
implementation of the Strategic Development Plan 2014 - 2018, approved on January 9, 2014, resulting from 
both (i) the current macroeconomic situation in the market, which may not allow for its full realization, or it 
could take longer time than estimated, and (ii) to strengthen the equity transaction, whose characteristics of 
implementation, once defined, may require an update of the Plan with a focus on different economic and 
business objectives which has been defined in that occasion. Considering the aforementioned, the Directors, 
based on the information available to them, believe that the uncertainties described above are not significant 
and can be overcome, and that it is reasonable to expect that the Publisher may nevertheless have adequate 
resources to continue its business in a foreseeable future. 
 
Credit risk associated with commercial relations with customer  
 
After the significant write-downs of loans made in the year just ended, the publishing house now has a solid 
portfolio characterized by primary customers. The stringent procedures for debt recovery and a more 
accurate selection of counter-parties for the future, should reduce the size of the write-downs. The value of 
the receivables shown in the balance sheet keeps anyway into account both the risk of non-collection, with 
appropriate write-downs, and the deferment of the time with its discounted cash flows related to the different 
expected time of collection of the receivables (time value), as required by international accounting standards. 
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Interest-rate risks 
 
The Group's policy does not include speculative investment in financial products. Despite the situation of the 
growing market interest rates, there were no transactions to hedge the exposure of banks. The resources are 
obtained, addition to the flow of current management, by the loans granted by the parent company and 
remunerated at normal market conditions. 
The worsening of the results over the past two years, which has led to a deterioration of the ratings of the 
companies of the group, and the financial crunch made by the banking system against businesses, has led to 
increasing interest rates, which in absolute value are deemed to have stabilized at the current paid levels. In 
any case, further changes in market interest rates may affect the returns on loans and the cost of funding, 
affecting the trends in financial income and expenses. At the moment, as mentioned, given the general 
situation of the economic recession, the interest rate curve expressed by the market and the overall level of 
interest paid by the company, the risk of further increases is limited. 
 
Exchange-rate risks 
 
The Publisher, with the exception of activities managed by the U.S. subsidiary Global Finance Inc., and for 
the services acquired directly from China on the production and distribution of the magazine Eccellenza 
Italian, operates almost entirely in the euro area. Transactions settled in currencies other than Euro are very 
limited. Therefore, no significant exchange rate risks are to be reported. 
 
Liquidity risks 
 
The current availability of cash and financial market crisis that from the banks has moved to the private 
sector definitely make it more difficult for the renewal of bank credit lines, commercial and financial, 
although at the moment these have all been renovated to the Publisher. 
The worsening of the financial situation during the year and increased levels of debt have forced the 
company to significantly increase the level of arrears to its suppliers. The Board of Directors on January 9, 
2014 approved the five-year plan developed by the company with the assistance of a leading international 
investment bank. During the process, it emerged the need to give continuity and efficiency to the business 
activity, to strengthen the financial structure, for which the management has activated itself and which had 
already defined, even before the 2013 financial year, a plan  for significant increase in capital, for which 
various solutions are being examined by the Council, as specified in the business outlook paragraph.. 
It is expected that the publishing house will be in a position to renew the lines expiring in the year; the loans 
are not subject to compliance with covenants for their maintenance. 
 
Information concerning the environment and personnel. 
 
There are no significant matters to be reported, given the specific nature of the Company’s activities. 
No damage has been caused to the environment, nor have any related penalties or charges been made. 
There have not been any events in the workplace involving injury of any kind to employees. 
 
Performance and relationships with subsidiaries and related parties 
 
Regarding relationships with subsidiary and affiliated companies, it should be noted that some of them are 
linked to the company by relationships of a financial and commercial nature, also as regards the re-debiting 
of operating costs and the crediting of part of the revenues arising from the advertising concession contract. 
The relationships of a financial nature with subsidiary and affiliated companies are based on market rates. 
 
There are relationships with related parties regarding commercial operations concerning leasing of real estate 
and related to facility management services, particularly with CIA (Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa), 
a loan, originally of 550,000 euros,to Case Editori S.r.l., regulated at market rates. Commercial and financial 
relations with stakeholders are regulated by the same conditions applied to suppliers and customers Below 
we show the details of operations among related parties as of 31st December 2013, including in compliance 
with the recent Consob announcement (n° 15 of 17th December 2008): 
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Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa (CIA) 
 
- Property lease contracts (as the lessee) regulated at market conditions, necessary for the 

performance of the production operations in the locations where Class Editori and its subsidiaries are 
located; 

- Facility management contracts (passive) for services provided by CIA to Class Editori and other 
companies in its group for the services and maintenance and management services of the above-cited 
properties; 

- During 2008, following the purchase by CIA of an important property complex adjacent to the 
Class registered office- with the partial designation of that complex for a purpose which will benefit the 
publishing house- Class paid CIA a security deposit of 2.0 million euros, including for the purpose of 
adapting the property to its needs; 

- (Active) contracts regulated at market conditions, for the supply of administrative, financial, 
technical and legal consulting services, both for the performance of CIA’s ordinary operations, and for 
the extraordinary projects underway involving financial and real property investments. 

 
Euroclass Multimedia Holding S.A. 

To be reported during the period is the purchase of shares by Class Editori corresponding to 5% of the share 
capital of Telesia, sold by Euroclass, at the price of EUR 525 000. The sale was based on a value attributed 
to Telesia of 10.5 million euro. 
 
The table shows the balance sheet and profit and loss account effects of the relationships described above: 
   
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Balance Sheet Relationships   

Receivables from related parties for loan 656 670 

Receivables from CIA Group for consulting services 10.249 11.343 

Receivables from CIA for deposit 2.000 2.000 

Receivables from CIA for loan 659 659 

Receivables from CIA Group for loan 180 1.082 

Prepayments for services by  Gruppo CIA  255 256 

Receivables from New Satellite Radio/World Space Italia  593 225 

Payables to New Satellite Radio/World Space Italia  -- -- 

Payables to CIA Group for rentals, facilities and services (1.468) (3.534) 

Payables for share acquisition  -- (525) 

Income statement relationships   

Revenues for administrative and consulting serv.provided to CIA group 345 150 

Income from recovery of expenses CIA Group   40 17 

Revenues for services to New Satellite Radio/Worldspace Italia  1.093 -- 

Receivable interest from New Satellite Radio 7 -- 

Receivable interest from Diana Bis  -- 16 

Costs of leasing from CIA (1.852) (1.887) 

Rental costs from Diana Bis (510) (1.026) 

Costs for facility services from CIA Group (576) (586) 

Costs for recovery of expenses CIA Group (40) (17) 
 
 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 118 
 

All equity investments were posted at their purchase cost and the quantitative aspects of these valuations 
were detailed in the Explanatory Notes to the 2013 Financial Statements 
 
As regards the valuation of other equity investments, though in some cases there were differences between 
the balance sheet value and the net equity value, no permanent impairments were found. 
 
Lastly, we specify, for the purposes of the provisions of Art. 10 of Act 72/83, that no assets booked in the 
financial statement as of 31st December 2013 have in the past been subject to financial or monetary 
revaluation 
 
Class Editori Spa carries out its activities at its registered office in Via Burigozzo 5, Milan and also at the 
following operative offices: 
Milan-Via Burigozzo 8 
Rome-Via Santa Maria in Via, 12  
 
As regard potential risks linked to legal disputes with customers, suppliers and other third parties, we specify 
that the management, including based on the indications provided by its counsel and in compliance with 
international accounting standards, considers the risk provisions allocated to be adequate, which as of 31 
December 2013 were equal to 143 thousand euro. 
  
Concerning ongoing disputes  we provide information regarding the most significant positions 
 
There is an ongoing dispute with the Inpgi by virtue of which the institute advancing claims on alleged 
violations of contributions that the company considers to be unfounded. Given the opportunity by a tax 
amnesty, introduced regarding disputes with the Inpgi, the publishing house has assessed convenient to 
adhere to the same relation to disputes relating to the early findings. In the course of 2013 have terminated 
the installment payments of the sums agreed upon, with full utilization of the funds of specifically allocated 
risks. 
While the dispute on the assessments conducted by Inpgi in 2007 is still ongoing.  The total amount 
requested is approximately 0.4 million Euros. For these, comforted by the evaluation of Ichino-Brugnatelli 
and Associates, in charge of the defense, it was not considered appropriate at the moment (including in 
compliance with IAS. 37) to make any provision. 
 
We note that within the time-frame established by Legislative Decree 196/03, the company issued the 
Programme Document on the Security of Personal Data for the year 2006, approved by the Internal Control 
Committee. This document is regularly updated.  
 
Research & development costs 
 
No significant investments were made in research & development during the period. 
 
Balance sheet highlights after 31st December 2013 
 
As of 8 January Angelo Sajeva, coming from Mondadori, of which he was president and chief executive 
officer, as well as vice president of Mediamond, has assumed the position of director for strategy and 
development of Class Editori and at the same time the position of President of Class Pubblicità, covered so 
far by the interim general manager and managing director of Class Editori, Andrea Mattei. 
 
On January 9, the Board of Directors approved the five-year business plan, which expects to achieve a ratio 
EBITDA / turnover of the publishing house of over 17%. by the end of the fifth year.  As already mentioned, 
during the preparation go the plan, it emerged the need to give continuity and efficiency to the business 
activity, to strengthen the financial structure, for which the management has activated itself and which had 
already defined, even before the 2013 financial year, a plan  for significant increase in capital, for which 
various solutions are being examined by the Council,  
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On January 24, 2014 was completed the acquisition equal to EUR 4 million, supported by an independent 
valuation from the Agora Finance fund, of 100% of the shares of the Aldebaran Srl company. The payment 
has been made partly in cash and partly by offsetting the credits that Class had towards counterparty. 
Aldebaran is the owner of technologies and activities related to the creation and development of outdoor 
channelTV Moby, made for buses, trams and metro trains, that is strategic and crucial for the subsidiary 
Telesia and for the growth of business in the world of out of the house TV and in general in the digital sector. 
 

On March 4
th

 and 6
th

 was presented to the world of advertising, to agencies and media centers, the new 
alimpsest of Class TV Channel 27 of the digital TV, starring the best-loved Italian fictions and most famous 
Hollywood movies, along with quality and useful everyday information to meet the need of intelligent 
entertainment and practical training of the high target to which is dedicated the programming of the channel. 
I Cesaroni and Distretto di Polizia, are among the many titles of great appeal aired from Sunday, March 9. 
 

On March 10
th

, was published the new special edition MF International China Italy, dedicated to the 
protagonists and business opportunities from and with China. Very positive feedback from the advertising 
revenues. 
 
At the end of March was released in China and Italy in the new issue of the Eccellenza Italiana magazine in 
mandarin, again with very encouraging feedback advertising revenue. 
 
Business outlook 
 
The Board of Class Editori, in view of the trend of publishing house in recent years and the prospects for the 
editorial and advertising market, examined the various options that are offered to the company for the future, 
aimed at strengthening the financial and capital structure, a prerequisite for the realization of the business 
plan approved by the Board on January 9th, to be pursued using the tools available in the current order and in 
the current market, even with the significant support of historical members. 
The latter have expressed their willingness, under certain conditions, to evaluate proposals for a financial and 
capital strengthening that will eventually be made by the company at the conclusion of the ongoing review of 
various alternatives. To this end, the Board has resolved to convene again by April 14, when it can be 
proposed to the shareholders a significant increase in capital in view of a possible formalization of its 
commitment to ensure the subscription, also of any unsubscribed shares, by its historical members 

At the same venue, the board of directors shall reserve the assessment of the opportunity to supplement or 
update the plan itself whereas it will be deemed necessary, to take into account possible scenarios that could 
have taken place in the period between the approval of the plan and the definition of the financial strategy 
that should maximize results. 
 
2014 has started with a few encouraging sign from the markets, and in particular from the advertising sector. 
In this context, still prevail queue positions by investors, with reductions or delays in planning by major 
customers. The visibility is therefore currently still quite limited. In this context of uncertainty, the Publisher 
is continuing with its rational cost containment and revenue developments. 
 
Board of Directors’ proposals 
 
 Dear Shareholders, 
We request that you approve the financial statement at 31st December 2012, and resolve to fully cover the 
loss for the period of 23.718.504 euro, by using the extraordinary reserve  
 

for the Board of Directors 
 

The Chairman 

Victor Uckmar 
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  Registered Office in Milano via M. Burigozzo, 5 
  Corporation stock € 10.417.313,50 fully paid 
  VAT number 08114020152 

  
Registration within the Economic & Administrative Index of the Chamber of Commerce of Milan 

under n°  1205471 
                 
    
 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION–ASSETS 
 

        
                
    ASSETS Notes   31/12/2012   31/12/2013 
                
  NON-CURRENT ASSETS           
    Intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 1   2.872.464   2.572.464 
    Other intangible fixed assets 2   1.467.277   1.477.427 
                
    Total intangible fixed assets     4.339.741   4.049.891 
                
    Tangible fixed assets 3   2.352.524   2.411.089 
    Equity investments 4   33.720.028   41.035.939 
    Financial receivables 5   133.294   -- 
    Trade receivables 6   17.066.688   16.177.861 
  Receivable for deferred taxes 7  612.716  777.348 
    Other receivables 8   2.889.208   2.879.208 

  TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS     61.114.199   67.331.336 
                
  CURRENT ASSETS           
    Inventory 9   397.018   233.316 
    Trade receivables 10   37.970.140   41.197.631 
  Securities 11  5.000.000   -- 
    Financial receivables 12   47.949.459   35.306.171 
    Tax receivables 13   12.779.569   19.651.734 
    Other receivables 14   20.390.896   16.951.703 
    Cash and cash equivalents  15   14.933.638   5.297.013 
                
  TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS      139.420.720   118.637.568 

  TOTAL ASSETS     200.534.919   185.968.904 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION- EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
 
 
 

                
    EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     31/12/2012   31/12/2013 
                
  NET EQUITY           
    Company capital     10.560.751   10.560.751 
    Share premium reserve     31.329.259   31.329.259 
    Legal reserve     2.543.881   2.543.881 
    Other reserves     39.667.935   25.489.644 
    Net profit (loss)     --   113.925 
    Net profit (loss) for the year     (13.981.383)   (23.718.504) 
                
  TOTAL NET EQUITY 16   70.120.443   46.318.956 
                
  NON CURRENT LIABILITIES           
    Financial payables 17   52.233   6.026.806 
    Provisions for liabilities and charges 18   838.001   143.025 
    Severance indemnities and other payroll provisions 19   254.815   284.168 
                
  TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     1.145.049   6.453.999 

                
                
  CURRENT LIABILITIES           
    Financial payables 20   84.166.130   71.131.321 
    Trade payables 21   40.037.748   56.359.086 
    Tax payables 22   151.786   500.767 
    Other payables 23   4.513.763   5.204.775 

  TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES     129.269.427   133.195.949 

  TOTAL LIABILITIES     130.414.476   139.649.948 

  TOTAL NET EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     200.534.919   185.968.904 
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SEPARATE INCOME STATEMENT 
 

                
    INCOME STATEMENT     31/12/2012   31/12/2013 
                
  REVENUES           
    Revenues     17.474.845   15.451.926 
    Other operating income     17.279.802   14.190.816 
                
  TOTAL REVENUES 25   34.754.647   29.642.742 
                
    Purchase costs 26   (1.549.337)   (1.364.670) 
    Service costs 27   (42.197.432)  (47.338.417) 
    Payroll costs 28   (2.703.532)   (2.130.521) 
    Other operating costs 29   (2.209.665)  (1.277.364) 
                
  Gross operating profit -Ebitda     (13.905.319)   (22.468.230) 
                
    Extraordinary income (charges) 30   415.555  (2.968.992) 
    Depreciation, amortization and write-downs 31   (2.329.062)   (3.769.218) 
                
  Operating profit - Ebit     (15.818.826)   (29.206.440) 
                
    Net financial income (charges) 32   (3.836.926)   (1.459.705) 
                
  Pre-tax profit     (19.655.752)   (30.666.145) 
                
    Income taxes 33   5.674.369  6.947.641 
                
  NET PROFIT     (13.981.383)  (23.718.504) 

                
 
Balances in the financial statements match those in the accounts. 
 
 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT AS OF 31st DECEMBER 2013 
 
 

(Euro) 

 
Note 31 December 2012 31 December 2013 

Net profit  (13.981.323) (23.718.504) 

    

Other components of comprehensive income    
    

Unrecognized actuarial gains (charges) not through the income statement 

(IAS 19)  

 -- (9.501) 

    

Taxes on other components of comprehensive income  -- -- 

    

Total components of comprehensive income, net of tax effect  -- -- 

    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (13.981.323) (23.728.005) 
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SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET EQUITY  31/12/2011 – 31/12/2012 
 
 

 

Corporatio

n stock  

Share 

premium 

reserve 

Legal 

reserve 

Extraordi. 

reserve 

IAS/IFRS 

transition 

reserve 

Stock 

option 

reserve 

Own shares 

Reserve 

Net profit for 

the year 

Total net 

equity 

BALANCES ON 

31/12/2011 

10.560.751 31.329.260 2.543.881 36.593.456 (5.295.736) 278.707 -- 8.185.945 84.196.264 

          

Movements 2012:          

Allocation of net profit    8.185.945    (8.185.945) -- 

Payment of dividends          

Other variations       (94.438)  (94.438) 

Result of the period:          

Income (charges) 

recognized in equity -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

-- -- 

Tot. Income (charges) 

recognized in equity -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

-- -- 

Net profit for the year        (13.981.383) (13.981.383) 

Comprehensive 

income for the year -- -- -- -- -- -- 

 

(13.981.383) (13.981.383) 

          

BALANCES ON 

31/12/2011 

10.560.751 31.329.260 2.543.881 44.779.401 (5.295.736) 278.707 (94.438) 

(13.981.383) 

70.120.443 

 
 
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET EQUITY 31/12/2012 – 31/12/2013 
 
 

 

Corporati

on stock  

Share 

premium 

reserve 

Legal 

reserve 

Extraordin. 

reserve 

Transition 

reserve 

IAS/IFRS 

 Stock 

Option 

reserve 

Own shares 

reserve 

Income 

(charges) 

Net profit for 

the year 

Total Net 

Equity 

Balances on  31/12/2012 10.560.751 31.329.260 2.543.881 44.779.401 (5.295.736) 278.707 (94.438)  (13.981.383) 70.120.443 

           

Movements 2013:           

Allocation of net profit    (13.981.383)     13.981.383 -- 

Variation IAS 19 on 

severance pay 

    (187.407)   113.925  (73.482) 

Result of the period:           

Income (charges) 

recognized in equity -- -- -- -- (9.501) -- 

  

-- (9.501) 

Tot. Income (charges) 

recognized  in equity -- -- -- -- (9.501) -- 

  

-- (9.501) 

Net profit for the year         (23.718.504) (23.718.504) 

Comprehensive 

income for the yea -- -- -- -- (9.501) -- 

  

(23.718.504) (23.728.005) 

           

BALANCES ON 31/12/2013 10.560.751 31.329.260 2.543.881 30.798.018 (5.492.644) 278.707 (94.438) 113.925 (23.718.504) 46.318.956 
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SCHEDULE OF CASH FLOW AS OF 31st DECEMBER 2013 
 

    (amounts in €)     31/12/2012   31/12/2013 
       
  Operating activities           
                
    Net profit for the year     (13.981.383)   (23.718.504) 
    Amortization and depreciation     1.049.562   1.140.848 
                
  Self-financing     (12.931.821)   (22.577.656) 
                
    Change in inventories     21.995   163.702 
    Change in trade receivables     64.939.442   (2.338.664) 
    Change in trade payables     (21.034.489)   15.921.338 
    Change in other current and non-current receivables     (32.230.638)   16.225.775 
    Change in other payables     (1.402.096)   691.012 
    Change in tax receivables/payables     (6.538.408)   (6.687.816) 
                
  Cash flow from operating activities (A)      (9.176.015)   1.397.691 
                
  Investment activities           
                
    Intangible fixed assets     (405.823)   (275.046) 
    Tangible fixed assets     (381.204)   (634.517) 
    Financial assets     106.631   (7.315.911) 
                
  Cash flows from investment activities (B)      (680.396)   (8.225.474) 
                
  Financing activities           
                
    Change in amounts due to banks and other lenders     14.098.362   (7.060.236) 
    Change in provisions     543.059   (694.976) 
    Change in severance indemnities     (3.542)   29.353 
    Payment of dividends     --   -- 
    Change in reserves     (94.438)   (82.983) 
                
  Cash flows from financing activities (C)     14.543.441   (7.808.842) 
                
  Change in liquid funds  (A)+(B)+(C)     4.687.030   (14.636.625) 
                
  Liquid funds at start of year     15.246.608   19.933.638 
                
  Liquid funds at end of year     19.933.638   5.297.013 

    

  
 
           

for the Board of Directors 
The Chairman 

Victor Uckmar 
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Class Editori Spa 
Registered Office in Milano, via M. Burigozzo, 5 

Share Capital € 10.560.751,00 fully paid 
 Milan Business Register (REA) no. 1205471 

VAT Number  08114020152 

 
Notes to the financial statements closed on 

31/12/2013 

Criteria of formation 
 
The financial statement at 31st December 2013 were drawn up in compliance with the International 
Accounting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 
ratified by the European Union. IFRS is understood to include all the revised International Accounting 
Standards (“IAS”) and all the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (“IFRIC”), previously named the Standing Interpretations Committee (“SIC”). European 
Regulation (CE) n° 1606/2002 of 19th July 2002 introduced the obligation to apply the above Standards 
(“IFRS”) starting with the 2005 financial year, when consolidated financial statements are prepared for 
companies whose stocks and/or debt securities are listed on one of the markets regulated by the European 
Community. Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005 adopted this European Regulation into Italian legislation. 
The legislator also extended use of the IFRS, on a voluntary basis, to preparation of the separate and/or 
consolidated financial statements of unlisted companies. 
 
 

Declaration of compliance with International Accounting Standards 
 
The 2013 Financial Statements were prepared in compliance with International Accounting Standards (IAS) 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) and the relative interpretations of  the International Financial Reporting Committee (IFRC) 
ratified by the European Commission according to the procedure set forth in Art. 6 of Regulation 
n°1606/2002 of 19th July 2002 of the European Parliament and the Council, in effect at the reference date of 
the Financial Statement. The IAS/IFRS have been applied with reference to the “framework for the 
preparation and presentation of financial statements,” with particular reference to the fundamental principle 
of substance over form, while ensuring that the information provided is both significant and meaningful. The 
interpretative documents on the application of the IFRS in Italy, issued by the Italian Accounting Body 
(OIC), have also been considered. 
 
Form and content 
 
The Company’s Financial Statement was prepared in compliance with IFRS and includes the Balance Sheet, 
Income Statement, Statement of Changes to Net Equity and these Explanatory Notes, and is accompanied by 
the Report on Management.  
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The financial statements, audited, has been drafted according to the international accounting standards IAS / 
IFRS homologated by Regulation (EC) No. 1126/2008 of the European Commission, taking into account the 
recommendations contained in Consob resolution no. 15519 dated 27 July 2006 and Consob communication 
DEM/6064293 of July 28, 2006. 
 
The data in the comparative period have also been reclassified in accordance with IAS / IFRS. 

Accounting principles adopted 

The accounting policies adopted for the preparation of the financial statements as of 31st December 2013 are 
unchanged with respect to those applied in the prior year 
 
In accordance with IAS 1 and taking into account the joint document of Banca d'Italia, Consob, ISVAP n.2 
dated 6the February 2009, have been provided, in the relevant sections of the Report on Operations, the 
information regarding the macroeconomic environment, the development Plan and the strengthened balance 
sheet. Therefore, the Directors, taking into account the exposed framework and initiatives put in place, 
consider the reasonable expectation that the company together with the Publisher may have adequate 
resources to continue its operations in the foreseeable future and, consequently, have adopted the the going 
concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2013. 
 
Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations in force on 1st January 2013 
 
The following accounting standards, amendments and interpretations, also as a result of the process of the 
IASB's annual improvements have been applied for the first time since January 1, 2013: 

• Amendment to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements  – This amendment was issued by the 
IASB in June 2011 and is applicable to financial statements for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 
and requires the pooling of items in the statement of comprehensive income into two categories 
depending on whether they can or can not subsequently be reclassified in the income statement. The 
adoption of this amendment did not have a material effect on the information provided in these 
consolidated financial statements.  

• Amendment to IAS 19 - Employee Benefits  – This amendment was issued by the IASB in June 2011 and 
is effective from 1 January 2013. Such amendment in addition to eliminating the option to defer the 
recognition of gains and losses, by using the corridor method, requires the recognition of expenses related 
to job performance and net financial expenses in the income statement, registration of actuarial gains and 
losses arising from the remeasurement of liabilities and assets in the statement of comprehensive income. 
In addition, the return on assets controlled by the level of benefits will be calculated on the basis of the 
discount rate liabilities and no longer as the expected return on assets. The amendment also requires 
additional information to be provided in the notes to the financial statements.  

• Amendments to IAS 12 - Income Taxes  – The amendment was issued by the IASB in December 2010 
and is applicable from 1 January 2013, it introduces the assumption to deferred tax assets that the 
underling asset will be entirely recovered through sale unless there is a clear evidence that recovery can 
occur with usage. The presumption will be applied to investment properties and assets recognized as plant 
and equipment or intangible assets recognized at fair value or revalued. As a result of these changes, the 
interpretation SIC 21 Income Taxes - Recovery of Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets - will be repealed. 

 
• Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures -– The IASB in December 2011, has issued 

amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amendment requires information on the 
effect or potential effect of offsetting of financial assets and liabilities on the balance sheet. The 
amendments shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013 and interim periods 
after that date. The information must be provided retrospectively. The adoption of this amendment did not 
have significant effects on the statements. 
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• IFRS 13 - Fair value assessment – The standard, issued by the IASB in May 2011 is effective from 1 
January 2013. The standard defines fair value, it clarifies how it must be measured and introduces a 
common information to all items measured at fair value. The principle applies to all transactions or 
balances that another standard requires or permits the measurement at fair value, its adoption had no 
impact on the valuation of balance sheet items included in the these consolidated financial statements, but 
it required an integration of information with regard to the fair value at the reporting date, the valuation 
techniques and inputs used to develop those assessments.  

Evaluation criteria 

The evaluation criteria adopted for the preparation of the financial statements are summarized below: 

Fixed assets 
 
Intangible fixed assets 
 
Intangible fixed assets acquired separately are capitalized at cost and 
amortised over their estimated residual useful lives. Their useful lives are 
reviewed yearly and, where possible, any changes are made on a 
prospective basis. Except for development costs, the internal costs of 
creating intangible fixed assets are not capitalized and are expensed as 
incurred. Intangible fixed assets are reviewed annually to identify any 
losses in value: these reviews can be performed on individual intangible 
fixed assets or on units generating financial flows. 
 
Real Estate Investments and Tangible Fixed Assets 
 
Tangible fixed assets and real estate investments are recorded at purchase 
cost. The purchase cost is represented by the fair value of the price paid 
to acquire the asset plus all direct costs incurred to make the asset fit for 
use. Costs incurred to expand, modernize or improve property that is 
owned or leased are only capitalized to the extent that they meet the 
criteria for separate classification as assets or parts of an asset. 
Land areas, whether undeveloped or linked to civil or industrial 
buildings, are recorded separately and are not amortized, as their useful 
life is unlimited. The depreciation charged to the income statement is 
determined with reference to the expected utilization, allocation and 
residual economic-technical lives of the assets concerned, as summarized 
in the following table: 

 
- buildings: 30 years 
- Equipment: 4 years 
- Furniture and office machines: 8 years 
 
The depreciation criteria, useful lives and residual values are reviewed 
and revised at the end of each accounting period, or more frequently, in 
order to take any significant changes into account 

Receivables Trade receivables are recorded at the fair value of the related future cash 
flows, less any impairment write-downs 

Payables Payables are recorded at their nominal value. The company does not  
discount payables as this is considered too burdensome compared with  
the importance of their impact on the balance sheet. 
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Accruals and deferrals Accruals and deferrals are determined in accordance with the matching 
principle. For accruals and deferrals extending over more than one year, 
the original basis for recording them is reviewed and changes are made 
where necessary 

Equity investments Those in subsidiary, affiliated and other companies which it is planned to 
retain for a long period are entered at their purchase or subscription cost. 
The main differences between balance sheet value and share of net equity 
are indicated in the following tables. 
 

Financial assets at fair value 
and posted to the income 
statement 

This category comprises securities and equity mainly purchased for short 
-term trading or held for sale, posted to “securities held for trading ”in the 
current assets section, financial assets which at the moment of initial 
measurement are designated at the fair value posted to the income 
statement, posted to “other financial assets”and derivates (except those 
designated as effective hedge instruments), posted to “derivative financial 
instruments”. They are posted at their fair value liabilities and set off in 
the income statement. Accessory costs are posted to the income 
statement. The purchases and sales of these financial assets are recorded 
on the date of payment. 
 

Employee severance 
indemnities 

The provision for severance indemnities covers the liability to all 
employees accrued at the reporting date, pursuant to current legislation 
and labour contracts. Severance indemnities are determined in accordance 
with IAS 19, by applying an actuarial method (projected unit credit 
method) based on demographic assumptions, as well as the discount rate 
needed to reflect the time value of money, the inflation rate, and current 
and future salary levels. The resulting actuarial gains and losses are 
recognised in the income statement as income or costs when the 
cumulative net value of the actuarial gains and losses not recognised at 
the end of the previous year exceeds by more than 10% the greater of the 
defined benefit plan liability or the fair value of the plan assets at that 
date. These gains or losses are recognised over the average expected 
residual working lives of those employees who are part of this plan. 

Revenue recognition 

 

Leasing 

Revenues from sales of products and/or services are recognised upon 
transfer of ownership and/or completion of the service. Financial 
revenues and those deriving from services recognised on an accruals 
basis 
 
Leasing contracts related to assets in which the Group essentially 
undertakes all the risks and enjoys all the benef its deriving from 
ownership are classified as financial leasing contracts, as specified in IAS 
17. Where there are leasing operations, the financially leased asset is 
booked at either its current value or the current value of the contractually 
agreed minimum instalments, whichever of the two is the lower. The total 
amount of the instalments is spread between financial charges and capital 
repayments so as to achieve a constant interest rate on the residual debt. 
The residual leasing instalments, net of financial costs, are classified as 
non-current liabilities. Loan charges are booked to the income statement 
throughout the duration of the contract. Financially leased assets are 
amortized in the same way as owned assets 
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Income taxes 

Income taxes recorded to reflect the estimated amount payable in accordance with current fiscal regulations. 
Advance and deferred taxation is calculated according to the temporary differences between the assets and 
liabilities booked in the financial statements and the corresponding values recognised for fiscal 
purposes,carrying forward tax debits or unused tax credits, provided that the recovery (prepayment) 
decreases (increases) future tax payables with respect to those that would have been payable if such recovery 
(prepayment) had not had fiscal effects: The fiscal effects of operations are booked to the profit and loss 
account or directly to net equity using the same procedures as the operations or events that gave rise to the 
tax. 

Translation of foreign currency amounts 

Receivables and payables originally expressed in foreign currencies are recorded using the exchange rates in 
force on the date of the related transactions. They are aligned with current exchange rates at the reporting 
date. Net exchange losses are recognized by creating a provision for exchange fluctuations 

Guarantees, commitments and risks 

Guarantees and commitments are reported in the memorandum accounts at their contractual value. 
Contingencies that are likely to result in a liability are reported in the explanatory notes and appropriate 
provisions for liabilities are recorded. Contingencies that only might result in a liability are described in the 
explanatory notes without recording any provisions, consistent with the related accounting standards. 
Remote risks are not taken into account 

Employment data 

The average number of employees, broken down by category, has changed compared to the previous year, in 
the following way. 

Personnel 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes 

Executives 1 -- (1) 

Managers and office employees 23 15 (8) 

Journalists and trainees 24 23 (1) 

 48 38 (10) 

The printing and publishing sector labor contract is used 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 132 
 

 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

ASSETS 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

1) Intangible fixed assets with an indefinite life 

Balance at 31/12/2012 € 2.872.464 
Balance at 31/12/2013 € 2.572.464 
 € (300.000) 

 
Movements of intangible assets with an indefinite life 

 
Value on Depreciation Value on

Item 31/12/2012 Increases Decreases 31/12/2013

Goodwill for Nistri Listri 122.464 0 0 0 122.464
Class Life publication 2.750.000 0 0 300.000 2.450.000

Total 2.872.464 0 0 300.000 2.572.464

 
 
The title Class Life was acquired in 2006 and was written down by € 300,000 at the end of 2013 following 
the outcome of the impairment test carried out by the management of the company.  
 

2) Other intangible fixed assets 

Balance on 31/12/2012 € 1.467.277 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 1.477.427 
 € 10.151 

 
Overall movements in intangible fixed assets    

 
Value on Value on

Item 31/12/2012 Increases Decreases Depreciation 31/12/2013

Software 1.463.077 575.046 564.896 1.473.227
Trademarks and patents 4.200 0 0 0 4.200

Total 1.467.277 575.046 0 564.896 1.477.427
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Other intangible fixed assets 
 
This heading includes expenses incurred for software purchases. 
Pursuant to art. 2427, n° 2 of the Italian Civil Code, the table below states the changes in intangible fixed 
assets 
 

Costi d'impianto 
e ampliamento

Costi di 
ricerca, 

sviluppo e 
pubblicità

Diritti di 
brevetto 

industriale

Concessioni 
licenze, marchi

Avviamento Immobilizz. 
in corso e 

acconti

Altre 
immobilizzaz.

Totale

COSTO STORICO                4.200            6.984.259             6.988.459 
rivalutazioni prec.
svalutazioni prec.
ammortamenti prec.           (5.521.182)           (5.521.182)
SALDO INIZIALE                4.200            1.463.077             1.467.277 
acquisizioni dell'esercizio               575.046                575.046 
riclassifiche
(-)
riclassifiche 
(+) 
alienazioni dell'esercizio
rivalutazioni dell'esercizio
svalutazioni dell'esercizio
ammortamenti dell'esercizio              (564.896)              (564.896)
SALDO                4.200            1.473.227             1.477.427 

movimentazione ex art. 2426, nr.3

SALDO FINALE                4.200            1.473.227             1.477.427 
 

3) Tangible fixed assets 

Balance on 31/12/2012 € 2.352.523 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 2.411.089 
 € 58.566 

Land and buildings 

Descrizione Importo

Costo storico 128.180
Ammortamenti esercizi precedenti 46.684
Saldo al 31 dicembre 2012 81.496

Acquisizioni dell'esercizio 0
Cessioni dell'esercizio 0
Ammortamento dell'esercizio 3.845

Saldo al 31/12/2013 77.651  
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Plant and machinery 

Descrizione Importo

Costo storico 4.069.050
Ammortamenti esercizi precedenti 3.090.452
Saldo al 31 dicembre 2012 978.598

Acquisizioni dell'esercizio 101.544
Cessioni dell'esercizio 0
Ammortamento dell'esercizio 166.567

Saldo al 31/12/2013 913.575  
 

Industrial and commercial equipment 

Descrizione Importo

Costo storico 176.148
Ammortamenti esercizi precedenti 176.148
Saldo al 31 dicembre 2012 0

Acquisizioni dell'esercizio 0
Cessioni dell'esercizio 0
Ammortamento dell'esercizio 0

Saldo al 31/12/2013 0  
 
Other assets 
 
Furniture and office equipment 

 
Descrizione Importo

Costo storico 2.619.788
Ammortamenti esercizi precedenti 2.247.705
Saldo al 31 dicembre 2012 372.083

Acquisizioni dell'esercizio 229.377
Cessioni dell'esercizio 0
Ammortamento dell'esercizio 89.746

Saldo al 31/12/2013 511.714   
 
Electronic equipment 

 
Descrizione Importo

Costo storico 5.148.160
Ammortamenti esercizi precedenti 4.465.053
Saldo al 31 dicembre 2012 683.107

Acquisizioni dell'esercizio 168.343
Cessioni dell'esercizio 0
Ammortamento dell'esercizio 240.521

Saldo al 31/12/2013 610.929  
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Vehicles 

 
Descrizione Importo

Costo storico 213.556
Ammortamenti esercizi precedenti 213.556
Saldo al 31 dicembre 2012 0

Acquisizioni dell'esercizio 42.000
Cessioni dell'esercizio 0
Ammortamento dell'esercizio 2.647

Saldo al 31/12/2013 39.353  
 
 
Mobile phones 
 

Descrizione Importo

Costo storico 13.942
Ammortamenti esercizi precedenti 13.811
Saldo al 31 dicembre 2012 131

Acquisizioni dell'esercizio 0
Cessioni dell'esercizio 0
Ammortamento dell'esercizio 49

Saldo al 31/12/2013 82  
 
 
Improvements to third-party assets 
 

Descrizione Importo

Costo storico 787.905
Ammortamenti esercizi precedenti 550.799
Saldo al 31 dicembre 2012 237.106

Acquisizioni dell'esercizio 93.254
Cessioni dell'esercizio 0
Ammortamento dell'esercizio 72.578

Saldo al 31/12/2013 257.782  
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For greater clarity, the movements of tangible fixed assets are set out in the following table 
 

Terreni e 
Fabbricati

Impianti e 
macchinario

Attrezz. 
Industriali e 
commerciali

Altri beni
Immobilizz. in 

corso e 
acconti

Totale

COSTO STORICO          128.180             4.069.050              176.148            8.783.357           13.156.735 
rivalutazioni prec.
Oneri finanziari
svalutazioni prec.
ammortamenti prec.           (46.684)           (3.090.452)             (176.148)           (7.490.927)         (10.804.211)

SALDO INIZIALE            81.496                978.598                        -              1.292.430             2.352.524 

acquisizioni dell'esercizio                101.544               532.973                634.517 

riclassifiche
(-)
riclassifiche 
(+) 
Oneri finanziari

alienazioni dell'esercizio                          -   

rivalutazioni dell'esercizio

svalutazioni dell'esercizio

ammortamenti dell'esercizio             (3.845)              (166.567)                        -                (405.540)              (575.952)

SALDO            77.651                913.575                        -              1.419.863             2.411.089 

ammort. anticipati fiscali

movimentazione ex art. 2426, 
nr.3
SALDO FINALE            77.651                913.575                        -              1.419.863             2.411.089  
 

4) Equity investments 

Balance on 31/12/2012 € 33.720.028 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 41.035.939 
 € 7.315.911 

Equity investments 

Balance Balance
Description 31/12/2012 Increases Decreases Reclassific. Write-downs 31/12/2013

Subsidiary companies 26.584.671 4.335.768 0 7.593.811 -2.208.769 36.305.481

Affiliate companies 3.925.543 42.857 0 0 0 3.968.400

Other companies 3.209.814 5.146.055 0 -7.593.811 0 762.058

33.720.028 9.524.680 0 0 -2.208.769 41.035.939
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Equity holdings in subsidiary companies 

Item 31/12/2012 Increases Re-classifica. Decreases
/Write-downs

31/12/2013

Class Editori Service 382.925 0 0 0 382.925
Class CNBC 200.281 0 0 0 200.281
Class Meteo Services 340.000 0 0 0 340.000
CFN/CNBC Holding 2.012.796 0 0 0 2.012.796
I Love Italy Srl 2.037 0 0 0 2.037
Campus Editori 392.100 0 0 0 392.100
Classpi 0 11.482 7.593.811 312.293 7.293.000
Country Class Editori Srl 3.150.570 500.000 0 579.570 3.071.000
Assinform Srl 1.652.760 0 0 0 1.652.760
New Satellite Radio 0 49.286 0 0 49.286
DP Analisi Finanz. 209.499 0 0 0 209.499
Edis 156.084 50.000 0 0 206.084
Ex.Co 178.686 0 0 0 178.686
Lombard Editori 26.475 0 0 0 26.475
MF Conference 8.972 0 0 0 8.972
MF Service 87.465 0 0 0 87.465
Milano Finanza Edit. 5.312.347 2.100.000 0 0 7.412.347
Radio Classica 2.048.669 600.000 0 0 2.648.669
Telesia Sistemi 5.008.021 525.000 0 0 5.533.021
TV Moda 1.214.406 500.000 0 1.076.906 637.500
MF Dow Jones News 56.447 0 0 0 56.447
Fashion Work Business Club 240.000 0 0 240.000 0
Class Tv Service 10.329 0 0 0 10.329
Class Digital Service 3.872.748 0 0 0 3.872.748
ClassInt Advertising 11.054 0 0 0 11.054
Class Servizi Televisivi 10.000 0 0 0 10.000
Total 26.584.671 4.335.768 7.593.811        2.208.769 36.305.481

 
Regarding the changes in equity holdings in subsidiaries in the financial year, we describe the most 
significant operations here 
 
 the conclusion, on 20 March 2013, of the sale to Intesa Sanpaolo, at the price of 5 million, of 31.25% of 

Class Digital Service, the new company in which were concentrated activities of the publishing house in 
the field of digital distribution of data and financial information, namely E-Class Spa and Spa PMF 
News. The amount was fully embedded into the same date; 
 

 On April 24, 2013 Class Editori purchased from Euroclass Multimedia Holding SA at a price of € 
525,000, an additional sahre of Telesia SpA, increasing its shareholding from 80,625% to 85,625%; 

 
 again on April 24, 2013 Class purchased from Agora Finance, 14,031 shares of Milano Finanza Editori 

SpA at a price of € 2,100,000, bringing its stake in the company from 81,827% to 84,327%. The 
payment of the compensation of the payables towards Agora Finance for € 2,020,000, and with 
monetary settlement for the difference; 

 
 On 29 May 2013 was signed a private contract for the purchase of 33 % of the shares of Class 

Advertising, at the price of EUR 5.1 million , bringing its shareholding from 18% to 51%. It must  be 
noted that, for the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, the results of the income 
statement of the company were, in compliance with international accounting standards, recognized 
only for the period of ownership, meaning for the last 7 months of the year. To represent, however, 
the comparison with the same period of last year in a more clear and homogeneous way, given the 
fact that the entire advertising of Classpi is attributable to the Class Group by virtue of the 
advertising concession agreements in force, advertising revenues for the year, and the related costs, 
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have been treated as if they were entirely the responsibility of the publishing house, and this without 
affecting the consolidated net profit for the period, thus providing an accurate representation of 
revenues and costs of the advertising industry; 

 
 in August the company acquired full control of the company New Satellite Radio Srl for a total amount 

of EUR 50 thousand offset by a receivable from the company;  

 throughout the period there have been some sacrifices in financial receivables from subsidiaries. In 
detail, Class Editori has given up on financial receivables from Edis Srl for EUR 50,000, towards Radio 
Classica Srl for € 600,000, TV Moda for €500 000 and towards Country Class Srl for EUR 500,000. 
These sacrifices were made in order to provide the subsidiaries of more capital assets; 

 the impairment tests carried out by the management on the main assets of the company led to the write-
down of certain investments in subsidiaries. In particular, we have written down the investments in 
Class Pubblicità for EUR 312 293, in Country Class Editori to EUR 579 570, Fashion Work Business 
Club for € 240,000 and € 1,076,906 for TV Moda. While keeping the strategic importance of the 
investments in question, the company has carried out a reduction of the carrying value for a fair value 
adjustment of the company. 

 
Equity holdings in affiliated enterprises 

Value on Write-downs Value on
Item 31/12/2012 Increases Disposals Other 31/12/2013

Borsa 7 Editori 1 0 0 0 0 1
Editorial Class 14.610 0 0 0 0 14.610
Italia Oggi Erinne 3.397.505 0 0 0 0 3.397.505
Class Roma 2.066 0 0 0 0 2.066
Emprimer 4.102 0 0 0 0 4.102
Classpi Digital 5.831 0 0 0 0 5.831
Upcuber 300.000 0 0 0 0 300.000
Class Horse TV 201.428 42.857 0 0 0 244.285

Total 3.925.543 42.857 0 0 0 3.968.400
 

Regarding the changes in equity holdings in affiliated companies in the financial year, we describe the most 
significant operations here: 

 During the year, Class Editori waived financial receivables from Class Horse TV Srl for an overall 
42,857 euros in order to give the latter the financial means to address the difficult crisis situation in the 
publishing sector 

 over the course of the previous year were subscribed shares in the company Upcube Srl, for a total of 
25% of the share capital. The company is in the start up phase, as aims at providing consultancy 
services, organization of events and aims to develop a portal for online sales of goods and services, 
already active under the domain www. giraffare.it. The participation, given the recent purchase and 
involvement in the development stage, has been valued at cost. 

 
Equity holdings in other enterprises  

Value on Fair value write- value on
Item 31/12/2012 Acquisitions Reclassificat. adjustment down 31/12/2013

Analitica 7 0 0 0 0 7
Il Manifesto 10.329 0 0 0 0 10.329
Proxitalia 4.695 0 0 0 0 4.695
Consedit 28 0 0 0 0 28
Classpi 2.488.382 5.105.430 -7.593.812 0 0 0
MF Servizi Editoriali 104 0 0 0 0 104
Banca Popolare di Vicenza 406.270 40.625 0 0 0 446.895
Entropic 300.000 0 0 0 0 300.000

Total 3.209.815 5.146.055 -7.593.812 0 0 762.058
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Information regarding equity holdings held is also provided: 

Name City or State Share capital % ownership 
share 

Profit 
(Loss) 

Book Value Net equity 

Campus Editori  Milan  50.000 70 11.751 392.100 38.343 
Country Class Editori  Milan  10.329 100 (185.485) 3.650.570 25.536 
Class Pubblicità  Milan  260.000 51 138.248 7.605.293 99.685 
Edis  Milan  10.400 99,5 8.836 206.084 15.652 
Lombard Editori  Milan  52.000 50,1 32.216 26.475 107.850 
MF Conference  Milan  10.329 51 (13.735) 8.972 12.452 
Milano Finanza Edit.  Milan  291.837 84,327 248.363 7.412.347 375.345 
MF Service Milan  10.000 75,01 209.985 87.465 12.409 
DP Analisi Finanz.  Milan  47.500 94,73 546 209.499 64.702 
Ex.Co. Milan  17.000 100 (33.944) 178.686 100.103 
Global Finance M. ($) USA  151 $ 73,52 486.838 $ -- 1.274.170 $ 
Class Digital Service Milan  100.000 68,75 (15.632) 3.872.748 3.860.672 
Editorial Class  Spain  60.101 44 n/a  14.611 n/a  
CFN CNBC Holding Holland 702.321 68,43 (27.930) 2.012.796 5.803.951 
Italia Oggi Erinne  Milan  10.000 47 81.050 3.397.505 28.281 
MF Servizi Editoriali  Milan  10.400 1 17.605 103 284 
Class Roma  Milan  10.400 20 (64.792) 2.066 (5.456) 
Analitica @           Milan  25.000 0,03 n/a  7 n/a  
Borsa 7 Editori @ Milan  52.000 14 n/a  1 n/a  
Il Manifesto    @    Rome  454.171 0,0579 n/a  10.329 n/a  
GSC-Proxitalia  @ Rome 258.228 3 n/a  4.695 n/a  
Consedit  @ Milan 20.000 0,27 n/a  28 n/a  
Class Cnbc  Milan  627.860 2,73 689.646 200.281 77.440 
Radio Classica Milan 10.000 99 (594.898) 2.648.669 47.814 
Telesia                   Rome 1.500.000 85,62 (82.550) 5.533.021 2.296.497 
Emprimer Spa @ Milan 1.000.000 10 n/a  4.102 n/a  
MF Dow Jones News Milan 100.000 50 (195.932) 56.447 302.631 
Fashion Work B. Club Milan 10.400 100 (11.300) 240.000 28.636 
Classpi Digital Rome 10.400 23 (14.576) 5.831 131.152 
Entropic Sinergy  1.220.200 4,97 n/a  300.000 n/a  
I Love Italy  10.000 51 n/a  2.037 n/a  
Class Meteo Services Milan 10.000 100 (626.874) 340.000 (598.381) 
Class Horse TV Milan 100.000 30 (2.264.46

7) 
244.286 (638.439) 

TV Moda Milan 40.000 51 (370.213) 1.714.406 (163.225) 
Assinform/Dal Cin Pordenone 50.000 95 10.880 1.652.760 299.459 
Class Editori Service 
ClassInt Advertising 

Milan  
Milan 

300.000 100 (73.122) 382.925 37.392 

Class Servizi Televisivi  Milan 10.000 100 (4.408) 11.054 4.775 
Class TV Service  Milan 10.000 100 61.545 10.000 56.350 
Up Cube  Milan 10.400 100 71.215 10.329 141.120 
Banca Pop. Vicenza  Vicenza 119.000 25 n/a  300.000 n/a  
New Satellite Milan 10.000 100 (13.783) 49.286 5.682 
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In relation to the provisions of Art. 2426 of the Italian Civil Code, we specify that the qualified holdings are 
booked at their purchase cost. Regarding the significant differences between the book value and net asset 
share, notwithstanding the fact that none of these equity holdings has suffered a lasting loss of value 
compared with its purchase cost, we would point out the following: 

 Campus Editori Srl: the company, besides organizing the exhibition of the student and hold the 
corresponding brand, owns the publication Campus at unexpressed  assets.  specific impairment test was 
conducted which did not show the conditions for a write-down of the book value of the holding 

 Classpi - Class Pubblicità Spa: as a sub-agent, the company manages the advertising collection 
activities for all the editorial and electronic publications of the publishing house.  A specific impairment 
test was conducted which has led to an overall value enhancement of the company of € 14.3 million, 
resulting in an impairment of the investment of EUR 312 293. 

 Milano Finanza Editori Spa: this is the company which publishes Milano Finanza and MF. This 
equity holding, of strategic importance to the group, has a book value that is much lower than its 
effective value. In any case a specific impairment test was conducted which did not show the conditions 
for a write-down of the book value of the holding. 

 DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl: this company publishes manuals for the insurance and financial world. 

 Italia Oggi Editori - Erinne Srl: this company publishes Italia Oggi, whose book value is substantially 
less than its actual value. A specific impairment test was conducted which did not show the conditions 
for a write-down of the book value of the holding 

 ExCo Srl: since 1992 this company has worked as a press agency and has long -term contracts for 
supplying its news. Given the unique nature of the relationships that the company has and its profit 
outlook, no loss of value of the controlling stake is thought possible 

 GSC Proxitalia Spa: his is the leading company in Italy in the supply of internet solutions for banks 
and financial institutions. It was purchased in May 2000 and Class Editori holds 3% of the capital. In 
view of its highly innovative business and the results achieved, the book value is considered appropriate 

 Telesia Spa: the shareholding was purchased in 2001. It specializes in the field of designing, building 
and managing video-information systems for the public. 

 Fashion Work Business Club Srl: the holding was acquired during 2006; the company operates in the 
fashion sector, providing organizational and liaison services and publishing its namesake magazine 
featuring announcements for the sector. As a result of impairment testing, the carrying amount of the 
investment was reduced to zero. 

 Country Class Editori Srl: the company is the owner and publisher of Capital. It was carried out 
impairment test which has enhanced the company value to € 3.07 million, resulting in impairment of the 
investment in the amount of EUR 579 570. 

 E-Class Spa: it sells financial information services via satellite, via Web, and corporate television. A 
specific impairment test was conducted which did not show the conditions for a write-down of the book 
value of the holding 

 Global Finance Media Inc.: American editor which publishes the financial magazine bearing the same 
name. The holding in the company was fully written -down in previous years due to recurrent losses. 
Starting from 2006, the company began to earn net profits, thus constantly reducing its net equity 
deficit, so much so that at the end of 2011 the net equity of the subsidiary returned positive. 

 Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl: this company, a holding in which was purchased during 2009, 
operates in the insurance publishing sector with valued specialist publications. It has made a profit in 
recent years. 

 PMF News Spa: it sells financial information services via satellite, via Web, and corporate television. 
The differential between the book value and the share of net equity is not significant. 

 TV Moda Srl: the company owns its own the television channel, broadcast on digital cable television. It 
was carried out impairment test which has enhanced the company value to 1.25 million euro, resulting 
in impairment of the investment in the amount of EUR 1,076,906. 
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In the light of the above, it is considered appropriate to maintain the above-mentioned equity holdings at 
their book value, even if greater than net equity, and it is not deemed appropriate to amortise this higher 
value, given that these are long-term stakes.  
The equity holdings entered in the non-current assets represent a lasting, strategic investment on the 
company’s part. The other equity holdings are entered at their purchase or subscription cost. During the year, 
no associate company resolved to make capital increases on a paid or free basis, except for the companies 
incorporated during the year.  
The movements of the fixed assets during the financial year are shown below, indicating the financial 
charges allocated to the values entered in the assets, for each individual heading. 
 
 

Partecipazioni Crediti Titoli Azioni 
proprie

Altre 
Immobilizz.

Totale

COSTO STORICO           40.652.990         40.652.990 
rivalutazioni prec.
Oneri finanziari
svalutazioni prec.            (6.932.962)         (6.932.962)
ammortamenti prec.
SALDO INIZIALE           33.720.028           -             -             -                  -           33.720.028 
incrementi dell'esercizio             9.524.680           9.524.680 
riclassifiche
(-)
riclassifiche 
(+) 
Oneri finanziari
decrementi dell'esercizio                       -   
rivalutazioni dell'esercizio
svalutazioni dell'esercizio            (2.208.769)         (2.208.769)
ammortamenti dell'esercizio
SALDO           -             -             -                  -           41.035.939 
movimentazione ex art. 2426, 
nr.3
SALDO FINALE           41.035.939           -             -             -                  -           41.035.939 

                         -                         -   

                      -   

 
 
Impairment testing procedures carried out  by Class Editori, and its results. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives recorded in the consolidated financial statements of the 
publishing house include three categories: publications, goodwill and radio frequencies. 
 
For the evaluation of radio frequencies, it was taken as the reference value the recoverable market value 
(fair value), using a special expert assessment. In the case of goodwill and publications was instead used as 
reference the value of the asset. 

 
Impairment of assets 
 
IAS 36 requires to assess the existence of losses in value (impairment test) of tangible fixed assets, 
intangible assets and investments in the presence of indicators that can suggest that this problem may exist. 
In the case of goodwill, other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and of investments, such 
assessment is made at least once a year. The recoverable amount of the asset is assessed by comparing the 
book value amount with the higher, between the price obtainable from the sale, if an active market exists, 
and the value in use of the asset. 
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The evaluation process of estimating the fair value is summarized as follows: 
 

·identification of the activity object of measurement;  
·determination of the configuration value that is considered appropriate for the measurement;  
·identification of the principal market (or most advantageous) for the activity to be evaluated;  
·definition of the appropriate valuation technique for the chosen measurement between the market 
approach, the income approach and the cost approach; 
·classification of fair value as determined in the three hierarchies contained in IFRS 13, meaning: 

 
- LEVEL 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets of reference; 

- LEVEL 2: assessments made on the basis of inputs, other than the quoted prices included 
within Level 1, that for the activities being assessed are observable either directly or indirectly, 
with the indication of the sources from which the parameters used are derived; 

- LEVEL 3: inputs not based on observable market data, which reflect estimates of management 
on the hypothesis that "market participants" would use in determining the price of the asset 
being measured, describing every assumption made, indicating whether the adopted values 
reflect past experience if they are consistent with external sources of information, or, if not, 
how and why they differ; 

• quantification of potential disposal costs to be deducted at fair value 

In the case of radio frequencies goods being valued are represented by a task group consisting of the 
concessionary title (Ministerial Concession), from technical installations and the "right to use" for the 
financial system of broadcasting. 
 

The value of the fair value was determined by an independent expert in the field, who used as a 
measurement technique that of the market approach with a hierarchy of level 2. 
 
The assessments carried out by the expert are based on inputs other than the quoted prices, but directly 
observable in an active market for these reference values. 
In determining the qualitative assessment of radio equipment, the expert has identified all of the valuation 
parameters attributable to the asset being valued and has assigned to each of them a score derived from a 
qualitative evaluation, carried out on the basis of a scale of values generally used and recognized by the 
economic operators in the sector. The scale values thus constructed has been combined with a monetary 
weight, through the definition of a dimensional correction coefficient that allows you to transform into 
economic value the result of the qualitative assessment arising from trading activities for the sale of 
broadcasting facilities. This coefficient is essentially a unit of measurement similar to the price per square 
meter used as a size unit in the sale of real estate. 
  
Estimate of the value in use  

The value in use is the present value of cash flows expected from the asset, or from an aggregation of 
assets (cash-generating unit, or CGU), and the value expected from its disposal at the end of its useful life. 
The cash generating units have been identified in line with the organizational structure and the Group's 
business, such as units that generate independent cash flows, through the continued use of the assets 
attributable to them. 
During the course of the year 2013 in the consolidated financial report as at 30 June 2013, despite the 
economic performance of some of the CGU not in line with the expectations of the beginning of the year, it 
was not deemed necessary to carry out impairment tests on indefinite life assets, because at the date of 
approval of this report there was an ongoing process to redefine the strategic development of the group and 
its activities, from which would have occurred the opportunity or not to make write-downs of assets. The 
analysis therefore had to be postponed in the final budget for the year 2013. 
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The value in use determined in the impairment test is developed according to the requirements of IAS 36. 
This test calculates the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit which fall under the intangible 
assets subject to verification by the discounted cash flows expected from the cash generating unit, applying 
a discount rate to them that reflects the specific risks. The economic value of the invested capital thus 
obtained (enterprise value) was adjusted for the Net Financial Position (NFP) at the reference date of the 
evaluation, and of eventual non-operating assets (surplus asset), thus obtaining the equity value to be 
compared with the carrying amount recognized in the financial statements 
 
 

 
The criteria for the determination of the CGU 

As in previous years, the CGUs have been identified by distinguishing the areas of membership of the lines 
of business and in particular: newspapers area, periodicals area, events area, digital area (TV, Radio, 
business information), advertising area, residual areas. 
 
The following main criteria have been used in the definition of C.G.U.: 

 

∗ the homogeneity of the products and/or services provided by the company and/or the type of 

customer; 

∗ the real possibility given to each activity, to be eventually sold separately and could therefore 

constitute a CGU autonomous, rather than the need to unite it to another activity, to obtain the yield 

envisaged; 

∗ the damage that would cause the closure of an activity with respect to another related to it.  

These entities coincide in some cases with one or more companies in which the legal assets with indefinite 

lives are allocated to, in other cases they are only part of it. 

 
They are: 

NEWSPAPER AREA: 

MF / Milano Finanza / Mf fashion (Newspaper Finance) 
 

MAGAZINE AREA: 

Assinform (Insurance publisher) 
Global Finance (International finance magazine) 
Patrimoni and Lombard (Italy finance magazine) 
Class (Male magazine) 
Capital (Male magazine) 
Gentleman (Male magazine) 
Ladies (Female magazine) 
Case & Country (Magazine of furniture and country living) 
MFF & MFL (Magazine for Fashion and Magazine for Living) 
Eccellenza Italia (Magazine for the Chinese market) 
 

EVENTS AREA: 

Campus (Student Exhibition) 
MF Conference (Finance & Business and fashion conferences) 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 144 
 

 

DIGITAL AREA:  

Class Cnbc (TV on finance) 
Class TV e Class Life (TV on general information, news and lifestyle) 
Class TV Moda (fashion ) 
Telesia (TV for subways, highway stops and airports ) 
Corporate TV (TV inside banks and companies) 
E-class (Digital business information)  * 
MF Dow Jones news (Financial press agency) 
Websites and Tablet and Smartphone applications  
Radio frequencies 
 

ADVERTISMENT AREA:  

Classpi (concessionaire advertising). 
 

RESIDUAL AREA: 

Analitica (Assessment of Companies) 
Fashion Work (staff research in the fashion industry) 
Tagliamare  (illustrated books of the “Portolano”) 
In Aereo 
 

∗  Compared to the previous year the CGU E-Class has been changed : until 2012 this was substantially 
coincident with the legal company E-class spa. Following the sale of 31.25% of Class Digital Service Srl, 
where they were conferred and concentrated the activities of the publishing house in the field of digital 
dissemination of data and financial information, belonging to the E-class and PMF, these two companies, 
along with in Class Digital Service, are actually those deemed most representative of the CGU as 
described above 

 
 
Of course, only some of these CGU described above are relevant for the purposes of impairment testing, as 
the values for the titles or goodwill are recognized separately in the balance sheet 
 

Main evaluation choices in the application of accounting principles and sources of uncertainty in the 
estimates 
 
Main factors of uncertainty in the estimations 
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and notes has required the use of estimates and 
assumptions both in the determination of certain assets and liabilities, and the valuation of assets and liabilities. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other relevant factors. 
 

Given the current macroeconomic environment, yet destabilized by the effects of the financial crisis that began 
in late 2008, estimates were made based on assumptions concerning the future, however, characterized by a 
certain degree of uncertainty.  
To determine whether there is impairment in assets with indefinite lives it was necessary to submit them to 
an impairment test. The main uncertainties that could affect the estimates relate to the discount rate 
(WACC), the growth rate (g), the assumptions made in the development of expected cash flows. 
In particular, the forecast data used is based on assumptions about future events and management actions are 
characterized by elements of estimation and uncertainty that may involve the risk that the expected events do 
not occur or occur just to an extent and at different times from those assumed, or might occur, by contrast, 
events not foreseeable at the time when the assessment was made. 
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Below are summarized the significant assumptions used by management in the most critical estimate 
method, which concerns the determination of the recoverable value of non-current assets, including 
goodwill. 
 
Main assumptions in determining the recoverable amount of intangible assets with an indefinite life 
 
 

These assets are evaluated whenever there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment 
loss. Goodwill related to the cash-generating units are evaluated at least once a year even in the absence of 
impairment indicators. 
 

The impairment test performed as of December 31, 2013, acknowledging the worsening macroeconomic 
environment, highlighted recoverable values higher than the carrying values in excess for about 66 million 
after title write-downs of € 3.4 million.   
Throughout the year 2013, the management has controlled the emergence of any indicators of impairment of 
goodwill of the cash-generating unit. In particular, it analyzed the trends of the actual data for the year 2013 
compared to the corresponding forecast data used in the impairment test as of December 31, 2012 and 
analyzed the trend in interest rates in order to assess the impact on the estimate of the discount rate (WACC) 
to be applied to the expected cash flows. 
In developing its assessment the management has paid particular attention to the estimation of the values in 
use, not deeming that the stock market capitalization of the parent company could represent the value of the 
company, in view of the instability of the market and the low volumes processed. 
 
This is confirmed by the fact that the sale of one of the associated companies of the CGU E-class,had as its 
baseline, a value of the CGU total of around 15 million euro, compared with a market capitalization of that 
for the entire group was equal at the end of the year to around 20 million Euros.  
The recoverable amount of the goodwill impairment test as defined by each, is still sensitive to changes in 
assumptions, such as the rate of growth in advertising revenues and, between the valuation parameters, the 
discount rate (WACC) and the consistency of financial projections over the plan period (growth rate g). The 
WACC is in turn sensitive to the variations of its components, including the risk-free that synthesizes the 
country risk. 
 
 
In order to appreciate the impact that subtle changes in the assumptions can have on the recovery values 
calculated, please refer to the sensitivity analysis shown below. This sensitivity analysis is an integral part of 
the evaluation.   
The cash flows of the CGUs are in most cases a derivation of the overall development plan for 2013-2018 
approved by the Board of Directors of the Publisher on January 9th, 2014. Exceptions are some cash-
generating units whose affiliate companies, by means of special Board, have approved better plans than 
those included in the consolidated financial statements of the parent company (Global Finance, Telesia, 
Class CNBC). 
 
The prospective business plans and balance sheets of the CGUs that are the basis of the assessments, have 
been approved by the boards of directors of companies of reference, from which are derived the estimates of 
cash flows for the next three-year or five-year period.  
 

With reference to Telesia, it should be noted that the enhancement of the CGU is generally brought about 
from a growth forecast of cash flows generated by the TV-called "Outdoor" which benefit not only from of 
the installations in airports and subways, but also from the ongoing aggregation with the business on the  
surface public transport (tram and bus) in which the company intends to operate, and made possible by the 
significant investments planned in the reference area. 
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Below are the main criteria used in the evaluation of impairment testing: 
 
- the explicit forecast period, in which are broken down the revenues and expected costs of the CGUs 
was generally determined in 5 years, except for a few cases (Classpi, Assinform), where the Board of 
Directors of the relevant corporate teams have agreed on a shorter period of 3 years; 

- beyond this period it has been identified for the projection of cash flows, an implicit period of 
indefinite duration. This choice is consistent with the assessment of the titles or the goodwill referring to 
them, whose life is actually an indefinite life, as historically detectable by the time in which such assets are 
born. 

- The cash flow used as the basis of the assessments is net of tax effects, and eventually reduced of the 
investment required to produce cash flows; In addition, for each CGU, a projection of the assets in the 
explicit period, then a budget sheet, with the corresponding adjustments of net working capital to be used in 
the test in order to get the free cash flow to be used; 

- it was determined on the basis of such forecast a "target" balance sheet  for each CGU, making 
hypotheses forecasts on trends in balance sheet items, including policies for the distribution of profits 
incases where the flows could make it possible. The capital structure was taken as reference for the 
calculation of the average rate (WACC); 

- the expected cash flows are based both on the historical results generated by the CGU, also 
considering the pre-crisis period (ie considering a recovery in the economy) and on assumptions and 
estimates of future development projects and business areas in which the Group is already operating and 
whose growth assumptions were projected in the Plan 2014-2018 in line with the other assumptions used in 
the projections of the economic data perspective of the Plan; 

- the growth rate of the terminal period (g) was generally considered to be equal to 0%. 

With reference to the choice of the discount rate used, the methodology used to determine the weighted 
average rate (WACC) for the actualization of the explicit and the implicit period was: 
 
- To estimate the cost of the risk-free return on capital, it is taken as reference the average of 
government bonds (BTP) issued in the ten-year period (March 2013 - February 2014) determining the 
average, equal to 4.24%: this seems prudent in view of the latest trend in interest rates on government bonds, 
which appear in sharp decline; 

- At the risk-free rate identified was added a risk premium, which for a mature equity market (source: 
Damodaran) was estimated in 5.0%, multiplied by a conversion factor beta, which (source: Bloomberg) for 
the period 2012-2013, specifically related to Class, was quantified in 0.94; the same parameter, for only 
2013 was equal to 0.83 for Class Editori. It is therefore considered prudent choice to use a rate that takes 
into account a longer span of time, in view of the strong fluctuations of the market; 

- In some cases, where the management has considered the context of reference to be at a greater risk 
than those already reflected in the above parameters, the parameter beta was increased by another 
component, associated with the size of the CGU or to the greater conditions of uncertainty of its own 
specific target market; This change has led, for the interested CGUs, the beta coefficient to a range between 
1.03% and, 1.47%; 

- To determine the cost of debt has been considered the actual cost of borrowed resources from third 
parties, net of the tax; 
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The following are the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated and other intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives and the main assumptions used in conducting the test broken down by the cash-
generating units: 
 

 

The CGUs that have not passed the test of impairment are those (Capital, Fashion TV, Fashion Work, 
and Classpi) whose flow forecasts have worsened compared to last year, or for which the use of 
stricter parameters have determined values in use lower than the corresponding values of load. 
The total value of the negative differences for which it was necessary an impairment amounted 
to 2,2 million euro. 
 
The breakdown of the Group's cash-generating units and criteria for identification of the same, have 
not undergone substantial changes with respect to the financial statements as of 31 December 2012, 
except for what has been said about the E-Class. 
 
The main assumptions that the management has used for the calculation the value in use concern the 
discount rate (WACC), the growth rate (g), which was assumed always equal to 0, and the expected changes 
in selling prices and direct costs during the period used for the calculation. 
 
 

The discount rate used to discount the future cash flows expresses the weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC), consisting of a weighted average of the financial structure of the following two elements: 
 
 

•  the cost of equity calculated as the return on risk-free assets (including country risk implicit in the 
reference market prices), added to the product obtained by multiplying the Beta with the risk premium of a 
virtuous country; 
 

•  the cost of financial debt, net of the tax effect 
 
The results obtained from the analysis of the company were compared with those of specific appraisals 
performed by an independent third party appraiser, and that basically confirmed the estimated values by the 
company. 
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In particular, the parameters used by the independent assessments, where they were drafted, were as 
follows: 

 
 
The values obtained from external evaluations for impairment would have generated a total of € 2 million, 
suggesting a more conservative estimate of the company. 
 

It was also carried out an impairment test on the value of Class Life, recorded in intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives for a value of € 2.75 million. The tests conducted by the company did not 
generate the need for a write-down, but it was, however, considered prudent to carry out the write-
down anyway, based on the an assessment made by the expert which indicated a 2.45 million euro 
of estimated value of the title, with the need to devalue its value of 0.3 million Euros.  
 

The sensitivity analysis is an integral part of the evaluation process inherent in the development of 
the impairment test and shows how the variation of key parameters such as the calculation of the 
WACC and (g) changes the value in use of the cash-generating unit and, consequently, the 
devaluation hypothesized. The value in use is also sensitive to the assumptions underlying the 
development of the plan for the explicit forecast period and in particular the assumption of revenue 
growth over the digital business plan.  
 
Since the total write-downs made by the parent company are lower than those recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements, for the sensitivity analysis please refer to what has been shown in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

5) Financial receivables 

The value as at 31 December 2012 amounted to EUR 133 294, and it was related to a loan granted to the 
American Global Finance, and has been extinct in the period, as a result of full repayment by the subsidiary. 
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6) Trade receivables 

The value indicated in the financial statements, amounting to 16.177.861 euro, entirely consists of the part 
payable after the year of the trade receivable generated by the sale of software during the previous year by 
the subsidiaries, E-Class and PMF. This receivable was transferred to the parent company, Class Editori, 
during 2012. According to the provisions of IFRS, the nominal value of the loans was subject to discounting 
with the inclusion of a provision of € 2,414,139. The corresponding value in the previous year, net of 
accumulated discount, amounted to EUR 17,066,688. 

7) Deferred tax assets  

The amount of deferred tax assets is equal  to EUR 777 348 on 31 December 2013 , compared with a value 
of  EUR 612 716 at 31 December 2012. 
It should be noted that this item is included in the 2012 budget among the current tax credits, and it was 
reclassified to non-current receivables for a more accurate representation. 
A detailed analysis of the composition of the post, with the relative changes compared to the previous year is 
provided in the detail table appearing in paragraph 33) - taxes) of these notes to the financial statements. 

8) Other receivables 

Balance on 31/12/2012 € 2.889.208 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 2.879.208 
 € (10.000) 

 
Value on Value on

Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 changes

Advances to suppliers 72.800 72.800 0
Withholding tax credit  Severance Indeminities 24.325 24.325 0
Guarantee Deposi
 - Rentals 269.821 259.821 -10.000
 - Telephone 11.844 11.844 0
 - Electricity 1.633 1.633 0
 - Other 2.508.785 2.508.785 0

2.889.208 2.879.208 -10.000

 
CURRENT ASSETS 

9) Inventory 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € 397.018 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 233.316 
 € (163.702) 

The valuation criteria remain unchanged compared with the previous financial year and are explained in the 
first part of this Supplementary Note 
For the changes in individual categories, reference should be made to the profit and loss account. We specify 
that as of 31st December 2012, an inventory write-down provision of 137,367 euros was allocated in order to 
adjust the book value of the inventory of finished products and editorial products to their estimated realizable 
value. 
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10) Trade receivables 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € 37.970.140 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 41.197.631 
 € 3.227.491 

 
Value on Value on

Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Regular customers 11.709.545 8.836.640 (2.872.905)                        
Regular customers 8.541.716 308.460 (8.233.256)                        
Credit card customers 8.121 8.467 346                                   
From subsidiaries 13.827.200 25.326.398 11.499.198                        
From affiliates 4.594.045 7.117.062 2.523.017                         

Allowance for doubtful Fund art. 106 TUIR (210.487)                           (279.796)                           (69.309)                             
Allowance for doubtful Taxed receivables (500.000)                           (119.600)                           380.400                            

37.970.140 41.197.631 3.227.491
 
The invoices to be issued exposed to 8.5 million in the previous year included bills to be issued to Class 
Pubblicità, amounting to 7.6 million euro. Following the acquisition of the control, elapsed in 2013, reports 
of the said company are presented in the receivables from subsidiaries. 
Are not provided below the information required by paragraph 6 of Article 2427 in relation to the breakdown 
of receivables by geographical area, as the company's business is almost entirely directed to the domestic 
market. There are therefore irrelevant relations with foreign countries. 
It is worth noting that in the period, have been made significant impairment of trade receivables related to the 
event Class25 made in 2011, due to objections raised by some customers, which led to the closure of total 
trade receivables of EUR 431 000 and the reversal of invoices to be issued for about 800 thousand Euros. 

The adjustment of the nominal value of the receivables to their estimated realizable value was obtained 
through a specific provision for doubtful debts and by updating the value of the loans, based on the expected 
encashment time. The combined movements of the relevant provisions are as follows: 
 

Description  Total 

Provision balance at 31/12/2012  3.503.050 

Utilisation during the year  (430.690) 

Provision for doubtful accounts in year  119.600 

Movements during the year of the time value fund   (316.565) 

Balance on 31/12/2013  2.875.395 
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Receivables from subsidiaries 

Trade Invoices to issue Total on
Company Receivables Credit notes to 31/12/2013

Milano Finanza Edit. 236.105 429.496 665.601
Class Editori Service -198.432 134.883 -63.549
Milano Finanza Service 275.244 421.753 696.997
E-Class 382.418 501.317 883.735
PMF News Editori SpA -68.537 2.167.192 2.098.655
Lombard Editori 0 107.965 107.965
MF Conference 57.417 43.685 101.102
MF Dow Jones 501.948 338 502.286
Edis 2.667 14.721 17.388
DP Analisi Finanziaria 41.077 3.369 44.446
Ex.Co 1.052.856 6.515 1.059.371
Classint advertising 188 674 862
Campus Editori 594 245 839
Class Cnbc -164.765 141.185 -23.580
Radio Classica 1.035.274 274.494 1.309.768
Global Finance 842.927 2.472 845.399
Telesia 302.782 247.092 549.874
Country Class Editori 179.666 260.671 440.337
Class Servizi Televisivi 115.979 51.796 167.775
Fashion Work 112.318 1 112.319
Classpi  740.952 12.497.207 13.238.159
Class Meteo 467.977 60.909 528.886
Tv Moda 199.267 449.735 649.002
Assinform 0 273 273
MF Servizi Editoriali 672.760 78.182 750.942
New Satellite 98.182 7.608 105.790
Class TV Service 482.611 42.045 524.656
Classpi Digital 11.100 0 11.100

7.380.575 17.945.823 25.326.398
 

Receivables from affiliates 

Company Trade Receivables

Invoices to be                                                 
Credit notes to be

Received
Total on           

31/12/2013

Italia Oggi Edit. Erinne 661.567 869.539 1.531.106

Class Horse TV 2.329.856 3.252.673 5.582.529

Class Roma 3.427 0 3.427

2.994.850 4.122.212 7.117.062
 

11) Titles 

The value of these financial assets at 31 December 2013 is equal to zero, since the company sold during 
period its corresponding  participation of 31.25% in the share capital of Digital Class Service, which in  31 
December 2012 was classified as equity investments held for trading and valued at the sale price of EUR 5 
million. The sale was completed on 20 March 2013. 
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12) Financial receivables 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € 47.949.459 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 35.306.171 
 € (12.643.288) 

 
Value on Value on

Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Financial C/A from subsidiaries* 26.698.016 28.415.704 1.717.688
Financial C/A from affiliates* 3.157.219 1.789.894 -1.367.325
Financial C/A from Mf Servizi Editoriali 2.582.092 2.795.179 213.087
Financial C/A from Yachting 896.724 556.874 -339.850
Financial C/A from New Satellite Radio 269.500 0 -269.500
Financial C/A from Classpi 13.499.374 0 -13.499.374
Financial C/A from Diana Bis 179.700 1.081.686 901.986                            
Financial C/A from Worldspace Italia 3.672 3.672 0
Financial C/A from CIA 659.004 659.004 0
Financial C/A from Honyvem 4.158 4.158 0

47.949.459 35.306.171 -12.643.288
 

 

Financial receivables from subsidiaries 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Financial C/A from  CFN CNBC 0 50.000 50.000
Financial C/A from  I Love Italia 5.000 5.000 0
Financial C/A from  Contry Class Editori 4.492.693 924.750 -3.567.943
Financial C/A from  Class Digital Service 0 3.173 3.173
Financial C/A from  Class Servizi Televisivi 607.677 0 -607.677
Financial C/A from  Class CNBC 0 3.485.395 3.485.395
Financial C/A from  Milano Finanza 1.584.805 1.382.089 (202.716)                           
Financial C/A from  Campus 0 11.800 11.800                              
Financial C/A from  Classint advertising 17.174 23.437 6.263                                
Financial C/A from  Lombard 58.679 97.265 38.586                              
Financial C/A from  MF Service 7.166.985 9.314.930 2.147.945                         
Financial C/A from  DP Analisi finanziaria 42.201 175.208 133.007                            
Financial C/A from  Ex.Co 214.235 204.492 (9.743)                               
Financial C/A from  Radio Classica 6.256.878 6.112.121 (144.757)                           
Financial C/A from  Class Editori Service 4.742.202 4.882.219 140.017                            
Financial C/A from  New Satellite 0 251.214 251.214                            
Financial C/A from  Edis 56.310 125.607 69.297                              
Financial C/A from  FWC 0 409 409                                   
Financial C/A from  Tv Moda 638.430 249.930 (388.500)                           
Financial C/A from  Assinform 10.000 7.918 (2.082)                               
Financial C/A from  Class Meteo Service 804.747 1.108.747 304.000

26.698.016 28.415.704 1.717.688
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Financial receivables from affiliates 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Financial C/A from Class Horse TV 465.753 0 -465.753
Financial C/A from Italia Oggi Erinne 2.691.466 1.763.483 -927.983
Financial C/A from Class Roma 0 26.411 26.411

3.157.219 1.789.894 -1.367.325

 

13) Tax receivables 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Withholding tax Bank and post office accounts 116.559 12 -116.547
IRES (Corporate Income Tax) for domestic
Consolidation 10.626.025 17.916.381 7.290.356
IRES advance for financial year 125.938 125.938 0
IRAP advance payments 112.743 112.743 0
amounts due for other tax credits 1.463.154 1.436.978 -26.176
Advance VAT payments 294.668 0 -294.668
VAT paid on pro-forma invoices 40.482 59.682 19.200

TOTAL 12.779.569 19.651.734 6.872.165

 

The increase in tax credits is almost entirely attributable to the increase in receivables of 
consolidated IRES, arising from the negative taxable income overall accrued in the period, by the 
companies participating in the tax consolidation agreement. 

 
14) Other receivables 

Balance on 31/12/2012 € 20. 390.896 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 16.951.703 
 € (3.439.193) 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Advances  from suppliers 148.778 966.960 818.182                           
Receivables from publishers 655.556 670.026 14.470
Suppliers for credit notes to be received 209.281 227.274 17.993                             
Employee travel advances 25.003 28.760 3.757                               
Other receivables 10.287.003 3.601.529 (6.685.474)                       
Third-party loans 100.000 913.258 813.258                           
Receivables from Compagnia Immobil. Azionaria 6.498.989 7.700.046 1.201.057                        
Tax receivables from subsidiaries 1.058.472 926.701 (131.771)                          
Sundry accruals 86.732 52.551 (34.181)                            
Insurance deferral 18.944 55.538 36.594                             
Rental and leasing deferral 41.544 35.216 (6.328)                              
Deferral of IAS actuarial fees for employee
termination indemnity reserve 73.481 0 (73.481)                            
Other prepaid expenses 1.187.113 1.773.844 586.731                           

20.390.896 16.951.703 (3.439.193)                       
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The decrease in other receivables from the previous year, of 5.1 million euro at the end the credit for the sale 
of the shares of Class Pubbicità Spa, is due to the repurchase of the share. In the same year, shares of Milano 
Finanza Spa were purchased  (2.5% of the share capital) with the use of previous credit, of € 2 million. 
Receivables from Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria relate to advances made on the contracts in force. 
These advances are also justified by the requests made by Class on the renovation work performed on the 
building in Via Burigozzo–Corso Italia. 

15) Cash and cash equivalents 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € 14.933.638 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 5.297.013 
 € (9.636.625) 

Bank deposits 
Value on Value on

Voce 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

BNA 742 742 -                                     
Banco di San Giorgio 68.233 0 (68.233)                              
Ersel 14.000.000 4.426.881 (9.573.119)                         
Carige 800.000 800.000 -                                     
Postal account 20.878 12.366 (8.512)                                
Cash on hand 1.584 1.424 (160)                                   
Prepaid cards availability 42.201 55.600 13.399                               

14.933.638 5.297.013 -9.636.625 
 
This balance represents the bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents available at the end of the year. 
Accounting balances were reconciled on 31st December 2012 with those indicated in the bank statements 
 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

16) Net equity 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € 70.120.443 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 46.318.956 
 € (23.801.487) 

 
Value on Increases Decreases Value on

Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013

Company stock 10.560.751                 0                                 0                                 10.560.751                 
Share premium reserve 31.329.260                 0                                 0                                 31.329.260                 
Legal reserve 2.543.881                   0                                 0                                 2.543.881                   
Extraordinary reserve 44.779.401                 0                                  (13.981.383) 30.798.018                 
Changes Assets IAS  (5.295.736) 0                                  (196.908)  (5.492.644)
Own shares reserve  (94.438) 0                                  (94.438)
Fair value stock option reserves 278.707                      0                                 0                                 278.707                      
Revenues 0                                 113.925                      0                                 113.925                      
               Total 84.101.826                 113.925                       (14.178.291) 70.037.460                 

Profit  for the year  (13.981.383) 13.981.383                  (23.718.504)  (23.718.504)

Net equity 70.120.443                 14.095.308                  (37.896.795) 46.318.956                 

 
Movements in shareholders' equity for the period relate to the cover of losses for the year 2012 through the 
use of the extraordinary reserve and accounting profit for the year 2013. 
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It should also be noted that due to the change of IAS / IFRS 19, relating to the severance pay, which excludes 
the possibility of accounting for actuarial gains and losses using the corridor method, allowed until the end of 
2012, on January 1, 2013 was accounted a OCI negative reserve (included in the item reserve transition 
IAS), for 187 406 euro, for the reversal of deferred income recognized on 31 December 2012 which 
amounted to EUR 73 481, and EUR 113 925 for earnings to undo the negative effects of 'discounting the 
income statement for the year 2012. The recognition of actuarial component on severance pay as of 31 
December 2013 has also resulted in a further reduction of the reserve OCI to 9,501 Euros.  
 
 

Shares Number Par value 

Ordinary shares     

  -  Category  A 105.547.510 Euro   0,10 

  -  Category  B 60.000  Euro   0,10 

Total 105.607.510      
 
 
The total number of shares in circulation at 31st December 2013 was 105.607.510. 
 
 
The corporation stock showed no change with respect to the previous year. 
The company holds 511 849 own shares, and there is a negative reserve in shareholders' equity for a total of 
EUR 94 438. 
 
 
Reserves or other funds that in the event of distribution do not contribute to the formation of the 
shareholders’taxable income, regardless of the period of formation 
 

Description 31/12/2012 Increases Decreases 31/12/2013 

Share premium reserve 
 

31.329.260 - - 31.329.260 

 
There are no reserves or other funds that in the event of distribution contribute to the formation of the taxable 
income of the company, regardless of the period of formation, resulting from a bonus issue of company 
capital using the reserve 
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Corporat. 
Stock

Share
premium
Reserve

Legal 
reserve

Extraordin
ary reserve

IAS Trans.
Reserve

Stock
Option

Reserve

own 
share 

reserve

Profit Net profit
(loss) for
the year

Total

Values on 31/12/2011    10.560.751    31.329.260    2.543.881     36.593.456    (5.295.736)         278.707             -         8.185.945      84.196.264 
Allocation of net profit       8.185.945      (8.185.945)                    -   
Payment of dividends                    -                      -   
Other allocations                  -                      -                      -   
Other changes                  -                    -      (94.438)                    -             (94.438)
Distribution transfer                    -   
Share capital increase                    -   

Adj. of shares to Fair Value                    -   

Fair Value Stock Option                  -                      -   
Profit    (13.981.383)     (13.981.383)
Values on 31/12/2012    10.560.751    31.329.260    2.543.881     44.779.401    (5.295.736)         278.707    (94.438)    (13.981.383)      70.120.443 
Allocation of net profit    (13.981.383)     13.981.383                    -   
Payment of dividends                    -                      -   
Other allocations                  -                      -                      -   
Other change                  -                    -                      -                      -   
Distribution transfer                    -   
Change in reserve for 
employee severance 
indemnities IAS OCI 
01/01/13

      (187.407)   113.925           (73.482)

Net result for the year    (23.718.504)     (23.718.504)
Income / (expense) 
recognized directly in the 
income statement

          (9.501)             (9.501)

Overall profit for the year           (9.501)    (23.718.504)     (23.728.005)
Values on 31/12/2013    10.560.751    31.329.260    2.543.881     30.798.018    (5.492.644)         278.707    (94.438)   113.925    (23.718.504)      46.318.956 
 
 
 
The following table shows the possibility of utilization of the items that make up the net equity, pursuant to 
Article 2427 of the Civil Code: 
 

Nature/Description Amount Usage 
possibility Available share 

    
Share capital 10.560.751   

Capital reserves:    

Share premium reserve 31.329.260 A, B, C 31.329.260 
Profit reserves:    

Legal reserve  2.543.881 B - 
Other profit reserves  30.798.018 A, B, C 30.798.018 
Income/ (losses) for the year 113.925 A, B, C 113.925 
    

Fair Value Stock Option reserve 278.707 A, B, C 278.707 
IFRS transition reserve (5.492.644) - (5.492.644) 
    
Total   57.027.266 

Legend: A: for increase of Capital ; B: to cover losses ; C: for distribution to shareholders. 
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NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

17) Financial payables 

The balance at December 31, 2013 shows the remaining debt in the medium-long term to 
Centrobanca for EUR 26 806, and the share in the medium-long term of a loan in the period with 
Banca Popolare of Emilia Romagna in the amount of 6,000,000 EUR. 

18) Provision for risks and charges 

As at 31 December 2013, the amount of the provision for future risks and charges amounted to EUR 
143 025. The provision at 31 December 2012 was EUR 838 001 EUR. During the year the fund was 
used for a total of EUR 694 976, of which EUR 37,979 to cover the fees of the amnesty Inpgi paid 
during the year, € 56,997 for the closure of litigation and 600,000 euro for the deletion of credits 
allocated in 2011 relative to the Class 25 event, for which it has never proceeded to the billing due 
to the challenges of its customers. 
The residual value of the provision is deemed consistent with the estimate of potential liabilities by 
management. 

19) Employee severance indemnity 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € 254.815 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 284.168 
 € 29.353 

 
The changes in the provision for the financial year are the following: 

Provision as of Allocations Financial (Profit)/Loss Provision as of
Item 31/12/2012 charges discounting 31/12/2013

Executives 0 0 0 0 0 0
Journalists 176.385 13.909 1.195 19.268 210.757
Staff 78.430 4.333 416 -9.768 73.411

Total 254.815 18.242 0 1.611 9.500 284.168

Transfers/ 
(Utilisations) 

 

Employee severance indemnities are determined in accordance with IAS 19, by applying an actuarial method 
based on demographic assumptions, as well as the discount rate needed to reflect the time value of money, 
the inflation rate, and current and future salary levels 
It should be noted that the value of the liability for severance pay, quantified according to labor legislation 
and Italian Accounting Standards, amounts to 31 December 2013 to EUR 293 496. 
Since at the time of the Employee Severance Indemnity (TFR) reform, the company had a number of 
employees greater than 50, starting on 1st January 2007 the company pays the accrued TFR to the INPS 
Treasury Fund or pension funds 
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The following paragraphs provide details of the actuarial assumptions used for the valuation of the severance pay 
in accordance with IAS 19,on 31 December 2013: 

 
Financial assumption: 

   

Actuary rate   Eur Composite A curve at 31.12.2013  

 Deadline (year) rate  

 1 0,400%  
 2 0,665%  
 3 0,949%  
 4 1,275%  
 5 1,576%  
 7 2,110%  
 8 2,343%  
 9 2,547%  
 10 2,567%  
 15 3,019%  
    
Inflation rate   2,00%  
Expected salary increase rate (including inflation)   N.A.  
Annual percentage of advance staff leaving allowance 
payment requests   100,00%  

    
Demographic assumptions    

Maximum retirement age   According to the latest 
legislative provisions 

 

Mortality tables   RGS 48  
Annual Average Percentage of Staff Leave*   7,20%  
Annual probability of advance staff-leaving allowance 
payment requests   4,00%  

* calculated for any cause of elimination in the first ten years following the year of assessment   

    
Sensitivity analysis Sensitivity  DBO new  

Actualization rate 
+1,00% 259.709  
-1,00% 312.175  

    
Additional information      
Duration (in years)   9,52  
    
scheduled payments      
scheduled payments on 31.12.2014   24.244  
scheduled payments on 31.12.2015   21.809  
scheduled payments on 31.12.2016   19.524  
scheduled payments on 31.12.2017   17.939  
scheduled payments on 31.12.2018   15.399  
scheduled payments from 1.01.2019 to 31.12.2023   53.426  
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CURRENT LIABILITIES 

20) Financial payables 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € 84.166.130 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 71.131.321 
 € (13.034.809) 

 
Value on Value on

Bank 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

B.N.L. 892.818 2.692.770 1.799.952
Intesa Sanpaolo 978.883 403.944 (574.939)                           
B.ca Pop. Bergamo-CV 710.568 649.007 (61.561)                             
Unicredit 753.430 776.760 23.330                              
Banco Popolare 993.578 713.643 (279.935)                           
Credito Emiliano 476.962 511.359 34.397                              
Banca Popolare di Verona 2.075.188 1.719.885 (355.303)                           
B.ca Toscana 1.232 0 (1.232)                               
C.R. Parma e Piacenza 146.856 53.216 (93.640)                             
Banca Popolare di Sondrio 425.671 450.646 24.975                              
Banca Pop. Di Milano 1.417.155 1.520.925 103.770                            
B.ca Pop. Vicenza 990.533 1.063.477 72.944                              
B.ca PoP Emilia Romagna 1.022.196 1.144.784 122.588                            
Unicredit 17.708 17.708 -                                    
Monte Paschi Siena 1.389.784 1.318.075 (71.709)                             
CARIGE 779.126 412.879 (366.247)                           

13.071.688 13.449.078 377.390
Payables for Stand By financing 55.944.989 51.249.989 (4.695.000)                        
to Centrobanca 24.120 25.427 1.307                                
Other current loans 1.680.775 1.700.000 19.225                              
Financial C/A from Telesia 1.070.000 720.000 (350.000)                           
Financial C/A from Class Horse 0 156.850 156.850                            
Financial C/A from Class Roma 173.588 0 (173.588)                           
Financial C/A from Class Tv Service 0 476.986 476.986                            
Financial C/A from Class CNBC 139.986 0 (139.986)                           
Financial C/A from Campus 44.385 0 (44.385)                             
Financial C/A from PMF 4.662.363 1.869.006 (2.793.357)                        
Financial C/A from MF Conference 487.284 148.090 (339.194)                           
Financial C/A from Class Servizi Televisivi 0 297.073 297.073                            
Financial C/A from MF Dow Jones 4.121 4.121 -                                    
Financial C/A from UpCube 70.000 0 (70.000)                             
Financial C/A from E-class 6.792.722 1.034.701 (5.758.021)                        
Financial C/A from F W C 109 0 (109)                                  

71.094.442 57.682.243 -13.412.199

Total financial payables 84.166.130 71.131.321 -13.034.809
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The balance represents the current value of due and payable capital, interest, and accessory charges. Further 
details can be found in the operations report in the comment on the net financial position.  The reduction in 
in current financial payables is partly due to the conversion of a stand by  debt of € 6 million in funding, 
whose amount was exhibited in non-current financial liabilities. 
 

21) Trade payables 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € 40.437.748 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 56.359.086 
 € (15.921.338) 

                                                       
Value on Value on

Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Third party suppliers 10.241.611 14.184.638 3.943.027                           
Invoices to be received 7.976.113 5.030.866 (2.945.247)                         
Bills for services to be received (900)                                   -                                     900                                    
Client account advances 13.581 17.177 3.596                                 
From subsidiaries 21.785.604 31.791.508 10.005.904                         
From affiliates 421.739 5.334.897 4.913.158                           

40.437.748 56.359.086 15.921.338                         
 

The increase in third-party trade payables is attributed to the longer payment times generated by the ongoing 
tense  financial situation.  

Payables to subsidiaries 

Invoices to be received Total on
Company Trade payables Credit notes to be issued 31/12/2013

Milano Finanza Edit. 0 11.092.232 11.092.232
Tv Moda 1.836 0 1.836
Global Finance 89.121 0 89.121
MF Conference 425.162 56.703 481.865
Class Digital Service 0 22 22
PMF 63.655 74.135 137.790
Millano Finanza Service 184.125 650.972 835.097
Radio Classica 70.000 0 70.000
Class CNBC 0 4.911.917 4.911.917
Edis 4.096.845 1.163.564 5.260.409
Lombard Editori 1.112.694 0 1.112.694
Campus Editori 134.009 2.011 136.020
Classpi 999 1.550.991 1.551.990
Class Tv Service 0 460.442 460.442
E-Class 796.547 582.500 1.379.047
Telesia 22.949 352.000 374.949
MF Dow Jones 1.292.575 1.950 1.294.525
Country Class Editori 0 1.464.801 1.464.801
Class Meteo Service 0 381.708 381.708
Class Servizi televisivi 0 755.043 755.043

8.290.517 23.500.991 31.791.508
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Payables to affiliates 

Inv. to receive Total on
Company Trade paybles Credit notes to issue 31/12/2013

Italia Oggi Editori - Erinne 4.589.581 662.180 5.251.761
Class Roma 0 1.943 1.943
Class Horse 63.440 17.753 81.193

4.653.021 681.876 5.334.897
 

22) Tax payables 

This item includes tax liabilities.  

Value on Value on 
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

IRPEF withheld from employees 93.747 240.627 146.880                             
IRPEF on freelance and independent contractor
Withholdings 58.039 166.101 108.062                             
Advance VAT payments 0 91.014 91.014                               
IRPEF 730 0 3.025 3.025                                 

151.786 500.767 348.981                             

 
The increase in payables for withholding is due to the delay of the timing of payment of the same by the 
company, caused by the current financial stress, leading to the presence of overdue payables as at 31 
December 2013.  

23) Other payables 

The item includes the following: 
Value on Value on

Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Social security contributions payable 23.933 5.954 (17.979)                                 
Social Security contributions for collaborators 2.085 2.227 142                                       
Due to Inpgi 96.980 195 (96.785)                                 
Due to Byblos 6.895 6.767 (128)                                      
Due to Casagit 6.456 6.915 459                                       
Enpals 145.587 50.878 (94.709)                                 
To other social security institutes 1.877 36.762 34.885                                  
Due to shareholders for dividends 17.759 17.749 (10)                                        
Credit notes to be issued 13.744 76 (13.668)                                 
Due to employees and collaborators 49.891 44.946 (4.945)                                   
For acquisition equity investments -3.330 521.670 525.000                                
Intergroup payables from Tax Consolidation 1.716.205 2.135.440 419.235                                
Other intergroup payables 0 57.245 57.245                                  
Other payables 10.647 12.340 1.693                                    
Transitory self-invoice 2.298 2.298 -                                        
Accrued 14th-month payroll 15.336 15.304 (32)                                        
Accrued holiday pay 151.047 153.531 2.484                                    
Returns 1.518.761 1.511.424 (7.337)                                   
Sundry accrued liabilities 319.637 532.721 213.084                                
Deferred subscription income 17.236 12.237 (4.999)                                   
Other deferred income 10.719 4.263 (6.456)                                   
Deferred expenses to Class Horse Tv 390.000 0 (390.000)                               
Deferred expenses to Global 0 73.833 73.833                                  

4.513.763 5.204.775 691.012                                
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24) Memorandum accounts 
Sureties given–includes sureties of € 60,000 provided on our behalf by the Banca Popolare di Bergamo- 
Credito Varesino in favour of the Revenue Service relating to the same amount in prize contests for readers 
and subscribers. They also comprise suretyships received from BNL amounting to 275,733 euros and fromda 
Banca Popolare Emilia Romagna for €11.550. It also comprises of a pledge of 800,000 euros guaranteeing 
the reimbursement of a loan for the subsidiary, Assinform. 
 
Assets with third-parties - the item includes the value of the paper for € 43,142 on deposit with the 
printers, machines and goods for a total of €41,861, and shares deposited with Monte Titoli of EUR 
377 170. 

INCOME STATEMENT 

 OPERATING REVENUES 

25) Revenues and other income 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € 34.754.647 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 29.642.742 
 € (5.111.905) 

Revenues from sales and services 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Publications 592.293 608.490 16.197                               
Advertising and sponsorship 11.576.187 9.653.564 (1.922.623)                         
Sales of copies 141.403 94.063 (47.340)                              
Sales of Internet services 52.184 141.655 89.471                               
Sales of subscriptions 338.568 530.487 191.919                             
Books and volumes 34.941 41.507 6.566                                 
Revenues from sale of Corporate TV Services 2.416.204 2.574.998 158.794                             
Sales of Classpi goods 570.897 434.523 (136.374)                            
Discounts and rebates 17.867 4.097 (13.770)                              
Other business revenues 1.734.301 1.368.542 (365.759)                            

17.474.845 15.451.926 (2.022.919)                         

 
 Other revenues 

value on value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Paper sales 52.255 76.057 23.802                               
State contributions and subsidies 313.292 223.564 (89.728)                              
Recovery of costs 8.139 2.103 (6.036)                                
Recovery of costs from group companies 1.939.492 997.806 (941.686)                            
Services to group companies 11.629.723 12.687.307 1.057.584                           
Other revenues and income 3.325.361 200.729 (3.124.632)                         
Dividends from subsidiaries 11.540 3.250 (8.290)                                

17.279.802 14.190.816 (3.088.986)                         
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The decrease in revenues from sales and services was almost entirely attributable to the decrease in revenues 
from advertising and sponsorship. 

Other revenues and income in the previous year included the effect of the fair value of the portion of the 
investment in Class Digital Service Srl, equal to 3.239.660 euro, following the classification of the same 
under securities held for trading. The sale had then taken place on 20 March 2013. 

 
 
OPERATING COSTS 

Balance on 31/12/2012 € 48.659.966 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € 52.110.972 
 € 3.451.006 

26) Costs for purchases 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes1

Purchase of paper 467.051 181.161 (285.890)                            
Classp goods purchases 5.516 623 (4.893)                                
Purchase of Classhop goods 893.895 678.353 (215.542)                            
Purchase of other goods 72.575 237.020 164.445                             
Purchase of stationery and printers 54.153 55.778 1.625                                 
Discounts and roundings 844 605 (239)                                   
Purchase of Assets worth < per million 33.308 47.428 14.120                               
Change in inventories 21.995 163.702 141.707                             

1.549.337 1.364.670 (184.667)                            

 

27) Service costs 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Production costs 8.521.544 6.609.168 (1.912.376)                         
Editorial costs 585.252 495.329 (89.923)                              
Advertising/promotional 3.003.874 3.283.848 279.974                             
Marketing and commercial costs 5.357.243 7.158.966 1.801.723                           
Distribution costs 378.137 467.834 89.697                               
Services provided to affiliates 10.884.674 14.330.135 3.445.461                           
Tax consulting and notary expenses 485.170 488.491 3.321                                 
Entertainment expenses 46.070 25.306 (20.764)                              
Use of third-party assets 6.428.477 7.823.479 1.395.002                           
Purchase of Intercompany subscriptions and copies 180.433 700.282 519.849                             
Other services 278.111 282.791 4.680                                 
General expenses 5.071.094 4.926.998 (144.096)                            
Maintenance 977.353 745.790 (231.563)                            

42.197.432 47.338.417 5.140.985                           
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28) Staff costs 

This item comprises the cost of employing personnel, determined in accordance with current legislation 

and collective payroll contracts 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Wages and salaries 2.005.716 1.585.103 (420.613)                            
Social security contributions 596.024 466.220 (129.804)                            
Adjustment of staff severance indemnities 65.353 38.892 (26.461)                              
Various payroll expenses 36.439 40.306 3.867                                 

2.703.532 2.130.521 (573.011)                            

 

29) Other operating costs 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Remuneration to company officers 124.600 120.241 (4.359)                                
Other taxes 111.044 104.565 (6.479)                                
Penalties 4.224 34.608 30.384                               
Actuarial costs for severance indemnities 6.360 0 (6.360)                                
Third-party costs to be recovered 6.619 2.997 (3.622)                                
Intercompany costs to be recovered 1.939.492 997.806 (941.686)                            
Other expenses 17.326 17.147 (179)                                   

2.209.665 1.277.364 (932.301)                            

 

30) Extraordinary income and expenses  
The item, displayed for the first time in these financial statements, with the reclassification also of the 
balances of the previous year, reports the results of extraordinary operations by highlighting breakdown. The 
details are as follows: 
 

Valore al Valore al
Voce 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Variazioni

Sopravvenienze attive 91.905 405.347 313.442
Plusvalenze e rivalutazioni 971.110 0 -971.110

Totale proventi straordinari 1.063.015 405.347 1.468.362

Sopravvenienze passive 615.616 3.374.001 2.758.385
Perdite su crediti 0 338 338
Refusione danni e transazioni varie 31.844 0 -31.844

Totale oneri straordinari 647.460 3.374.339 4.021.799

Proventi/(Oneri) straordinari netti 415.555 -2.968.992 -3.384.547
 

The gains recorded in the previous year were generated by the sale of part of the shares held  in Italia Oggi 
Editori Erinne Srl and in Class Pubblicità Srl, and are respectively equal to  427.713 euro and  543.397 euro.  
Among the contingent liabilities are included the effects of waivers on trade receivables made in the year by 
Class Editori in benefit of company E-Class for € 1,500,000 and € 1,500,000 for PMF. 
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31) Depreciations and amortization  

This item shows the cost of the amortization charge, for the year, of intangible and tangible assets: a detailed 
breakdown by asset is shown in the preceding tables. The details are given in the following table: 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Amortization of intangible assets 526.145 564.896 38.751                                  
Amortization of tangible assets 523.171 575.953 52.782                                  
Provision for allowance for doubtful accounts 1.242.131 119.600 (1.122.531)                            
Write-down of intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 0 300.000 300.000                                
Write-down of investments 37.615 2.208.769 2.171.154                             

2.329.062 3.769.218 1.440.156                             

 
About the nature and analysis of the amounts shown in the table, see the related notes included in the 
comments of items in the balance sheet. 
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32) Net financial income and charges 

Balance on 31/12/2012 € (3.836.926) 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € (1.459.705) 
 € 2.377.221 

Other financial income 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Interest on bank and postal accounts 609.528 214.141 (395.387)                          
Interest on other receivables 14.418 13.594 (824)                                 
Interest from Yachting 13 17.069 17.056                             
Interest from  Diana Bis 0 16.359
Interest from Class TV Service 2.413 0 (2.413)                              
Interest from MF Serv.Editoriali 58.449 78.181 19.732                             
Fx gains 13.785 6.593 (7.192)                              
Other income 17.836 337.700 319.864                           

716.442 683.637 (49.164)                            
Interest from Campus Editori 15.240 (15.240)                            
Interest from Assinform 0 274 274                                  
Interest from Classpi 136.430 303.482 167.052                           
Interest from Class Cnbc 12.418 81.948 69.530                             
Interest from Lombard 2.238 1.636 (602)                                 
Interest from Country 74.236 145.698 71.462                             
Interest from Mifi Service 106.956 216.299 109.343                           
Interest from DP Analisi Fin. 10.761 3.369 (7.392)                              
Interest from Ex.Co 5.121 6.515 1.394                               
Interest from Milano Finanza Ed. 36.105 84.357 48.252                             
Interest earnings from Classint Advertising 188 674 486                                  
Interest from  Class Editori Service 58.850 134.883 76.033                             
Interest from Edis 6.920 5.387 (1.533)                              
Interest from Tv Moda 20.167 6.382 (13.785)                            
Interest from Class Servizi Televisivi 11.853 0 (11.853)                            
Interest from Class Meteo 30.629 28.296 (2.333)                              
Interest from New Satellite 6.613 7.608 995                                  
Interest from Global Finance 3.705 2.472 (1.233)                              
Interest from Radio Classica 153.223 182.349 29.126                             

691.653 1.211.629 519.976                           
Interest from Italia Oggi Erinne 61.219 74.678 13.459                             
Interest from Class Horse 7.157 4.639 (2.518)                              
Interest from Class Roma 2.972 0 (2.972)                              

71.348 79.317 7.969                               

Total financial income 1.479.443 1.974.583 478.781                           
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Interest and other financial charges 

Value on Value on
Item 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 Changes

Interest from Telesia 20.055 15.781 (4.274)                              
Interest from Assinform 2.082 0 (2.082)                              
Interest from Class Digital Service 0 22
Interest from Eclass 155.003 51.257 (103.746)                          
Interest from Campus 0 2.012
Interest from Class Tv Service 0 10.442 10.442                             
Interest from Class Sefvizi televisivi 0 5.043 5.043                               
Interest from FWC 2 0 (2)                                     
Interest from Class Roma 0 1.943 1.943                               
Interest from MF Conference 6.456 6.703 247                                  
Interest from PMF News 136.317 74.135 (62.182)                            

319.915 167.338 -154.611 

Bank interest charges 387.602 686.001 298.399                           
Interest on amounts payable to suppliers 0 11.505 11.505                             
Interest on standby financing 1.777.723 2.249.830 472.107                           
Interest payable on loans 6.116 116.476 110.360                           
Banking fees and commissions 62.478 190.589 128.111                           
Home Banking management 186 139 (47)                                   
Fx losses 4.990 10.031 5.041                               
IAS financial charges 5.146 1.611 (3.535)                              
Other financial charges 2.752.213 768 (2.751.445)                       

4.996.454 3.266.950 -1.729.504 
Total financial charges 5.316.369 3.434.288 -1.884.115 

Total net financial income/(charges) (3.836.926)                       (1.459.705)                       2.377.221                        

 
 
The previous year other financial charges included €2.738.829 of charges for the discounting of the 
receivable from Denama Software, purchased during the past year by the subsidiaries E-Class and PMF 
News, and which is expected to be collected within 20 years. 
 

33) Income taxes for the year 
Balance on 31/12/2012 € (5.674.369) 
Balance on 31/12/2013 € (6.947.641) 
 € 1.273.272 

 
The balance comprises advance taxes on the IRES loss for the period, amounting to  6.783.008, s well 
as other advance taxes on tax refunds for €164.633. 
 
The second paragraph of Article 14. 2427 requires a statement indicating: 
 
a) a description of the temporary differences that resulted in the recognition of deferred tax assets and 
liabilities, specifying the rate applied and the changes compared to the previous year, the amounts credited or 
debited to the income statement or in equity, the items excluded from the calculation and the reasons 
therefor; 
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b) the amount of deferred tax assets recorded in the financial statements relating to losses during the current 
or prior years and the reasons, the amount still to be recorded and the reasons for non-registration; 
 
The following table meets this requirement: 

Ammontare 
delle diff. 

temporanee

Effetto 
Fiscale

Effetto sul 
risultato

Ammontare 
delle diff. 

temporanee

Effetto 
Fiscale

Effetto sul 
risultato

Aliquota applicata (IRES) 27,50% 27,50%
Aliquota applicata (IRAP) 3,90% 3,90%

Effetto della variazione di aliquota rispetto al 
precedente esercizio:
Aumento (diminuzione) del fondo imposte 
differite

Imposte anticipate/differite:
Compensi CDA         (45.000)        12.375                -           (95.641)        26.301        13.926 
Fondi per rischi ed oneri       (894.942)      246.109      165.000       (237.945)        65.435    (180.674)
Storno studi e progetti (IAS)              (150)               47                -                (150)               47                -   
Attualizzazione crediti (IAS)         (27.531)          7.571                -           (27.531)          7.571                -   
Spese manutenzione       (149.653)        46.991                -         (149.653)        46.991                -   
Differenze Fondo TFR (IAS)           96.925      (26.654)                -             93.386      (25.681)             973 
Cambio merce al fair value (IAS)         115.258      (36.191)                -           115.258      (36.191)                -   
Differenze ammort. Testate Edit. (IAS)      1.102.830    (346.289)      (50.059)      1.262.252    (396.347)      (50.059)
Differenze ammort. Software (IAS)         124.284      (39.025)                -           124.284      (39.025)                -   
Differenze ammort. migliorie (IAS)             5.204        (1.634)                -               5.204        (1.634)                -   
Differenze ammort. impianti (IAS)           11.826        (3.713)                -             11.826        (3.713)                -   
Differenze ammort. altre mat. (IAS)             6.585        (2.068)                -               6.585        (2.068)                -   
Anticiapte su interessi passivi eccedenti    (2.026.750)      557.356      290.653    (3.630.467)      998.378      441.022 
Fondo Svalutazione crediti tassato       (500.000)      137.500      137.500       (279.796)        76.944      (60.556)
Beneficio ACE non utilizzato       (225.365)        61.975        61.975       (225.365)        61.975                -   
Totale imposte anticipate/(differite)      614.350      605.070      778.983      164.633 

Effetto Netto:
Sul risultato d'esercizio      605.070      164.633 
Sul Patrimonio Netto Iniziale          7.645      612.716 

Differenza su imposte differite anni precedenti                 1               (1)

Sul Patrimonio Netto Finale      612.716      777.348 

Valori al 31/12/2013Valori al 31/12/2012
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Management and coordination activities 
 
We note that Class Editori Spa exercises management and control over the following companies: 
 

• Milano Finanza Editori Spa 

• MF Servizi Editoriali Srl 

• MF Editori Srl 

• E-Class Spa 

• Class Digital Service Srl 

• Class TV Service Srl 

• Class CNBC Spa 

• PMF News Editori Spa 

• Campus Editori Srl 

• Lombard Editori Srl 

• Milano Finanza Service Srl 

• MF Conference Srl 

• Edis Srl 

• DP Analisi Finanziaria Srl 

• Ex.co Srl 

• Radio Classica Srl 

• Class Editori Service Spa 

• Country Class Editori Srl 

• Telesia Spa 

• Classpi Digital Srl 

• MF Dow Jones News Srl 

• Fashion Work Business Club Srl 

• Assinform/Dal Cin Editore Srl 

• Class Meteo Srl 

• TV Moda Srl 

• ClassInt Advertising Srl 

• Class Servizi Televisivi Srl 

• Class Pubblicità Spa 

• New Satellite Radio Srl 
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34) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

As required by IAS 32, the following table compares the amounts reported in the financial statements as of 
31 December 2013 with the fair value of financial assets and liabilities: 
 

€ (thousand) Accounts 
value 

Fair 
value 

Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 5.297.013 5.297.013 

Trade receivables 59.851.491 57.375.492 

Other equity investments and securities 43.244.708 41.197.631 

Financial receivables  35.306.171 35.306.171 

Other receivables 40.259.993 40.259.993 

   

Financial liabilities   

Loans   

- at fixed rate -- -- 

- at floating rate 57.302.042 57.302.042 

Trade payables 56.359.086 56.359.086 

Other payables 5.705.542 5.705.542 

Payables to banks and others 19.856.085 19.856.085 

 

35) Segment information 

 
The sector information is provided in compliance with IAS 14.  
 
The company operates in the publishing sector.  
For this reason, the provision of industry information, required by the IAS/IFRS,is not considered to be 
relevant 

36) Disputes and contingent liabilities 

A dispute is currently underway with Inpgi:the institute has put forth claims on alleged contribution 
violations which the company considers groundless. Given the opportunity by a tax amnesty, introduced on 
the disputes with the Inpgi, the publishing house has assessed convenient to adhere to it, in relation to the 
disputes pertaining to the early investigations carried out.  In the course of 2013 were completed the 
installment payments of the sums agreed upon, with full utilization of the specifically allocated risks funds,  
On the other hand, the dispute concerning the inspection performed by Inpgi in 2007 is still open. The 
request amounts to approximately 0.4 million euros overall. In this regard, supported by the opinion of 
Ichino- Brugnatelli and Associates, the legal firm appointed to defend the company, it was not deemed 
necessary to allocate any provisions. 
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37) Business with related parties 

Regarding relationships with subsidiary and affiliated companies, it should be noted that some of them are 
linked to the company by relationships of a financial and commercial nature, mainly as regards the re-
debiting of operating costs and the crediting of part of the revenues arising from the advertising concession 
contract. The relationships of a financial nature with subsidiary and affiliated companies are based on market 
rates (ABI prime rate). 
 
There are relationships with related parties regarding commercial operations concerning leasing of real estate 
and related to facility management services with the company CIA (Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa), 
a loan, originally of 550,000 euros, to Case Editori S.r.l., regulated at market rates. Commercial and financial 
relations with stakeholders are regulated by the same conditions applied to suppliers and customers. 
 
Below we show the details of operations among related parties as of 31st December 2012, including in 
compliance with the recent Consob announcement (n° 15 of 17th December 2008): 
 
Compagnia Immobiliare Azionaria Spa (CIA)  
 
- Property lease contracts (as the lessee) regulated at market conditions, necessary for the perforance 
of production operations in the locations where Class Editori and its subsidiaries are located 

- Facility management contracts (passive) for services provided by CIA to Class Editori for the 
services and maintenance and management activities of the above-cited properties 

- During 2008, following the purchase by CIA of an important property complex adjacent to the 
Class registered office-with the partial designation of that complex for a purpose which will benefit Class 
Editori, the latter paid CIA a security deposit of 2.0 million euros, including for the purpose of adapting 
the property to its needs; 

- (Active) contracts regulated at market conditions, for the supply of administrative, financial, 
technical and legal consulting services, both for the performance of CIA’s ordinary operations, and for 
theextraordinary projects underway involving financial and real property investments 

 
Euroclass Multimedia Holding S.A. 
 

To be reported during the period is the purchase of shares by Class Editori corresponding to 5% of the share 
capital of Telesia, sold by Euroclass, at the price of EUR 525 000. The sale was based on a value attributed 
to Telesia of 10.5 million euro. 
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The table shows the balance sheet and profit and loss account effects of the relationships described above: 
   
€uro/000 31/12/12 31/12/13 

Balance Sheet Relationships   

Receivables from related parties for loans 656 670 

Receivables from CIA Group for consulting services 10.249 11.343 

Receivables from CIA for deposit 2.000 2.000 

Receivables from CIA for loan 659 659 

Receivables from CIA Group for loan  180 1082 

Prepayments for services to CIA group  255 256 

Receivables from New Satellite Radio/Worldspace Italia  593 225 

 Payables to New Satellite Radio/World Space Italia  -- -- 

Payables to CIA Group for rentals, facilities and services (1.468) (3.534) 

Payables to Euroclass for investment acquisition -- (525) 

Income statement relationships   

Revenues for administrative and consulting services provided to CIA group 345 150 

Income from recovery of expenses CIA Group   40 17 

Revenues for services to  New Satellite Radio/Worldspace Italia  1.093 -- 

Receivable interest from  New Satellite Radio  7 -- 

Receivable interest from  Diana Bis  -- 16 

Costs of leasing from CIA (1.852) (1.887) 

Costs of leasing from Diana Bis (510) (1.026) 

Costs for facility services from CIA (576) (586) 

Costs for recovery of expenses CIA Group (40) (17) 

38) Other infra-group relations 

VAT consolidation agreement 

Class Editori Spa has a group consolidated VAT agreement involving the companies in the Class group that 
satisfy the requirements of relevant legislation (art. 73, subsection 3 of D.P.R. 633/72). The group VAT 
balance for December 2013 shows a tax debit balance of 91.026 euro. 
 
IRES tax consolidation 

Following the renewal of the tax consolidation option by the parent company, Class Editori SpA for 
the three year period 2013- 2015, Class Editori Spa and its main subsidiaries determine IRES within 
the sphere of the current IRES tax consolidation agreement. Relations between the tax consolidation 
participants are governed by special agreements.  

39) Off-book agreements 

Pursuant to para. 22 ter of art. 2427 c.c., it is confirmed that the Company is not party to any agreements, not 
reflected in the financial statements, that might give rise to significant risks or benefits 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 173 
 

40) Privacy information 

Pursuant to paragraph 26 of Annex B to Legislative Decree no. 196/2003 establishing Code regarding the 
protection of personal data, the Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the measures relating 
to the protection of personal data, in the light of the provisions introduced by Legislative Decree no.  
196/2003 in accordance with the terms and conditions specified therein. In particular report that the Security 
Policy Document referred to in paragraph 19 of that Annex B, deposited at the registered office and freely 
available, was published on 28 March 2006 and constantly updated according to the regulation. 

41) Significant extraordinary events and transactions 

Pursuant to Consob communication n° DEM/6064293 of 28th July 2006, no significant extraordinary 
transactions were made by the Publishing house during 2013. 

42) Atypical and/or unusual transactions  

Pursuant to Consob Communication n° DEM/6064293 of 28th July 2006, during the year the publishing 
house performed no atypical and/or unusual operations, as defined in the Communication. 

43) Highlights after 31st December 2013 

With effect from 8 January Angelo Sajeva, coming from Mondadori, of which he was president and chief 
executive officer, and vice president of Mediamond, has assumed the position of director for strategy and 
development of Class Editori and at the same time the office of President of Class Pubblicità covered so far 
by the interim general manager and managing director of Class Editori, Andrea Mattei 

 
On January 9, the Board of Directors approved the five-year business plan, which expects to achieve, by the 
fifth year, a ratio EBITDA / turnover of the publishing house of over 17%.  As already mentioned, during the 
preparation of the plan it was revealed the need to give continuity and efficiency to the business activity, to 
strengthen the financial structure, for which the management has activated and set event before the year 2013 
a significant increase in capital project, for which various solutions are being examined by the Council, as 
indicated in the section on the business outlook. 
 
On January 24, 2014 was completed the acquisition of EUR 4 million, from an independent valuation from 
the bottom Agora Finance, of 100% of the shares of the company Aldebaran srl. 
The payment will be made partly in cash and in items by offsetting credits Class to the counterpart. 
Aldebaran is the holder of technologies and activities related to the creation and development of outdoor TV 
channel Moby, made for buses, trams and metro trains, that is strategic and crucial for Telesia and for the 
growth of business in the world of out of the house TV and in general in the digital sector. 
 
On March 4th and 6th was presented to the world of advertising, to agencies and media centers, the new 
palimpsest of Class TV Channel 27 of the digital TV, starring the best-loved Italian fictions and most famous 
Hollywood movies, along with quality and useful everyday information to meet the need of intelligent 
entertainment and practical training of the high target to which is dedicated the programming of the channel. 
I Cesaroni and Distretto di Polizia, are among the many titles of great appeal aired from Sunday, March 9. 
 
On March 10th, was published the new special edition MF International China Italy, dedicated to the 
protagonists and business opportunities from and with China. Very positive feedback from the advertising 
revenues. 
  
At the end of March was released in China and Italy in the new issue of the Eccellenza Italiana magazine in 
mandarin, again with very encouraging feedback advertising revenue. 
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Business outlook 
 
The Board of Class Editori, in view of the trend of publishing house in recent years and the prospects for the 
editorial and advertising market, examined the various options that are offered to the company for the future, 
aimed at strengthening the financial and capital structure, a prerequisite for the realization of the business 

plan approved by the Board on January 9
th

, to be pursued using the tools available in the current order and in 
the current market, even with the significant support of historical members. 
The latter have expressed their willingness, under certain conditions, to evaluate proposals for a financial and 
capital strengthening that will eventually be made by the company at the conclusion of the ongoing review of 
various alternatives. To this end, the Board has resolved to convene again by April 14, when it can be 
proposed to the shareholders a significant increase in capital in view of a possible formalization of its 
commitment to ensure the subscription, also of any unsubscribed shares, by its historical members 
 
At the same venue, the board of directors shall reserve the assessment of the opportunity to supplement or 
update the plan itself whereas it will be deemed necessary, to take into account possible scenarios that could 
have taken place in the period between the approval of the plan and the definition of the financial strategy 
that should maximize results. 
 
2014 has started with a few encouraging sign from the markets, and in particular from the advertising sector. 
In this context, still prevail queue positions by investors, with reductions or delays in planning by major 
customers. The visibility is therefore currently still quite limited. In this context of uncertainty, the Publisher 
is continuing with its rational cost containment and revenue developments. 
 
Additional information 
 
Pursuant to legal requirements, the overall remuneration to directors and Statutory Auditors is shown below 
 

Title Remuneration 

Directors 65.641 

Board of Statutory Auditors 54.600 
  
In compliance with Art. 149-duodicies of the Issuers’ Regulations, the following Schedule reports the 
compensation disbursed to the independent auditor in the year 2013, divided by type of service: 
 
€uro  Year 2013 

 
Auditing of the annual financial statements at 31st December 2013  15.300 
Auditing of the consolidated financial statements at 31st December 2013  15.000 
Limited audit of the consolidated half-year report as of 30th June 2013  25.000 
Auditing for the year 2013  5.375 

Total auditing   60.675 
Other certification services    1.500 

Total costs of Independent Auditor  62.175 
   

These financial statements, comprising the Balance Sheet, the Income statement, the Cashflow Statement 
and the Explanatory Notes, provide a true and accurate account of the financial situation as well as the 
economic performance of the company for the year in addition to being consistent with accounting entries 

 
for the Board of Directors 

the Chairman 

Victor Uckmar 
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Certification of the annual financial statement  
pursuant to Art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation 

 No. 11971/1999 
 and subsequent amendments and additions 
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Certification of the annual financial statement pursuant to Art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation No. 
11971/1999 and subsequent amendments and additions 
 
1. The undersigned Paolo Panerai, in the capacity of managing director, and Emilio Adinolfi, in the 

capacity of the competent Manager of Class Editori Spa hereby certify, including in consideration of the 
provisions of Art. 154-bis, paragraphs 3 and 4 of Legislative Decree No. 58 of 24th February 1998, that 
the administrative and accounting procedures applied for the preparation of the financial statements as 
of 31st December 2013: 

3.1. are consistent with the administrative/accounting system and the company’s structure; 

3.2. are adequate and have been effectively applied; 

 
2. No items worth noting emerged from this assessment 
 
3. In addition, it is hereby certified that the financial statements as of 31st December 2013: 

a) are consistent with accounting ledger entries and records; 

b) have been prepared in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
the relative interpretations published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
adopted by the Commission of the European Communities with Regulation n°1725/2003 and 
subsequent modification, in compliance with Regulation n° 1606/2002 of the European Parliament, 
as well as the provisions issued in implementation of art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005 and, to 
our knowledge, is suitable to provide an accurate and truthful picture of the equity, income and 
financial situation of Class Editori Spa. 

c) the Report on Operations includes a reliable analysis of the performance and operating result as well 
as of the situation of the issuer in addition to a description of the principal risks and uncertainties to 
which it is exposed 

 
 
 
Milan, March 21st 2014 
 
 
 
Managing Director Entrusted Executive  
 
Paolo Panerai Emilio Adinolfi 
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CLASS EDITORI S.p.a. 
 

via M. Burigozzo, n. 5- Milano 
 

Corporation Stock  € 10.560.751,00. 
 
 
 

***** 
 
 

Report of the Auditors at the Shareholders' meeting 
in accordance with Article 153 of Legislative Decree no. n. 58 
of 24 February 1998 and Article 2429 of the Civil Code, relating 
to the financial statements for the year ended on 31 December 
2013  
 

 
 

Shareholders, 

Please note at the outset that this report refers, for the first four months of the year, to 

the activities of the Board of Statutory Auditors as composed before the appointment of 

its current members. The General Meeting of Shareholders of Class Editori Spa has, in 

fact, appointed on 29 April, 2013, the Board of Auditors in its current composition, 

confirming two Standing Statutory  Auditors and and appointing a new Standing 

Statutory Auditor.  

During the year ended on December 31, 2013, the Board of Statutory Auditors has 

carried out the supervisory activities required by law, in accordance with the principles 

of conduct of Auditors recommended by the National Council of Certified Accountants 

and Auditors, which we refer to in this report, prepared in accordance with Article 153 

of Legislative Decree no. 58 of 24 February 1998 taking into account the 

recommendations provided by Consob with communication no. l 025 564 of 6 April 

2001 the subsequent updates.  

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 which is submitted for 

examination and approval by the Assembly, together with the report on operations, 

shows a net loss for the year of € 23,718,504. This loss has reduced equity from EUR 

70,120,443 to EUR 46,318,956. The reasons for the loss for the year are shown in the 

Report on Operations, in which the directors acknowledge the severe crisis in the 

advertising and editorial market. 



 

                                                                                          Pag. 179 
 

Furthermore, in this document, the Directors acknowledge that "the end result of the 

publishing house appears to be strongly affected by devaluations and provisions made 

in various ways, necessary in the worsened macroeconomic context, to reduce the 

values of the assets (primarily accounts receivable, headlines and goodwill) and take 

them to their prudential fair value. " 

 

The Board of Auditors considers necessary to point out at the outset, the sensitivity of 

some aspects of the performance of the company that have found enough illustration in 

relevant parts of the report.  

* * * 

The Board of Auditors has acquired during the year, the information for carrying out of 

its functions by conducting periodic checks, and through meetings with corporate 

structures, by meeting with the audit firm PKF Italy Spa, with the members of the 

Committee of internal Control and Risk Management, with the Manager responsible for 

preparing the corporate accounting documents, with the members of the Supervisory 

Body established in accordance with the Legislative Decree no. 231, 2001, and by 

virtue of the information provided in the course of the meetings of the Board of 

Directors, and to which the Board of Statutory Auditors has always participated. 

 
The institutional activity of competence of the Supervisory Board was held under the 

terms listed below. 

In particular, the Board of Statutory Auditors confirms of having: 

 

-  made sure that the law and the Articles of Association were in compliance, as well as 

the principles of correct administration; 

participated in the meetings of the Shareholders, of the Board of Directors, the Internal 

Control Committee and Risk Management Committee and the Remuneration 

Committee, held during the year , and received from the Directors , also in accordance 

to Article 150 D of the . Decree no. 58 , 1998 , timely and comprehensive information 

about the activities and the most important operations carried out by the Company, or 
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its subsidiaries , in accordance with the provisions of the law and bylaws; the Auditors 

acknowledges , moreover, that he partecipated , through one of its members, the 

Statutory Auditor Mario Medici, in all meetings of the "Committee for the review and 

update on the function of internal audit in order to identify areas for improvement in 

terms effectiveness of existing safeguards " ; acquired the necessary information to 

carry out the ' relevant activities on the level of adequacy of the organizational structure 

of the company, through direct surveys, concerned, as well as by the external auditors; 

 
- acquired the information needed to carry out the activities on the adequacy of the 

internal and administrative-accounting control systems, as well as the reliability of the 

latter in the representation and monitoring of operational events, through direct surveys, 

data collection and information from the managers of the main departments concerned, 

as well as by the external auditors; 

- verified the functionality of the control system and the adequacy of instructions given 

to subsidiaries also in accordance with article 114, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree 

no. 58, of 1998;  

- verified compliance with the laws and regulations pertaining to the preparation, setup, 

and diagrams of the financial statements and the consolidated financial statements and 

related documents attached. The Auditors also verified the compliance of Reports on 

Operations for the year 2013 relating to the financial statements of the Company and 

the consolidated financial statements with the laws and regulations, and their 

consistency with the resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors;  

- supervised the implementation of the provisions of Law no. 120 of 12 July 2011, 

establishing provisions concerning the gender balance in the composition of the boards 

of directors and of the control of the surpervised listed companies ;  

- monitored, acting as "the Committee for Internal Control and Audit" in accord with 

Article 19 of Legislative Decree no. 39, 2010, with reference to i) the financial 

reporting process, ii) the effectiveness of internal control systems, internal audit and 

risk management, iii) the statutory audit of annual accounts and consolidated accounts 

and iv) the independence of the firm's office in particular, with regard to the provision 

of non-audit services to the Company;  
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- incorporated in their meetings the results of quarterly inspections carried out by the 

Company pro tempore responsible for the statutory audit; 

received, in accordance with Article 17, paragraph 9, of Legislative Decree no. n. 39 of 

201O, by the company of statutory audit, confirmation of its independence;  

- discussed, in accordance with Article 17, paragraph 9, letter b) of Legislative Decree 

no. 39, 2010, with the company of the statutory audit, the risks relating to the 

independence of same as well as the measures taken by the same statutory audit 

company for limiting such risks;  

- received regular information from 'Supervisory Body provided for by the Model of 

Organisation, Management and Control Model adopted by the Company pursuant to 

Legislative Decree n.231 , of 200 l;          

 

- supervised in accordance with Article 4, paragraph 6, of the Regulation approved by 

Consob with resolution no. 17221 of 12 March 2010 and following changes (the 

"Consob Regulation no. 17,221,120 l 0"), in observance of the procedure relating to 

transactions with related parties approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on 

November 30, 20 l O ("Procedure for Transactions with Related Parties");  

- noted, on the basis of statements made by the Directors and  assessments made by the 

Board of Directors, that the criteria and procedures adopted by the Board of Directors 

itsself to evaluate the independence of its members were properly applied;  

- carried out control interventions on the management of the Company and, among 

others, the following: (i) the activities of credit management, in particular on the 

management of receivables from the subsidiary advertising agency (Classpi Spa) and its 

subsidiary publishing, newspaper Milano Finanza (Milano Finanza Editori Spa); (ii) the 

procedures for setting up funds for litigation risks.  

The Board of Auditors has found that since January 2014, the PKF Italy Spa has been 

appointed as advisor, to assist the "informal committee to revise and update the internal 

audit function in order to identify areas for improvement in terms of effectiveness of 

existing safeguards."  
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The Board of Auditors has also verified the adequacy, in terms of methodology, of the 

process for evaluations of the newspapers and goodwill recorded in the consolidated 

financial statements; in particular, with reference to the impairment test performed on 

publication titles Fashion Business Club Work and Fashion TV, which has led to the 

recognition of a negative component for a total of 0.2 million Euros, and the goodwill 

arising on consolidation of Classpi Spa and Country Class Srl, which has led to the 

recognition of a negative component for a total of 3.2 million Euros.  

 In other words, it should be noted, as fully described in the Report of Management and 

in the Notes of the consolidated financial statements, that the impairment test carried 

out in the month of March in the year 2014 has highlighted the need to depreciate assets 

for a total amount of approximately 3.4 million Euros.  

The Board of Auditors has also verified the adequacy, always in terms of methodology, 

of the process for evaluations of the newspapers included in the financial statements; in 

particular, with reference to the impairment test performed on  Class Life, which has led 

to the recognition of a negative component of 0.3 million Euros.  

 

Such devaluations were incorporated in the respective financial above mentioned. 

With reference to the financial statements of Class Editori SpA, the impact on the 

carrying value of investments in subsidiaries resulting from the application of 

impairment tests are described in the explanatory notes. 

During the year, the supervisory board of statutory auditors, carried out in the manner 

described above, there were no significant events that would require reporting to the 

supervisory bodies.  The proposals to be made regarding the financial statements, its 

approval and other matters pertaining to the same Auditors are indicated further on. 

 

The specific disclosures to be included in this report are listed below according to the 

order provided for in the above mentioned Consob Communication of 6 April 

2001 and subsequent amendments.  
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1.    Considerations on the most important economic, financial and capital transactions 

undertaken by the Company and their compliance with the law and the articles of 

association  

Adequate information was acquired on the most significant economic, financial and 

equity transactions by Class Editori Spa and its subsidiary companies. In referring, also 

with regard to the characteristics and their economic effects, to the illustration of the 

major initiatives undertaken during the year included in the "Main economic and 

financial events of the period" of the Report on Operations, the Auditors certifies that, 

on the basis of the information obtained, it was found that these operations are in 

accordance with the law and the bylaws, are not manifestly imprudent or risky, in 

conflict of interest, in contrast with the resolutions passed by Shareholders' meeting or, 

in any case likely to jeopardize the integrity of corporate assets. During the last period 

of the statement, it has been prepared the "Business Plan 2013 - 2018", which was 

presented to the Board of Directors at the meeting held on 9 January 2014., The Board 

of Directors, in the course of that meeting, has approved it.  

It should be noted, that on 29 May 2013, the Company repurchased from Rainbow 

Finance  S.A.   the stake, minority, of a nominal € 800, representing 33.00% of the 

share capital Classpi Spa sold on October 2012 at the same Rainbow Finance SA.  

 

2. Indication of any atypical and / or unusual transaction, including between 

intercompany or related parties 

Based on the information available to the Board of Statutory Auditors it has not been 

revealed the existence of atypical and / or unusual transactions with third parties or 

related parties, including with companies belonging to the Group.  

The information on the operations of an ordinary nature, carried out within the group or 

with related parties as well as their main economic and equity effects, made by the 

directors in the Report and in the Notes to Consolidated and separate financial 

statements, to which reference is made, appear appropriate. On the basis of the 

information acquired, the Board of Statutory Auditors has agreed that such transactions 

are in accordance with the law and the statute, they are responsive to the social interest 
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and are not likely to give rise to doubts as to the correctness and completeness of the 

information provided in the financial statements, existence of conflicts of interest, the 

protection of company assets and the protection of minority shareholders.  

With regard to transactions with related parties please note that the the Board of 

Directors, at its meeting of November 30, 201O, has adopted specific guidelines for 

transactions with related parties in accordance with Consob decision no. 

17221 of March 12, 20 l O and subsequent amendments, and taking into account the 

information contained in Consob Communication no. DEM/10078683 24 September 20 

l O. In accordance with the aforesaid Rules, the Company has approved the procedure 

for transactions with related parties, in operation since the January 2011.  

Such procedure provides for, inter alia, that the transactions in which a director has a 

personal interest or on behalf of third parties, and those entered into with related parties 

are to be conducted in a transparent manner and must meet the substantial and 

procedural correctness criteria. 

3.  Assessment of the adequacy of the information disclosed in the annual report of 

the directors, regarding atypical and / or unusual transactions, including those 

intercompany or with related parties  

In the Report and in the comment Notes attached to both the Consolidated Financial 

Statements of Gruppo Class and the Financial Statement of Class Editori SpA, to which 

we refer, the directors have properly reported and illustrated the main transactions with 

third parties, intercompany or with related parties, describing its features. The Board of 

Statutory Auditors has verified that these transactions were concluded, according to 

appropriate conditions and in the interests of the Company.  

4. Comments and suggestions to remarks and requests for information contained in 

the report of the independent auditors  

The auditing firm PKF Italy Spa, which is responsible for the statutory audit,  

has released today, reports on the financial statements and the consolidated financial 

statements at December 31, 2013 of Class Editori Spa prepared in accordance with the 

article 14 of Legislative Decree n. 39 of 2010, expressing an unqualified opinion and no 

disclosure references.  
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5. Indication of submission of reports pursuant to art. 2408 of the Italian Civil Code, 

of any action taken and its outcome 

During the year 2013 it has not been received any complaint pursuant to article 2408 of 

the Civil Code.  

6. Indication of submission of complaints and reports, any action taken and its 

outcome  

During the year 2013 the Board of Auditors did not receive any complaints or reports. 

7.  Indication of any further appointments to the audit firm and related costs 

During the year 2013 to the auditing firm BDO Spa and PKF Italy S.p.a. have been 

granted by the Company and its subsidiaries listed below, the following additional 

assignments.  
 
 

A) Assignments given to BDO S.p.a. For ADS 
 
 

Company Newspaper Fees 
 

Italia Oggi Editori 
Erinne 
S.r.l. 

 
 
Italia Oggi        5.500,00

Milano Finanza 
Editori 
S.p.a. 
Class Editori S.p.a. 
Country Class S.r.l. 

 

Milano Finanza 
Class  
Capital 
 
 
 

 
 
5.500,00 
 
3.500,00 
3.500,00 

 
Total            18.000,00 

 
B) Assignments given to  PKF Italia S.p.a. 

 
 

Subsidiaries that have passed the 
Consob parameters  
 

annual fees  
 

duration 
task 

 
E-Class S.p.a. 

 
8.800,00 

 
2013 - 2021 

ClassPubblicità S.p.a. 15.500,00 2013 - 2021 
PMF News Editori S.p.a. 8.800,00 2013 - 2021 
Radio Classica  S.r.l. 4.000,00 2013 - 2021 
Milano Finanza Editori S.p.a. 10.500,00 2013 - 2021 
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Class CNBC S.p.a. 10.800,00 2013 - 2021 
MF Conference S.r.l. 4.000,00 2013 - 2021 
Milano Finanza Service S.r.l. 5.500,00 2013 - 2021 
Edis S.r.l. 5.000,00 2013 - 2021 
Country Class Editori S.r.l. 4.200,00 2013 - 2021 
Class Editori Service S.p.a. 5.500,00 2013 - 2021 
Telesia  S.p.a. 8.000,00 2013 - 2021 
Class Digitai Service S.r.l. 4.000,00 2013 - 2021 
 
Total 

 
94.600,00  

 
 

Other companies of the group 
with voluntary audit  
 

Auditing  
financial 
statements 
 

 
duration task

 
MF Dow Jones News S.r.l. 3.000,00 2013 - 2021 
Italia Oggi Editori Erinne S.r.l. 12.900,00 2013 - 2021 
 
Total 

 
15.900,00  

 
The fees do not include VAT and out of pocket expenses reimbursed. 
 
8.  Indication of appointment of entities connected to the audit firm by an 
ongoing relationship and related costs  
There appear to have been no tasks conferred to subjects connected by an ongoing 
relationshio to the auditing firms BDO S.p.a.  and PKF Italia S.p.a, on behalf of  
Class  Editori  S.p.a. 
The subsidiary CFN / CNBC Holding BY - Rotterdam has appointed BDO Audit 
& Assurance BV – The Netherlands  as auditor fo the financial statement of the 
2012 Annual statement, agreeing the total consideration of € 7.750,00; duration 
assignment 2012.  
 
9.  The existence of opinions issued in accordance with the law 
During the year 2013, the Board of Statutory Auditors has issued its opinion in 
accordance with Article 2386 of the Civil Code (relating to the replacement of the 
directors who have resigned). It did not issue any opinions provided for in Article 
2389, paragraph 3, of the Code (relating to the remuneration of directors vested 
with special powers). 
 
10. The frequency and the number of meetings of the Board of Directors, the 
Internal Control Committee and Risk Management and Auditors 
During the year, 2013, were held 5 meetings of the Board of Directors (of which 3 
after the renewal of the Supervisory Board which took place on April 29, 2013) 
and 4 meetings of the Audit and Risk Management, meetings at which the Board 
of Statutory Auditors or some of its members have participated. During the same 
period, the Board of Auditors met 8 times (for wherein 4 times after the renewal of 
the Supervisory Board which took place on April 29, 2013). 
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During the meetings of the Board of Directors, as reported above, the Board of 
Statutory Auditors has obtained information from Directors on the activities and 
on the most important economic, financial and capital transactions undertaken by 
the Company and its subsidiaries.  
 
11.  Observations on the compliance with the principles of correct administration 
The Board of Statutory Auditors verified and monitored to the extent of its 
authority, the compliance with the principles of correct administration through 
hearings, audits, inquiries to the heads of the departments and direction, as well as 
through meetings with the Manager responsible for preparing the accounting, as 
well as through meetings with the external auditors. 
The Board of Auditors, as a result of supervision, has no comments to raise in 
compliance with the principles of good governance, which appear to have been 
observed. 
It must be stressed, however, what shown at point "22) Tax liabilities" in the notes 
to the financial statements regarding non-payment of Personal income tax 
withholding. 
 
12.  Comments on the adequacy of the organizational structure  
The Board of Auditors has no comments to make on the adequacy of the 
organizational structure, which was found to be suitabile to satisfy the  
requirements of management and control on business operations.  
 
13.        Comments on the adequacy of the internal control system, in particular on 
the work performed by the internal control officers and highlighting any  
corrective action taken and / or those still to be undertaken  
The internal control system appeared to be adequate to the dimensional 
characteristics and management of the Company, as also verified in the course of 
the meetings of the Internal Control Committee and Risk Management, to which, 
according to the the rules of adopted governance, is attended also by the Statutory 
Auditors. In addition, the Head of the internal audit has ensured the necessary 
functional and informative link on how to carry out its duties of institutional 
control as well as on the results of the checks carried out, including through 
participation in meetings of the Board of Auditors.  
 Participation in the Internal Audit Committee and Risk Management has also 
allowed the Auditors to coordinate with the activities of the Committee, the 
performance of the functions of the Committee for Internal Control and Auditing 
obtained pursuant to Article 19 of Legislative Decree no. 39, 2010. 
The Board of Auditors has, therefore, verified and monitored, also pursuant to 
Article 19 of Legislative Decree no. 39, 2010, the appropriateness of the efficiency 
of the system of internal control and risk management through regular meetings 
and by obtaining information from business managers and also through the 
examination of business documents and the analysis the results of the work carried 
out by the Internal Audit Committee, the Committee for internal Control and Risk 
Management and the Supervisory. 
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The Board of Auditors points out, however, that the Internal control activity is 
currently undergoing a review by the "Committee for the informal review and 
updating of the internal audit function in order to identify areas for improvement 
in terms of effectiveness of existing structures " formed in early December of 
2013. 
Class Editori is equipped with a manual of procedures governing each operational 
cycle, which requires the heads of the individual areas report to the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Internal Audit Committee and Risk Management 
composed of three non-executive directors, two of whom are independent.  
The Board of Directors of November 13, 2013 approved an update of the "Model 
of Organisation, Management and Control" adopted in accordance with 
Legislative Decree no. 231, 2001, based on the new organizational structure and 
new rules introduced. 
Within the terms provided by Legislative Decree no. N. 196, 2003, the Company 
adopted, on 28 March 2006, the Security Policy Document of personal data; This 
document is updated in accordance with the provisions of the law.  
 
14. Comments on the adequacy of the accounting system and the reliability of 
the latter to represent the administrative trends 
The Board of Auditors, which assessed the adequacy of the accounting system and 
its reliability in correctly representing the organization by obtaining information 
from the heads of the respective departments, the examination of company 
documents and the analysis of the results of the work done by the audit firm PKF 
Italy Spa, has no comments to make on the adequacy of the accounting system and 
its reliability in correctly representing the administrative trends.  
With reference to the accounting reporting contained in the financial statements 
and consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2013 was the statement 
made by the CEO and the Manager responsible for preparing the corporate 
accounting documents in accordance with Article 81ter of Consob Regulation no. 
11971 of 14 May 1999 and subsequent amendments and additions.  
 
15.   Comments on the adequacy of the provisions issued by the Company to its 
subsidiaries pursuant 'to Article 114, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree no. N. 58, 
1998 
The Company has provided adequate provisions to its subsidiaries pursuant to 
Article 114, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree no. N. 58, 1998. The Board of 
Auditors has no observations to make on the adequacy of information flows made 
from subsidiaries to the parent company aimed to ensure timely compliance with 
the obligations established by law. The subsidiaries follow the same ethical and 
informative principles of the Parent Company in the administrative and 
managerial field. 
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16. Comments on any relevant issues raised during the meetings held with the 
independent auditors pursuant to Article 150, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree 
no. 58, 1998 
During the regular exchange of data and information between the Auditors and the 
Company's independent auditors, and also pursuant to article 150, paragraph 3, of 
Legislative Decree no. 58, 1998, there were no issues that should be highlighted in 
this report, with the exception of overdue tax debts mentioned before, at the end of 
paragraph 11  
 
17. Indication of the Company's acceptance of the Code of Conduct of 
Committee for Corporate Governance of Listed Companies 
In the Directors' report on operations and the report on corporate governance and 
ownership structure is shown which provisions of the Code of Corporate 
Governance for listed companies published by Borsa Italian SpA, Class Editori 
Spa appears to have adhered to. 
 
In this regard it is noted that during 2013: 
− the Remuneration Committee met 1 time 
− the Committee for Internal Control and Risk Management met 4 times.  
 
It should be noted that the Company has established adequate procedures 
concerning access to confidential information referred to in Article 115a of the 
TUF, and in terms of reporting obligations pursuant to Article 114, paragraph 7, of 
the Consolidated Law on Financial Intermediation in terms of internal dea/ing. 
 
18. Final assessments concerning supervisory activities carried out and possible 
omissions, misconducts or irregularities detected during the same 
The supervisory Board of Statutory Auditors was held during the year  2013 under 
normal circumstances and it found no omissions, misconduct or irregularities to 
report, with reference to the provisions of article 36 of Consob Market 
Regulations.  
In addition, it is reported that Board of Auditors has not receivd, from the 
Supervisory Body, any report of violations of the Organization and Management 
Model, former Legislative Decree no. N. 231, 200l.  
 
19.  Indication of any proposals by the Board of Statutory Auditors at the 
Assembly, pursuant to 'Article 153, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree no. 58, 
1998  
As compendium of the supervisory activity carried out during the year, and also 
with reference to Article 153, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree no. 58, 1998, the 
Board of Statutory Auditors express an opinion in favor of approval of the 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013 and the proposal made 
by the Directors on the coverage of the loss for the year.  
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The Board of Auditors has no other proposals to be made pursuant to Article 153, 
paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree no. N. 58, 1998, in respect of the same 
financial statements and other matters under its jurisdiction; though also notes, and 
is in favor, of the above in the section "Business Outlook" which concludes the 
Management Report 
 
 
 
 
Milan, Aprile 4th, 2014 
 
 
Board of Auditors 
 
 
Carlo Maria Mascheroni 
 
Lucia Cambieri 
 
Mario Medici 
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on the separate financial statements 
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